
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board

Date Monday 17 December 2018
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement.

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2018  (Pages 3 - 

10)
4. Declarations of Interest  
5. Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 8 - 

Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 
11 - 16)

6. Quarter Two 2018/19 Performance Management Report - 
Director of Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 17 - 80)

7. Quarter 2 2018/19 Customer Feedback Report - Corporate 
Director of Resources  (Pages 81 - 100)

8. Quarter 2 September 2018: Forecast of Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 2018/19  (Pages 101 - 120)

i. Report of the Corporate Director Resources

ii. Report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships



9. Response of the Environment and Sustainable Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to the County Durham 
Environment Partnership report 'Phasing Out Unnecessary 
Single Use Plastics' (SUPs) - Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships  (Pages 121 - 194)

10. Update in relation to Petitions - Report of Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services  (Pages 195 - 200)

11. Notice of Key Decisions - Report of Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services  (Pages 201 - 208)

12. Information Update from the Chairs of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees - Report of Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships  (Pages 209 - 216)

13. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
7 December 2018

To: The Members of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board

Councillor R Crute (Chairman)
Councillor A Patterson (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors E Adam, A Batey, R Bell, D Boyes, J Chaplow, M Clarke, 
K Hawley, P Jopling, H Liddle, L Maddison, J Makepeace, C Martin, 
O Milburn, C Potts, L Pounder, J Robinson, J Rowlandson, A Shield, 
M Simmons, H Smith, F Tinsley, J Turnbull, M Wilkes and A Willis

Contact: Lucy Gladders Email: 03000 269712



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board held in 
Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham on Thursday 1 November 2018 at 9.30 am

Present:

Councillor R Crute (Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors A Patterson (Vice-Chairman), E Adam, A Batey, R Bell, D Boyes, P Jopling, 
C Martin, O Milburn, L Pounder, A Shield, H Smith, F Tinsley, J Turnbull, M Wilkes and 
A Willis

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors  J Chaplow, M Clarke, K 
Hawley, H Liddle, L Maddison, J Makepeace, C Potts, J Robinson, J Rowlandson 
and M Simmons

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute Members present.

3 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 

Matters Arising 

With regards to matters arising, the Head of Strategy confirmed the following;

Minute no. 3;

- A written response with MTFP feedback had been sent to the Deputy 
Leader.

Minute no. 7;

- The Customer Services Manager would be attending the next meeting and 
would touch upon the tree policy within the Customer Feedback report.

4 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



5 Report on the Council's use of powers under the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000 - Quarters 1 & 2 - 2018/19 

The Board considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services which 
sought to inform members about the Council’s use of powers under the Regulation 
of Investigatory Powers Act (2000) (‘RIPA’) during the period 1 April 2018 and 30 
June 2018 (Quarter 1) and 1 July 2018 and 30 September 2018 (Quarter 2) to 
ensure that it was being used consistently with the Council’s policy and that the 
policy remains fit for purpose (for copy see file of Minutes).

Resolved: 
(i) That the quarterly report on the Council’s use of RIPA for the period 1 April 

2018 until 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 until 1 September 2018, be 
received.

(ii) That the use of RIPA was consistent with the Council’s policy and that the 
policy remains fit for purpose, be noted.

6 Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 8 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which provided confirmation that the 2017/18 Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP8) had been successfully delivered (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Head of Transformation reported that the savings target for MTFP8 was £15 
million and up to the end of June 2018 £11 million had been achieved, bringing the 
overall savings target from 2011/12 to 2020/21 to £250 million.

The report went on to provide details relating to HR implications and data regarding 
staff leaving through ER/VR during the quarter. Forty one ER/VR applications had 
been accepted in the first quarter of 2018/19, making a total of 1,555 since 2011.

Councillor Wilkes asked if there was money left in the budget if savings were on 
target and being made early.  The Head of Transformation explained that at the end 
of quarter one 74% of savings had been made and that savings were made in 
advance of the financial year to come.  He advised that by 1 April savings should 
have already been made against the budget.  He further reported that savings 
would be included in the quarterly financial report.

Referring to Business Rates Retention, Councillor Tinsley said that the rateable 
value could have potential major implications for the council.  The Head of 
Transformation advised that the Finances Team were modelling all possible 
scenarios and that this could be wrapped up within the Fair Funding Review.

The Chairman commented that the biggest threats were Business Rates Retention, 
Fair Funding and Public Health.

Councillor Bell commented that it was good to be on track with the savings and 
looked forward to having discussions on the December budget report, especially if 
further savings would be required.

Page 4



With regards to the 41 ER/VR applications Councillor Shield asked how many of 
those employees had been re-employed with a different contract of employment.  
He had concerns about this double dipping.  The Head of Transformation assured 
him that it was not the council’s policy to reemploy but would feedback on figures.

Councillor Jopling was assured that any earmarked reserves would be spent on 
what the funding was intended for.

Councillors Martin and Wilkes queried when Scrutiny would see the budget outturn 
reports which were considered at Cabinet.  This had been raised at a previous 
COSMB. They were advised that a response to their query would be provided in 
due course.

Councillor Bell commented that some funding from central government was erratic 
and could not be fed into the budget when arriving so late in the process.  He 
understood that this contributed to the difficulty of managing the budget and our 
finances and it this kept happening when did it become a recurring grant.

Resolved: That the content of the report and the progress made in delivering 
MTFP 8 be noted.

7 Customer Relations Management System (CRMS) 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
that gave an update on progress made against the recommendations from the 
review of the Customer Relations Management System (for copy see file of 
Minutes).

The Head of Digital and Customer Services gave a detailed presentation that 
highlighted:

 CRM Purpose
o Priorities
o Improved Choice
o Customer Portal
o Key Facts
o Service Request Channel Transition

 Customer Insight and Feedback
o Customers
o Management Dashboards
o Customer Satisfaction – Contact
o Customer Satisfaction – Service

 Value for Money
o Key Facts
o Front Line Delivery

 Members Portal
o Overview
o Interactive Dashboard

Page 5



Councillor Batey was pleased with the way the system looked.  With regards to the 
statistics plotted she commented how many were due to the beast from the east 
rather than garden waste issues.  She asked what happened during bank holiday 
periods and when offices were closed.  She said that it was important for people to 
have out of hours contact and asked how this was managed.  The Head of Digital 
and Customer Services explained that this would depend on the way the indivdual 
services operated out of hours.  Neighbourhood Wardens, for example, worked 
much longer than office hours and complaints/issues could be reported directly to 
the warden when the offices were closed.  Usually during bank holidays and 
extended closures the public would be told when requests would be actioned.  
There was also a texting service that could be used for those customers who had 
given their permission to contact them in this way.  He added that lessons had been 
learnt during the beast from the east as the weather changed so quickly that 
communications did not get out quickly enough.

Councillor Batey went on to ask if there was a minimum age for young people to 
use the system as she would like to offer an incentive for them to self report any 
issues.  She also asked if there was comparable information available on the 
database that could be shared. The Head of Digital and Customer Services would 
find out about the minimum age query and report back.  With regards to the shared 
database, he confirmed that this was available to Heads of Service and could be 
broken down by electoral division.

Councillor Adam pointed out that there wasn’t a huge decrease in the amount of 
people using the telephone system from October 2016 to July 2018, 48% to 37% 
and asked if there was a reason that people still used the telephone.  The Head of 
Digital and Customer Services said that customer feedback shows that some 
people preferred this method and felt that their issues would be dealt with more 
quickly than if they used online contact.  There were a small number of people who 
did not have access to enable them to utilise the online service.

Councillor Adam went on to say that he had been involved in the pilot of the 
Members portal and he asked if they would still receive an e-mail saying a 
complaint was closed when it wasn’t.  He also asked about the process when 
reporting on behalf of a resident.  The Head of Digital and Customer Services 
explained that there would be a lot more detail included in the notes about why a 
complaint had closed in future and in the e-mails sent.  When complaining on behalf 
of someone else, he went on to explain that the response would be sent to the 
resident and copied into the Members portal.

Councillor Turnbull enquired if there was an option to use an app on a mobile 
telephone, and was advised that there was a live app currently for students and one 
to go live regarding swimming.  The Head of Digital and Customer Services 
explained that all decisions were ‘data driven’, from what people wanted.  As most 
people only used the online forms once or twice a year then they probably would 
not want to use space up on their mobile for an app.  He added that the idea had 
not been dismissed and the service were moving toward making everything mobile 
enabled.

Page 6



With regards to issues going straight to an operative, Councillor Bell was concerned 
that the employee would become overloaded with work.  It was confirmed that the 
Team Manager had visibility of requests.

Councillor Wilkes suggested that uploading photographs to the system should be 
considered as sometimes staff can’t find the right area being reported, especially if 
more than one complaint had been lodged in a particular area.  Having a 
photograph available would help the member of staff identify the area in question.  
Councillor Wilkes went on to report the amount of times an error message was 
received when trying to log on to the County Council’s website.  He said that this 
was a repeat problem and asked if some of the logon features could be investigated 
especially when having to logon twice.  The Head of Digital and Customer Services 
explained that the Council Tax system was managed by a separate supplier hence 
having to logon twice.  However, he did recognise the interface issues.

Referring to amount of money spent on consultations, Councillor Tinsley asked how 
we gain permission to contact people whose details we already held.  He went on to 
ask about how we benchmarked against other authorities with the choice of contact 
available.  The Head of Digital and Customer Services said that it was difficult to 
compare as every Council has a different offer.  Durham County Council had a 
generous telephony service and face to face centres.  Comparing the offer available 
he went to report that ours was good.  With regards to data some residents had 
given us permission to use their information however this was only used for surveys 
at present.

The Chairman said that it would be interesting to see this information fed back 
through the regular customer feedback reports.  He also requested that information 
about access to computers for rural and deprived areas be fed back to committee.

Councillor Shield asked that when a complaint was received and follow up was 
required who decides to send to a particular team and was there a level of 
continuity.  He was advised that the service team made the decision about the 
appropriate person to deal with a complaint.  The Team Manager has an overall 
view and would make the decision before being sent to frontline staff.

Referring to duplicate complaints, Councillor Shield asked how the service could 
ensure that repeat complaints were linked.  The Head of Digital and Customer 
Services explained that this was a target area for the team to reduce avoidable 
contact and in future when a customer reported an issue it would be made obvious 
if a further complaint was received for the same area, e.g. by using a pin-drop on a 
map.

Going back to a point made by Councillor Wilkes about using photographs on the 
system, Councillor Batey added that this would be a welcome addition especially 
when reporting fly tipping.

Councillor Patterson welcomed the online portal and asked if the number of 
requests had increased overall.  The Head of Digital and Customer Services said 
that people were using the system more now that the online option was available.  
The team were looking at the data and would track any changes.

Page 7



The Chairman thanked the Members for their questions and comments and said 
that he would expect to see feedback within the customer feedback reports.

In summary, the Head of Strategy confirmed that the Members portal would be 
launched within the next few weeks.  The Head of Strategy confirmed that an 
update report could come back to committee.

Resolved: That the update be noted.

8 County Durham Partnership Update 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which updated Members on issues being addressed by the County Durham 
Partnership (CDP) including the board, the five thematic partnerships and all area 
action partnerships (AAPs). The report also included updates on other key 
initiatives being carried out in partnership across the county (for copy see file of 
Minutes).

The Strategic Manager Partnerships highlighted the work of a Think Family 
approach across children and adults services, the Ministry of Justice Gold Award 
received for Armed Services work, and the prevention at scale work in relation  to 
mental health.  The Committee were also informed that the council had signed up to 
a Modern Slavery charter.

The Chairman referred to the draft of the County Durham Vision and suggested it 
come back to scrutiny before being launched.  The Strategic Manager Partnerships 
confirmed that consultation will take place with Overview and Scrutiny  once the 
emerging findings had been produced .

Further to a comment from Councillor Wilkes about the layout of the report and 
making it easier to read, the Strategic Manager Partnerships advised that she 
would be reviewing the layout of the report and would take on board his comments.  
The Chairman had found the report helpful being under the ‘Altogether’ headings.

Resolved: That the content of the report be noted.

9 Notice of Key Decisions 

The Board considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services which 
provided a list of key decisions that was scheduled to be considered by the 
Executive (for copy see file of Minutes).

Resolved: That the content of the report and update be noted.

10 Information Update from the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

The Board considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which provided an information update of overview and scrutiny activity from 14 
September to November 2018 (for copy see file of Minutes).

Page 8



Resolved: That the content of the report be noted.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board     

17 December 2018  

Cabinet 

12 December 2018 

  Update on the delivery of the Medium Term  
Financial Plan 8 

    

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council and all Cabinet 
collectively 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report provides an update on the progress made at the end of June 
2018 on the delivery of the 2018/19 Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP8) 

Recommendation 

2 Members are recommended to note the contents of this report and the 
progress made in delivering MTFP8. 

  

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



Background 

3 Cabinet has received regular updates on the progress made by the 
Council in delivering the financial targets within the MTFP since 
2011/12.   

4 The latest MTFP8 was agreed by Council in February 2018 and set a 
savings target of just under £15 million.  This brings the overall savings 
target for the period from 2011/12 to 2020/21 of around £251 million. 

Progress to date 

5 The delivery of the MTFP is being managed with a very robust 
programme management approach being adopted to ensure we take 
into account: 

(a) Our duties under the Equality Act 

(b) Appropriate consultation 

(c) The HR implications of the change including consultation with 
employees and trade unions 

(d) Communication of the change and the consultation results 

(e) Sound risk management. 

6 Through this robust approach we continue to take in managing the 
programme to deliver the savings required, the plans for 2018/19 are 
being successfully delivered.  As a result, by the end of September 
2018, 88% of the savings target for MTFP8 had already been met with 
almost £13 million of savings having been achieved. This brings the 
total to end of June 2018, since 2011 we have now made over £222 
million of savings including Public Health. 

7 Members have been advised of the careful planning and monitoring of 
the savings that is carried out, on occasions plans need to change 
which could delay when savings are made, but through the ongoing 
management of the process we are able to smooth out delivery of 
savings using cash limits, ensuring we haven’t missed our overall 
savings targets. 

 

Consultation  

8 There has not been any public consultation on MTFP (8) proposals in 
the last quarter.  However, there has been consultation on MTFP (9) on 
the council’s website and at AAP meetings throughout September with 
the closing date for comments having was 19th October 2018.  

Page 12



HR Implications 

9 Equality data relating to staff leaving through voluntary redundancy, 
early retirement and ER/VR during the first two quarters of MTFP8 
showed that 84% were female and 16% were male. In terms of race, 
11% of leavers had not disclosed their ethnicity and the remaining 89% 
stated that they were white British. Regarding disability status 4% said 
they had a disability, 30% had no disability and 66% did not disclose 
their disability status.   

10 The numbers of those leaving through compulsory redundancy are too 
low to effectively analyse. 

Equality Impact Assessments 

11 Equality impact assessments (EIA) form a key part of the ongoing 
MTFP process. A number of initial screenings for new savings and 
updated EIAs for ongoing savings were provided to Cabinet ahead of 
the budget setting decision in February 2018.  They are updated during 
the year to take account of consultation responses and additional 
evidence; the updates also include information on any mitigating 
actions. 

12 The impact assessments and action plans are considered during 
decision making processes, for example, updated EIAs are provided 
where Cabinet receive a report ahead of consultation and where a 
further report is received with any final recommendations. 

Conclusion 

13 We are continuing to plan on the basis that the government’s austerity 
plan will continue for several more years. The Council remains in a 
strong position to meet the ongoing financial challenges and through the 
robust management process. 

14 For MTFP8 the council has already delivered almost £13 million of the 
savings required (88%) and in total we have delivered over £222 million 
in savings since 2011. 

 

Contact: Andy Palmer Tel:  03000 268551 

  

Page 13



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The legal implications of any decisions required are being considered as part of the 
delivery of the proposals. 

Finance 

The delivery of the MTFP involves cumulative saving of approximately 

£251million over the period from 2011 to 2021 of which over £222million has 

been delivered to date. 

Consultation 

A full consultation with a range of stakeholders was undertaken on the MTFP 

prior to its agreement and again in 2013 and 2018.  In addition, where 

appropriate for individual proposals, internal and external consultation plans 

are developed so that consultation informs the decision making process. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was undertaken for the original 4 year 

MTFP plan and additional screening was undertaken for proposals which have 

been identified for subsequent MTFPs, together with any other changes made 

to the original plan.  In addition, for each proposal an EIA is undertaken as 

part of the decision-making before the proposal is implemented. 

Human Rights 

N/A. 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A. 

Staffing 

Where the proposals affect staff, full consultation is undertaken and the trade 

unions consulted.  Wherever possible, staff reductions are done through 

voluntary means.  In addition, there has been a proactive management of 

vacancies to lessen the impact on staff and the Council has a redeployment 

process which continues to find alternative employment for a number of staff. 

Accommodation 

As proposals are planned the impact on accommodation is ascertained, with 

staff being consulted on any moves as part of the process.  The loss of over 

2,500 posts from the Authority will mean a requirement for less 

Page 14



accommodation and the Office Accommodation Team has built this into the 

Office Accommodation Strategy. 

Risk 

The delivery of the MTFP is highlighted as one of the Council’s strategic risks 

and is monitored through the corporate risk management process.  In addition, 

risks for individual proposals are being monitored through the work 

undertaken to deliver the proposal. 

Procurement 

A number of the proposals involve the changing of existing contracts and this 

work is being taken forward through the Council’s agreed procurement 

processes. 

Page 15



 

Page 16



 

               

 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny  

Management Board 

17 December 2018 

 Quarter Two 2018/19 

Performance Management Report  

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council  
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the 
council’s corporate performance framework. 

Performance Report for quarter two, 2018/19 

2 The performance report for quarter two, 2018/19 is attached at 
Appendix 2. It is structured around a set of key questions aligned to the 
six priority themes of the Altogether framework and includes the key 
performance messages from data available this quarter along with 
visual summaries and data tables for each priority theme. 

Executive summary 

3 Key performance messages for quarter two, by priority theme: 

Altogether Wealthier 

a) There has been an improvement in the medium-term employment 
trend, but household income remains a cause for concern. 
Median gross weekly household earnings for full-time employees 
are £68 below the national average and this gap has recently 
widened. Since 1 April, 641 jobs have been created or 
safeguarded by Business Durham and further projects, with the 
potential to create many more jobs, are being developed. 
Although households accessing Housing Solutions has remained 
constant, we are expecting increases during quarters three and 
four due to the ‘duty to refer’ (obligation to refer those who are 
homeless or threatened with homelessness to Housing 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



Solutions). Durham Town Hall is now open for visitors every 
Saturday from 10am to 3pm, to showcase its heritage, its 
collections and its history. 

Altogether Better for Children and Young People  

b) There have been improvements in educational attainment across 
all key stages but there is a widening gap between disadvantaged 
and non-disadvantaged pupils in GCSE attainment. Permanent 
exclusions have increased but we have actions in place to 
address the associated issues. Demand remains high for our 
children’s social work teams with the number of looked after 
children at 30 September at its highest level. Work relating to 
improvement programmes following recent Ofsted inspections 
continues, but caseloads within the family first teams remain too 
high and further improvements are still needed in the overall 
quality of case files. Statutory referrals (of which domestic 
violence is identified as a factor in 38%) spiked during July, most 
likely due to a combination of domestic abuse and teacher 
concerns about pupils prior to the school summer holidays.   

Altogether Healthier 

c) Almost 70% of adults are carrying excess weight and County 
Durham is ranked 135 of 152 authorities across England. 
Smoking prevalence is better than both the England and regional 
average but mothers smoking at time of delivery, although 
improved, remains a concern. The percentage of women 
breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks has declined from last year. More 
older people were admitted to hospital due to the summer 
heatwave and this had a knock-on-effect for adult care and 
support services (e.g. reablement, intermediate care).  

Altogether Safer 

d) The recorded increase in crime and decrease in Anti-Social 
Behaviour (ASB) incidents is mainly due to a change in recording 
practices. However, it is acknowledged that there has also been a 
real increase in some crime types as well as environmental ASB 
incidents reported to the council (more reports of littering, detritus 
and bonfires). The number of first time entrants to the youth 
justice system has decreased, primarily due to using pre-
reprimand disposals for first offences. Fewer people were killed or 
seriously injured in road traffic collisions. We continue our work in 
relation to water safety, both in Durham City and countywide. 

Altogether Greener 

Page 18



e) Overall environmental cleanliness levels remain good and 
environmental satisfaction (National Highways and Transport 
Survey) is consistently better than national levels. However, there 
was some deterioration in during quarter 2 (areas of concern are 
industrial estates and business parks), especially relating to 
detritus, and there were increases in some enviro-crime 
categories. Actions to address these issues are now in place. 
Since 1990, countywide carbon emissions have halved and those 
from council operations have decreased by 40%. Countywide, 
only transport related emissions have increased (slightly) due to 
more vehicles being on the road (although those vehicles are 
more efficient) possibly due to the rise in home deliveries. There 
has been an increase in recycling and composting tonnage, 
especially green waste through our Household Waste Recycling 
Centres (HWRCs). Three road resurfacing schemes trialled the 
use of waste plastics in the road surface. We are the first local 
authority in the North East to try this new technology 

Altogether Better Council 

f) During the last 12 months, there has been a slight rise in the level 
of sickness absence. However, almost 60% of employees had no 
recorded absence and almost 80% employees had absence of 
five days or less. Mental health and musculo-skeletal issues 
continue to make up two thirds of absence. Various projects to 
improve customer experience and service efficiency have been 
completed, with more going forward and we are currently 
consulting on our new Digital Strategy (survey). There have been 
increases in the number of customers contacting us using social 
media and webforms. The Digital Durham programme, due to 
finish in December 2018, has so far delivered faster, fibre-based 
broadband to more than 107,000 households and businesses and 
a further 29,000 homes and businesses are planned in more 
challenging rural locations. Timeliness of Freedom of Information 
(FOI) and Environmental Information Regulations (EIR) requests 
has deteriorated but actions are being undertaken to improve 
performance. 

 

 

Risk Management 

4 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. 
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change 
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and 

Page 19

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/DCS2018DUR


improvement projects.  Appendix 3 summarises key risks in delivering 
the ambitions for each priority theme and how we are managing them.  

Recommendation 

5 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board is recommended 
to note the council’s performance at quarter two.  

 

Contact: Jenny Haworth Tel:  03000 268071 

  

Page 20



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and 

financial planning. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 

process. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and 

disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary. 

Staffing 

Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has 

been included to monitor staffing issues. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is 

integrated into the quarterly performance management report. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

 

 

Page 21



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is intentionally blank

Page 22



Durham County Council 

Performance Management 

Report 
 

Quarter Two, 2018/19 
 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 

Page 23



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

Do residents have (1) good job prospects and (2) is County Durham a good place to do business? 

 

Gross value added from jobs created£7.7m

ERDF grant submitted £6m

private sector investment secured£1m

of Business Durham floor space occupied82%

Inward Investment Secured from Duchy Homes1

Plans for the site to be delivered 

across three phases, beginning with 

the northern zone (phase 1) in 2019. 

The site has the potential to attract: 

700,000+ sq. ft. of development 

6,000 new skilled jobs (approx.) 

 

• Consultation around preferred options has 
ended

• 4,000 responses will be considered as part of the 
pre-submission draft plan work which will be 
presented to Cabinet in December for approval 
to consult in early 2019

County Durham Plan

Gross Value Added – The Value of goods and services 

produced in an area, industry or sector of an economy. 

Job Prospects

Durham

National

Year on year 
comparison

Per capita household 
disposable income

£15,325 (2015)

£15,221 (2016)

£19,744 (2015)

£19,878 (2016)

Durham - 0.7%

National + 0.6%

Median gross weekly 
household earnings

(full time employees)

£490 (2017)

£503 (2018)

£552 (2017)

£571 (2018)

Durham + 2.7%

National + 3.4%

-2,924 -2,685 -2,718 -8,369 -9,453 
-10,814 

2009 2013 2016

GVA comparison to regional and national 
averages

Regional

National

Durham £14,212 
 

£15,247 
 

£16,294 

 
 

66.8

69.5

71.7 71.6

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

County Durham North East England

% of working age population in employment 

P
age 24



Altogether Wealthier  

1 The priority theme of Altogether Wealthier is structured around the following five 

key questions: 

 Do residents have good job prospects? 

 Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

 Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing? 

 Is it easy to travel around the county? 

 How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy? 

2 Since the last report, four new indicators have been added to support the key 

question ‘Is County Durham a good place to do business?’  

Do residents have good job prospects?  

3 Households with low incomes remain a cause for concern, as although median 

gross weekly household earnings for employees across County Durham have 

increased, the gap between full time employees across County Durham and the 

national average has widened.  

4 Creating highly skilled employment locations continues to be a key priority, and 

during quarter two, a detailed phased development plan of Aykley Heads strategic 

employment site, with the potential to attract up to 6,000 new jobs, was approved by 

Cabinet. 

5 In addition, Business Durham is working to secure several potential inward 

investment projects that, if they proceed, will create many jobs. 

Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

6 Business Durham has applied to the European Regional Development Fund 

(ERDF) for a £6 million capital grants programme for businesses ‘County Durham 

Growth Fund’. If successful, this would provide grants of up to 40% to businesses 

investing at least £100k in capital equipment or new premises to support their 

growth.   

7 One inward investment from luxury house builder Duchy Homes was secured, 

creating eight jobs with more envisaged.   

8 Overall occupancy of Business Durham’s portfolio remained relatively constant 

despite a high turnover of tenants (especially in the Consett office sector): 19 

businesses leaving and 17 new lettings.  A chemical development company 

moved to Discovery One (NETPark) and five new tenants moved to the Dales 

Centre following a sustained marketing campaign over the last twelve months.   

Page 25



9 Luciano's Italian Restaurant in Peterlee secured £1 million private sector 

investment in conjunction with a target business improvement grant, creating 16 

full time equivalent jobs and resulting in the complete refurbishment of the 

Oaklands pub.  

10 During quarter two, we engaged with 314 businesses. Providing support for 

individual companies, engagement through the business park communities, the 

Durham 2sday networking event, Digital Drive County Durham Programme and 

Durham Business Opportunities Programme. 

11 The Durham Business Opportunities Programme engages with businesses that 

don’t typically take up business support and connects them to development 

opportunities. During quarter two, its programme of delivery supported 46 

childcare businesses and 13 creative businesses.  It also procured support for 

food and drink businesses and delivery is about to start.   

Page 26



Ease of travel 

around the county 

•£1.5 million 
project to replace 
the bridge

• Work completed 
August 2018

Deerness 
Bridge

Time taken to 
complete 

roadworks

46% (2016)

48% (2018)

43% (National)

Cold weather 
gritting

55% (2016)

57% (2018)

58% (National)

Keeping roads 
clear of 

obstructions

59% (2016)

59% (2018)

56% (National)

Condition of road 
surfaces

46% (2016)

41% (2018)

32% (National)

Dealing with 
potholes and 

damaged roads

43% (2016)

38% (2018)

31% (National)

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

Do residents (3) have access to decent and affordable housing? Is it (4) easy to travel around the county? How well (5) do 
tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy? 

Launched in 2014, the Durham at War 
Project is set to end in December. 
Over the last 4 years it has achieved  

£475,100 grant awarded by Heritage Lottery Fund 

100,000 website users (approx.) 

16,000 volunteer hours spent on the project 

300 Registered volunteers (approx.) 

171 events organised / participated in by staff 

 

Net economic impact£533,081

Net visitor spend£354,154

National Highways and Transport Survey: Satisfaction with… 
(1 Oct 17 to 30 Sep 18 – compared to same period 2016) 

 

 More information 

on the junction 

improvement 

works at A19 / 

A179 here  

 

Decent & 
Affordable 
Housing 

(Data Jul-Sep18) 
compared to 
previous quarter

469 properties improved / adapted / 
brought back into use

3,112 households accessed Housing 
Solutions Service

289 households helped to stay in their homes 
through homelessness prevention work  43%

278 households helped to move to alternative 
accommodation 

 138%

(Data Apr-Sep 18) 
compared to same 
period previous 
year

111 properties brought back into use following 

Local Authority intervention
 2%

659 net homes completed  13% Coastal Tourism 

3.23 million visitors in 2017, an increase of 2.2% 

from 2016 

P
age 27

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qeS3vOkG0GU&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qeS3vOkG0GU&feature=youtu.be


Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?  

12 We are monitoring the impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act (HRA) and are 

currently producing a six-month review report. Minor changes have been made to 

service delivery in response to initial findings and further trials and training are 

ongoing.  

13 The duty to refer, a statutory obligation to refer on certain public bodies those who 

are homeless or threatened with homelessness to Housing Solutions, was 

introduced in October 2018.  Consequently, we expect the number of households 

accessing Housing Solutions to increase during quarters three and four. 

14 The new relief stage introduced by the HRA requires intensive support.  Therefore, 

in the Sedgefield and Durham areas, we are trialling new ways of working, 

whereby housing officers deal with either prevention or relief cases only.  We will 

review this pilot in January 2019. 

15 Both the draft Housing Strategy and Homelessness Strategy will be presented to 

Cabinet in December following consultation. 

Is it easy to travel around the county?  

16 Detailed design work for the car park and rail station at Horden is nearing 

completion and Network Rail have now submitted a planning application. 

17 The government, in the latest budget, committed £420 million extra funding to be 

given to local highways authorities immediately to tackle pothole and bridge 

repairs, and £150 million to improve local traffic hotspots such as roundabouts. We 

will use our allocation to resurface unclassified roads.   

18 Results from the 2018 National Highways and Transport Survey (NHT) indicate 

that satisfaction continues to exceed1 national levels.   

How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local 

economy?  

19 Bishop Auckland Food Festival 2018 generated a 969% return on our investment. 

20 A new operating model is now in place for Durham Town Hall. The building is open 

for visitors every Saturday from 10am to 3pm, to showcase its heritage, its 

collections and its history. New interpretation, information panels, audio tours and 

digital content combine to create an engaging visitor experience. 

                                         
1 NHT Survey, performance is significantly better if performance is 4% or more above average and 
significantly worse if performance is 4% or more below average.  

Page 28



 better than 

last year 

 worse than 

last year

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

Are children, young people and families in receipt of (1) universal services and (2) early help services appropriately supported?   

 
Schools judged  

good or outstanding 
(as at 31 August 2018) 

92% 
Primary 

61% 
Secondary 

For the relationship between 

secondary school Ofsted ratings 

and indicies of deprivation,  

please click here. 

2.1%

Durham 
+0.2% 
points 
from 

16/17 

2.0%

North 
East 

15/16

2.1%

England 
15/16

% of children with at least  

one fixed term exclusion 
91% 

plans issued
within 20 week 

timescale.

Significant 
improvement 
on last year.

88.7 %
0-2 year olds in 

top 30% Index of 
Multiple 

Deprivation 
registered with a 

Family Centre, 
having sustained 

contact.

Slightly worse 
than last year.

% of children in Early Years Foundation Stage 

Achieving a Good Level of Development 

 
Durham

42% (2012/13)

79% (2017/18)

England

52% (2012/13)

78.5% (2017/18)

Performance previously lower than 

the national average, now 

outperforming  

Educational 
Attainment 
(Provisional)

17/18 
academic year

Early Years 
Foundation 

Stage achieving 
good level of 
development

79.4%
KS2 pupils 
achieving 
expected 

standard in 
Reading, 

Writing, Maths

67%

KS2 
Attainment Gap

-17.2
Average 

Attainment 8
KS4

44.9

KS4

Attainment Gap

-15.1

A-level average
point score

33

Education Health 

& Care Plans  

Early Help 

Services 

• 19.4% of all school age 
pupils eligible for and 
claiming Free School 
Meals

Look out for new 
Child Poverty 
Measures from 
the Social Metrics 
Commission

• Downward trend 
maintained from 499 in 
1998 to 174 conceptions 
in the rolling year July 
2016 to June 2017

• Under 18s below 
regional levels

Look out for 
Teenage 
Pregnancy Action 
Plan

P
age 29

https://durhamcounty.maps.arcgis.com/apps/SimpleViewer/index.html?appid=a2e6a34745b744c086b4752ec9243d23


Altogether Better for Children and Young People  

21 The priority theme of Altogether Better for Children and Young People is 

structured around the following four key questions: 

 Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services 

appropriately supported?  

 Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services 

appropriately supported? 

 Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services 

appropriately supported and safeguarded?  

 Are we being a good corporate parent for looked after children?  

Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help and 

universal services appropriately supported? 

22 An Early Years Dashboard has been published by the Department for Education. 

The dashboard provides comparator data for the attainment gap between 

disadvantaged children and their peers locally and nationally. The dashboard 

currently relates to 2016/17 data, 2017/18 will be reported when available.  

23 Reading (77%), writing (80%), grammar, punctuation and spelling (GPS) (80%) 

and maths (78%) are all above average and continue an upward trend (Year 6). 

The gap between our disadvantaged pupils and non-disadvantaged pupils 

nationally has reduced, in part due to providing additional support and training for 

school leaders on how to effectively use the pupil premium funding. 

24 In 2016, two new measures (‘Attainment 8’ and ‘Progress 8’) replaced the former 

GCSE measures. 

25 The Attainment 8 score, which measures pupil achievement across eight different 

subjects has improved, although there is a widening gap between disadvantaged 

and non-disadvantaged pupils.   

 2016/17 2017/18 

County Durham 44.6 44.9   

County Durham (disadvantaged) 36.8 34.8   

Gap between  7.8 10.1   

26 The Attainment 8 score of the increasing number of children attending alternative 

provision, special schools or the University Technical College, is below average 

Page 30



and is impacting on the overall countywide performance. A significant proportion of 

disadvantaged pupils are enrolled within these schools. 

27 We are working with head teachers of secondary schools to determine how we 

can raise standards within alternative provision schools. This includes targeted 

support for contracted institutions and reviewing inclusion and provision options.   

28 The Progress 8 score shows improvement during secondary school by comparing 

to other pupils who were at the same level at the end of primary school. 

Secondary schools with a score which is average or below average are invariably 

classed as ‘requires improvement’ or ‘inadequate’ in their inspection outcome. 

29 Twelve of the county’s 31 secondary schools are rated as ‘requires improvement’ 

or ‘inadequate’, although latest published national data identifies 76% of our 

secondary pupils are taught in ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’ secondary schools.  

30 Permanent exclusions continue with their upward trend and have increased by 

19%, compared to a national increase of 7%. Most exclusions were from 

academies (54, 58%). 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

57 78 93 

31 A summary report, highlighting the issues associated with pupil exclusions, is 

being drafted. These include concerns about the permanent exclusion of year 11 

pupils before the January census, pressure on the Woodlands Pupil Referral Unit 

(caused by actual pupil numbers consistently exceeding planned numbers due to 

pupils not reintegrating back into mainstream education), continued increase in 

managed moves and in year school transfers, as well as the number of pupils 

being electively home educated. 

32 Actions in place to address these issues include: 

 Behaviour Partnership Panels reducing the risk of pupils disengaging from 

mainstream school. 

 Developing an Alternative Provision Free School to support the needs of young 

people (a Department for Education bid is being prepared). 

 Reviewing Managed Move protocols to enhance the support offered to pupils. 

 Reviewing the Elective Home Educated monitoring arrangements. 

33 A Health Needs Assessment of children and young people with special 

educational needs and disability (SEND) is underway. 

Page 31



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?  

 

J
o

u
rn

e
y
 o

f a
 c

h
ild

 

Statutory case file audit quality:  

scale score of 6 or above 

(New Indicator) 

61.9%  

13 of 21 case files  

given a scaling score of 6 or above. 

Did not achieve target (80%). 

Social Worker Caseloads (Sep 2018) 

386
340

407

502

464

Se
p

-1
4

N
o

v-
1

4

Ja
n

-1
5

M
ar

-1
5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
l-

1
5

Se
p

-1
5

N
o

v-
1

5

Ja
n

-1
6

M
ar

-1
6

M
ay

-1
6

Ju
l-

1
6

Se
p

-1
6

N
o

v-
1

6

Ja
n

-1
7

M
ar

-1
7

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
l-

1
7

Se
p

-1
7

N
o

v-
1

7

Ja
n

-1
8

M
ar

-1
8

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
l-

1
8

Se
p

-1
8

Number of Children on a Child Protection Plan

8% fewer children on 

a CPP than Sep 2017 

 

66 fewer single 

assessments 

compared to Sep 2017 

0.8% increase in 

referrals compared 

to Sep 2017 

 

14% increase in 

enquiries compared 

to Sep 2017  

 

P
age 32



Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work 

services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

34 Our statutory social work teams support almost 3,800 children, including 464 

children on a child protection plan and 822 looked after children. 

35 As part of the Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) 

framework, we have developed a 12-month plan to improve the quality of our 

social work practice. 

36 There was a spike in the number of statutory referrals received during July (591).  

We believe this may have been due to a combination of more domestic abuse 

incidents and teacher concerns about pupils prior to the school summer holidays.  

37 Throughout 2017/18, domestic violence was identified as a factor in 38% of our 

statutory assessments, less than the England average of 51%. 

38 During quarter two, almost 85% of statutory single assessments were completed 

within the 45 day timescale. This improvement is due to a new way of working, 

whereby we aim to complete less complex assessments within 25 working days. 

The time to complete assessments during quarter two was on average four days 

quicker than quarter one. This has now been rolled out to all Families First Teams. 

39 A proportion of Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPCs) went out of timescale 

mainly due to delays in requesting the meetings, sending the invites, and reports 

being incomplete. We are monitoring this closely and escalation procedures are 

now in place. 

Page 33



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children (LAC)? 

 
 

   

 
County 
Durham  

Sep 2018 

North  
East 

2016/17 

National 
2016/17 

17-18 year olds in education, 
employment or training (EET) 

85.9% 
 

66% 62% 

19-21 year olds in education, 
employment or training (EET) 

51.6% 
 

50% 50% 

17-18 year olds in suitable 
accommodation 

92.9% 
 

67% 64% 

19-21 year olds in suitable 
accommodation 

84.5%  90% 84% 

 
County Durham North 

East. 
2016/17 

National 
2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 

KS2 achieving the 
expected standard in 
reading, writing, 
maths. 

35% 39.5% 
 

33% 32% 

  

612 660 722
806 822

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Rate of LAC per 10,000 population under 18 

Based on latest available data, our LAC rate is lower than regional and 

most similar authority averages, but higher than national average.  

Fostering & Adoption 

 Reduction in number of children adopted 
from care  

 Reduction in number of children in foster 
care  

 Reduction in external residential 
placements of looked after children 
 

Educational Attainment of Looked after Children 

 

Looked After Children 

81.287.5

62

92

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Q1

2018/19
Q2Durham Most similar authorities

All England North East authorities

Number of LAC 

LAC has been stable at around 800 for eight quarters, however there 

is an increasing demand. Currently at highest rate recorded.  

P
age 34

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjqgcysoLrdAhXvyIUKHWW5DOYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://emojipedia.org/white-heavy-check-mark/&psig=AOvVaw3nQ7u6hVG5GNd0qu84Vyth&ust=1537006144849614
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjqgcysoLrdAhXvyIUKHWW5DOYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://emojipedia.org/white-heavy-check-mark/&psig=AOvVaw3nQ7u6hVG5GNd0qu84Vyth&ust=1537006144849614
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjqgcysoLrdAhXvyIUKHWW5DOYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://emojipedia.org/white-heavy-check-mark/&psig=AOvVaw3nQ7u6hVG5GNd0qu84Vyth&ust=1537006144849614
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjqgcysoLrdAhXvyIUKHWW5DOYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://emojipedia.org/white-heavy-check-mark/&psig=AOvVaw3nQ7u6hVG5GNd0qu84Vyth&ust=1537006144849614


Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children 

(LAC)?  

40 We are working with colleagues in County Durham and Darlington Foundation 

Trust to ensure initial health assessments are undertaken within 20 days of a child 

becoming looked after.  

41 We are implementing actions to ensure all looked after children and care leavers 

have access to Relationship and Sex Education (RSE) and appropriate sexual 

health services. 

42 We are continuing our foster care recruitment campaign to increase in-house 

capacity during quarter two.  

43 159 children left care during quarter two, of these 21 were adopted. A campaign to 

target adoptive parents will be organised in the future. 

44 Work continues to establish the new Regional Adoption Agency (RAA), Coast to 

Coast, by October 2019. It involves Cumbria County Council, Durham County 

Council and Together for Children (Sunderland City Council). 

45 We remain in touch with 284 care leavers aged 16 to 24 years old. Those care 

leavers aged 19-21 not in suitable accommodation (five people), are currently 

serving custodial sentences. 

Page 35



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

• Better than last year (19.6%) 

• Worse than national (10.4%) and regional 
(15.1%)

• Did not meet target (14.7%)

16.9% of mothers were Smoking At 
Time Of Delivery

• Did not meet target (600 smokers)

• Equates to 736.3 quitters per 100,000 smokers

556 smokers supported to quit via Stop 
Smoking Service

• Better than 2016 (17.9%)

• Similar to national (14.9%) and regional (16.2%)

• Equates to 60,084 adults who smoke in County 
Durham

14.3% Smoking prevalence (2017)

Durham
62.9%
active

England
62.3%
active

North East
59.2%
active

67.7% of adults are carrying excess weight

increased slightly compared to last year (67.5%) 

worse than England average (61.3%) 

ranked 135 of 152 LAs in England 

Active Participation 150+ minutes per week 

Data May 17-May 18 

Excess Weight in Adults (2016/17) Smoking Quitters 

Increase nationally of one 

million adults being active by 

walking for leisure (+739k) or 

travel (+325k)  

National decrease in adults 

cycling (-400k), swimming  

(-360k) and playing team sports 

(-264k)  

Data Apr-Jun 2018 

P
age 36



Altogether Healthier 

46 The priority theme of Altogether Healthier is structured around the following two 

key questions: 

 Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

 Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and 

independent lives?  

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

47 In 2017, for the first time, County Durham’s smoking prevalence rate was below 

the England and North East Regional average (see Tobacco Control Profiles). 

Lower prevalence and extreme cold weather experienced in March and April 

reduced referrals to the Stop Smoking Service (SSS) during quarter one. 

Consequently, fewer people than target stopped smoking with SSS support.  

Further activity includes SSS promotion within GP practices for those with long-

term conditions, patients who smoke and targeted locality-based Stoptober 

activity. 

48 Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG) has the highest rate (21.4%) of mothers smoking at the time of delivery in 

the North East and is the sixth highest of all CCGs in England.  

49 An incentive scheme from DDES (those who commit to quit are offered high street 

shopping vouchers) has been extended to February 2019 whilst success of the 

scheme is evaluated. An update will be provided in quarter three. The SSS is also 

trialling automatic home visits for pregnant women who have not been contactable 

following their midwife referral. 

50 During quarter two, 374 mothers were breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks. New marketing 

material has been produced to increase sign up to the Breastfeeding Friendly 

County Durham Scheme. In June 2019, an Infant Feeding Conference will raise 

awareness of the benefits of breastfeeding amongst practitioners and other 

stakeholders. 

51 We are developing a policy to minimise the impact of hot food takeaways, 

specifically in areas of existing high proliferation. The policy will restrict 

applications whereby the proposal would result in hot food takeaways making up 

more than 5% of premises within the town centre or be within 400 metres of school 

or college buildings, existing or proposed.  

52 In addition, we are communicating with existing takeaway food providers to more 

widely promote a healthier food and drink offer to their customers. 

 

Page 37

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control
https://www.smokefreelifecountydurham.co.uk/


200
151

393

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

 
 

 

 

392.5 
adults aged 65+ 

(per 100,000 population) 

admitted to residential or 

nursing care on a 

permanent basis 
(Apr-Sep 2018) 

 

453,486 
Bed days commissioned 

for 65+ in residential or 

nursing care 
(Apr-Sep 2018) 

 

3.4 
Daily delayed transfers of 

care, per 100,000 

population 
(Aug 2018) 

 

86.1% 
Of patients discharged into 

reablement/ rehabilitation 

services were still at home 

after 91 days 
(Jan-jun 2018) 

 

Better than national 

(9.7) and regional (7.1) 

Better than target 

(85.9%) 

Increase compared to 

last year (322.5) 

Increase compared to 

last year (447,732)  

Adults 65+ (per 100,000 population) admitted to residential or nursing care on a permanent basis 

 

P
age 38



Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy 

and independent lives?  

53 County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust reported increased operational 

pressures throughout the summer months as greater numbers of older people 

were admitted to hospital suffering from the heatwave, e.g. with dehydration, 

overheating, heat exhaustion or heatstroke. This had a knock-on-effect for adult 

care and support services (e.g. reablement, intermediate care).  

54 The Integrated Care Board has put processes in place to prevent unnecessary 

hospital admissions and move people out of hospital and back home (whether that 

be a private residence or care/nursing home) as soon as possible, and once the 

appropriate care and support packages are in place. 

55 Although overall satisfaction of people who use our adult social care services is 

higher than last year (67% compared to 64%) and the national rate (65%), the 

differences are not statistically significant. 

56 The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) has published a dashboard 

which brings together a range of performance metrics to determine a ‘good health 

and care interface’. Six metrics assess areas against their statistical nearest 

neighbours (CIPFA) and nationally. A combined national ranking is also calculated 

from the metrics. 

 National Ranking 

(out of 152) 

Nearest Neighbour 

(out of 16) 

Emergency admissions per 100,000 (65+) 
population 

66 
2nd 

quartile 
4 

Top 
quartile 

90th percentile of length of stay for 
emergency admissions (65+) 

32 
Top 

quartile 
6 

2nd 
quartile 

Delayed days per day per 100,000 per 18+ 
population 

4 
Top 

quartile 
2 

Top 
quartile 

Proportion of older people (65+) who are 
discharged from hospital who receive 
reablement/ rehabilitation services 

43 
2nd 

quartile 
5 

2nd 
quartile 

Proportion of older people who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from hospital 
into reablement/ rehabilitation services 

41 
2nd 

quartile 
4 

Top 
quartile 

Proportion of discharges (following 
emergency admissions) which occur at a 
weekend 

118 
Bottom 
quartile 

10 
3rd 

quartile 

Overall national ranking 17 
Top 

quartile 
3 

Top 
quartile 

 

Page 39



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

How effective are we at tackling (1) crime and disorder, and (2) anti-social behaviour?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

all recorded crime

+ 6,442

+ 15%

violence 
against the 

person

+ 3,906

+ 26%
other 
crimes

+ 1,153

+ 20%

theft 
offences

+ 813

+ 6%

criminal 
damage & 

arson

+7

0%

sexual 
offences

+202

+14%

robbery

+44

+31%

unclassified

+ 317

-

50,659 
crimes 

26,986 
ASB incidents 

53% of respondents to National Crime Survey think Council & Police are dealing with ASB and crime 

issues that matter to the local area (June 2018) 

1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018 

Compared to same period the previous year 

12,426 
council reported 

-699 
 (-5%) 

14,560 
police reported 

- 1,516 
 (- 9%) 

97 crimes per 

1,000 population   

P
age 40



Altogether Safer  

57 The priority theme of Altogether Safer is structured around the following five key 

questions: 

 How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder? 

 How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour? 

 How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol? 

 How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, 

child exploitation and radicalisation? 

 How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways? 

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?  

58 Although most of the increase in recorded crime can be attributed to a change in 

recording practices, it is acknowledged that there has also been a real increase 

in most crime types during the same period.  However, it is difficult to quantify the 

extent of this real increase due to the recording changes. 

59 Previously, many incidents would not have been classified as a crime but the 

change in recording practices means all reports of a crime must be recorded as 

such until investigation proves otherwise. The increase across County Durham is 

higher than most other forces across England but this is due to Durham 

Constabulary being one of the first police forces to be audited for compliance 

with the new recording practices. As other forces are audited, it is expected that 

they will also show higher increases.  

60 The category of ‘violence against the person’ experienced the greatest increase, 

the clear majority of which (90%, 3,511) was due to an increase in the sub-

category of ‘violence without injury’ – where the victim is punched, kicked, 

pushed or jostled with no resulting injury. The increase is consistent across all 

localities in County Durham. 

61 Across the categories, crimes involving harassment increased by 1,381 incidents 

(+30%). This increase is also likely to be due to the new recording practices and 

coincides with a decrease in Anti-Social Behaviour. 

62 There has been some movement within the underlying categories and across 

localities in relation to theft offences. For example, residential burglaries 

increased by 594 whilst non-residential burglaries decreased by 575. Notable 

increases included vehicle thefts, shoplifting and other theft.  

63 Year to date, shoplifting has increased by 12% (+241 crimes). Bishop Auckland, 

Newton Aycliffe, Chester-le-Street and Stanley have all shown increases of 

around a third. Spennymoor has experienced a 128% increase (+100). We are 

Page 41



analysing the data set to determine if there is any link to the roll-out of Universal 

Credit, an update will be provided at quarter three.  

64 This reduction in the rate of first time entrants to the Youth Justice System is 

primarily due to the introduction nationally (in 2008) of pre-reprimand disposals 

for children committing their first offence as an alternative to court and possible 

conviction.  

65 Local data from CDYOS' Case Management System shows that between April 

and September 2018 there were 61 FTEs which equates to a rate of 141.3 per 

100,000 population. 

How effective are we at tackling Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)?  

66 The decrease in the number of ASB incidents can be partly attributed to the 

change in crime recording practices. Many of the incidents which were previously 

recorded as ASB would now be recorded as crimes. 

67 ‘Environmental ASB’ sub-categories reported to the council showing increases 

between 1 October 2017 and 30 September 2018, compared to the same period 

last year, are reports of street litter/detritus (+525, +15%), bonfires (+137, +90%) 

and graffiti (+44, 13%). 

68 Initial analysis shows most of the increases were in the East of the County; 

Easington, Peterlee, Horden. There was also a similar increase in criminal 

damage and arson in the area. The police and fire services had a coordinated 

attempt to address the issues (Operation Valdis) and there has been a subsequent 

decrease in incidents. Many of these incidents involved people setting fire to 

rubbish.

Page 42



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

How well do we (3) reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol, and (4) tackle abuse of vulnerable people?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Successful 

Completion 

of treatment. 
(Mar 17 to Feb 18 

with reps to Aug 18) 

 

• 32% (369)

• Target 28%

• England 39%

Alcohol

• 5.5% (85)

• Target 6%

• England 6%

Opiates

• 29% (226)

• Target 26.4%

• England 37%

Non-
opiates

experienced 

by 58%
of children 

in need

a factor in 

38%
of social care 
assessments

an issue in 

65% of 

initial child 
protection 

conferences 

45% of 

victims are 
repeat 
victims

Operation 
Encompass in 

every
County 
Durham 
school

700
children 

referred to 
Harbour 
support 
Services

96% 
children felt 
safer upon 

exiting 
support 
services

Domestic Violence 

Key Stats 

 

170 child sexual 

exploitation referrals (12 

months ending Sep-18) 

1 April 2018 to 30 

September 2018 

Compared to same period 

the previous year 

2,048 Alcohol 

related violent crime 
-106  

1,402 Alcohol 

related ASB^ 
- 22 

(- 2%)  

XXX Drug related 

violent crime 
+ XXX  

133 Drug related 

ASB^ 
+ 40 

(+43%)  
^police figures only 

Modern Slavery  

P
age 43

https://youtu.be/fkodp2J6yEA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fkodp2J6yEA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fkodp2J6yEA


How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?  

69 The percentage of alcohol related police reported ASB incidents in the first six 

months of 2018/19 remained static in comparison to the same period 2017/18 and 

currently stands at 18.5%. 

70 The County Durham Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service for adults, young people 

and family members affected by substance misuse was launched on 1 February 

2018 and continues its transition into a new community-based model. A Care 

Quality Commission (CQC) inspection undertaken in October 2018 will further 

direct the attainment of a high-quality standard for service delivery in the first year 

of service implementation. A comprehensive contract monitoring process has been 

established with the new service provider and a baseline tracker for 2018/19. This 

will be reviewed and new targets set for 2019/20 as the service fully embeds.  

How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic 
abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation?  

71 In July 2018, we received, along with our partners, a Joint Targeted Area 

Inspection (JTAI) which examined how well we work together to protect children 

living with domestic abuse. The inspection team looked at decision making at the 

point of referral and assessment, the quality of our children in need and child 

protection plans and the support we provide in the context of multi-agency 

working. A multi-agency action plan to address the recommendations is currently 

being developed and will be submitted for approval in December 2018. 

72 With partners, we have adopted a Community Cohesion Toolkit to target the 

under-reporting of hate crime, been involved in workshops offering the latest 

training and professional advice in relation to exploitation, grooming and 

radicalisation (more than 800 multi-agency attendees) and reviewed referral 

pathways to ensure alignment with increased local government responsibilities for 

the ‘Channel’ process and safeguarding policy and practice. Training includes 

LSCB Child Sexual Exploitation e-learning, a one-day course ‘working together to 

safeguard children and young people from sexual exploitation’ and PREVENT e-

learning (to date, more than 6,500 have completed). 

 

 

 

Page 44



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

5. How do we keep our environment safe including roads and waterways?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Road Safety Key 

Activity: 12 months 

ending Sep-18 

 

 

Safety of walking / 
cycling

67% (2016) -
walk

57% (2016) -
cycle

60% (2018)

57% (National)

Safety of children 
walk / cycling to 

school

57% (2016) -
walk

49% (2016) -
cycle

56% (2018)

53% (National)

Road Safety 
Training/Education

: children

56% (2016)

58% (2018)

55% (National)

Road Safety 
Training / 
Education: 
motorcycle

52% (2016)

56% (2018)

52% (National)

Road Safety 
Training / 

Eduction: young 
drivers

51% (2016)

52% (2018)

51% (National)

Safety 
Carousel 

2,677
attendees   

Child 
Pedestrian 

Training 

1,297
attendees Slow to 20 

27
schools

Young Driver    
Passenger 
Training   

60
attendees

Car Seat 
Fitting 

Courses 

200
attendees

Safer Driving 
with Age      

37 
attendees

Bikeability

3,163
attendees

National Highways and Transport Survey 
(1 October to 30 September 2018 – compared to same period the 

previous year) 

Road Safety Overall 

Satisfaction 

58% 

Poems are used to 

promote road safety in 

schools. Watch the video 

here   

https://www.youtube.com/

watch?v=qRUfknCuCNw 

 

34 people 

2 fatalities 

32 injuries 

 

-29 
(46%)  Killed or 

seriously 

injured in 

road traffic 

collisions 6 children 

0 fatalities 

6 injuries 

 

-3 
(- 33%)  

1 July 2018 to 30 September 

2018 

Compared to same period 

the previous year 

P
age 45

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qRUfknCuCNw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qRUfknCuCNw


How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and 
waterways?  

73 We continue to develop road safety education and training. The Bikeability 

programme now includes teaching children to cycle using balance bikes and basic 

cycle repairs.  Several road safety programmes were delivered in the Mid-Durham 

AAP locality, including in schools, and involved promoting driver training schemes, 

encouraging seat belt wearing and communicating general road safety.  

74 Both water safety forums, responsible for managing water safety in the city centre 

and countywide, continue to meet. 

75 The City Safety Group has undertaken a range of initiatives in the lead up to 

student freshers’ week and appropriate arrangements were in place for the period 

1-7 October. The group also reviewed self-harm related incidents, from the 

previous quarter, within the river corridor and the death of a man whose body was 

recovered near Prebends Bridge (cause currently unknown). The group 

considered the requirement for additional control measures within the areas where 

incidents occurred.  

76 Countywide, work continues to review existing risk assessments on water safety 

for priority areas across the county. There were no significant incidents throughout 

quarter two, which is very positive given the extremely hot weather. Work has 

commenced on planning for next year’s campaigns and activities.  

77 The Health and Safety Team is assisting with the safety aspects of the design of 

the Chester-le-Street flood alleviation scheme and working closely with Technical 

Services throughout the project phases. 

Page 46



ALTOGETHER GREENER 

1. How clean and tidy is my local environment?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

27 cameras 
deployed

1 incident 
caught on CCTV

8 stop & search 
operations

17 duty of care 
warning letters

3 producers 
issued

414 further 
investigations

4 PACE 
Interviews

6 prosecutions

10 FPNs

1,707 
Reported fly-tipping 

incidents  

-472 
(- 22%) 

Environmental Cleanliness: % of relevant land 

and highways assessed as falling below an 

acceptable standard 

51% overall 

satisfaction with 

highways 

maintenance 
(55% in 2016) 

+1.1pp (5.5%) 

+3.2pp (10.7%) 

+0.6pp (0.4%) 

6.6%

13.9%

1%

Cleanliness of 
pavements

55% (2016)

51% (2018)

52% (National)

Cleanliness of 
roads

62% (2016)

58% (2018)

54% (National)

Condition of road 
markings

62% (2016)

61% (2018)

54% (National)

Maintenance of 
highway verges/ 

trees/shrubs

55% (2016)

54% (2018)

50% (National)

Weedkilling on 
pavements and 

roads

54% (2016)

52% (2018)

49% (National)

Cutting back 
overgrown hedges

48% (2016)

49% (2018)

45% (National)

National Highways and Transport Survey 
(1 Oct 2017 to 30 Sep 2018 – compared to same period the previous year) 

Environmental cleanliness survey carried out August to 

September 2018 – compared to same period 2017. 

Jul-Sep 2018 Jul-Sep 2017 

P
age 47



Altogether Greener 

78 The priority theme of Altogether Greener is structured around the following three 

key questions: 

 How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

 Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change? 

 How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste? 

How clean and tidy is my local environment?  

79 The latest environmental cleanliness survey shows that levels of detritus have 

deteriorated. Detritus is a biological waste (e.g. mud, soil, grit, gravel, leaves or 

blossom) which will decompose, whereas litter is simply a waste that will not 

decompose. If not swept away, detritus can encourage weeds to grow, damaging 

road and paving surfaces, trapping litter and leading to a rapid deterioration of 

the environmental cleanliness standards of an area. 

80 Further analysis of the environmental cleanliness survey results highlighted 

issues within industrial estates and business parks. We are working with the 

associated businesses through targeted interventions to improve these areas.  

81 There were fewer reported fly-tips but the most prevalent waste type, accounting 

for 62% of incidents, continues to be household waste. This includes wheeled 

recycling bins abandoned due to contamination and waste cleared from yards 

and gardens.  

82 We continue to tackle fly-tipping through covert CCTV in hotspot areas and 

enforcement actions. For the first time, we will destroy a vehicle used for fly-

tipping. As well as the forfeiture and destruction of their vehicle, the individual 

was also sentenced to 180 hours of unpaid work and must pay £350 costs. 

83 We are aware that our CRM mapping software, which allows customers to 

pinpoint the exact location of a fly-tip they are reporting, is defaulting to the 

nearest property and this is reducing the accuracy of fly-tip locations, especially 

in rural areas. This has now been rectified. 

Page 48



ALTOGETHER GREENER 

Are we (2) reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change? How (3) effective and sustainable is our collection and 

disposal of waste?  

 

 

 

 

% reduction in CO₂ 
emissions in County 

Durham 
52.3% (2016) 

From 1990 baseline 

 4.7% from 2015 

96.3% of municipal 

waste diverted from 

landfill  

(Apr-Jun 2018) 

+0.4pp 

(same period 

last year) 

48.5% of household 

waste re-used, recycled 

or composted 

(Apr-Jun 2018) 

+4.4pp 

(same period 

last year) 

% change in CO₂ 
emissions from local 

authority operations 
-9% (2017/18)  

compared to -14 (2016/17) 

- 40% from 2008/09 

baseline 

Single Use 
Plastic (SUP) 
quick wins

Over 300 
reusable DCC 

coffee cups sold 
to date

6.5 tonnes 
of SUP 

incorporated into 
A689

Appetite / 
opportunity for 

change confirmed 

by 19 responses 
received from 

suppliers re 
future SUP issues 700kg of SUP 

confetti removed 
from Gala 
Theatre 

SUP pledges 
promoted during 
Recycling Week 

(Sep 18): 

143 from staff

117 from 

residents

839,000
blue overshoes 
removed from 
Leisure Centres

(annual figure)

G
re

e
n

 M
o

ve
 

O
u

t 
2

0
1

8

Partnership project enabling students leaving Durham 
City to donate unwanted items to a local charity.

907 properties in 66 streets visited

discussed the scheme with 129 students

356 bags weighing 2.5 tonnes collected from 
student houses

2,524 bags weighing 16 tonnes collected from 
around university colleges

More details on Green Move 

out, can be found here  

DCC uses recycled plastic materials for road resurfacing. More details, here   

P
age 49

https://youtu.be/hNUO_ETaTIc
https://youtu.be/hNUO_ETaTIc
https://youtu.be/xsrB9T88OKQ
https://youtu.be/xsrB9T88OKQ


Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?  

84 There are several reasons CO2 emissions have reduced across County Durham, 

including a greener electricity grid as we now generate more renewable energy 

and use less coal. Domestic, industrial and commercial CO2 emissions continue to 

go down, but transport emissions have seen a slight rise. There are more vehicles 

on the roads (although vehicle efficiency has improved). We believe this is due, in 

part, to an increase in home deliveries associated with internet shopping. The 

Business Energy Efficiency project, working to reduce the carbon footprint of Small 

and Medium Enterprises (SMT’s) continues to grow and has been held up as 

national best practice.   

85 The reduction in CO2 emissions from local authority operations is due to the 

implementation of several energy efficiency projects including the Building Energy 

Efficiency Retrofit project, Street Lighting Energy Reduction Programme and the 

Schools Carbon Reduction project. We continue to explore new and innovative 

projects including the utilisation of mine water heat, battery storage projects and 

district heating. 

How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of 

waste?  

86 The proportion of household waste recycled, composted or reused has increased. 

There has been a 9% increase of tonnage through our Household Waste 

Recycling Centres (HWRCs), half of which was increased green waste, as well as 

a 3% increase in kerbside recycling tonnage. This is most likely due to 

unseasonably hot weather and the World Cup resulting in additional garden work, 

DIY and purchases. 

87 Lower tonnage was collected through our garden waste scheme due to a 

combination of fewer subscriptions and hot weather stunting grass growth 

(kerbside garden waste is mainly grass clippings). 

88 The new Stainton Grove HWRC, due to re-open at year-end, will contain a new 

on-site shop. Any items of furniture in good condition deposited at the site will be 

cleaned up / restored and sold by the shop at prices aimed at low income families. 

Once established this initiative will be expanded to include other items in good 

condition such as toys.   

89 We continued with several campaigns including ‘Waste Less, Save More’ 

(Sainsbury’s funded) which redistributed more than 4.5 tonnes of food to almost 

1,200 customers and held three ‘feed the 1,000’ events, Recycling Matters and 

Metal Matters and the Green Move Out Scheme. 

Page 50



 

90 During quarter two, we trialled using waste plastics in three road surfacing 

schemes: Toft Crescent in Murton, a section of the A68 and the A689 near 

Sedgefield. We are the first local authority in the North East to try this new 

technology and the A689 is the largest such scheme to date, with over 1,500 

tonnes of asphalt and six and a half tonnes of plastic waste (which equates to just 

over 250,000 single use carrier bags). If successful in our funding bid from the 

Department for Transport Innovation Fund, we will carry out a programme of 

further road surfacing trials increasing the levels of plastics used. 

91 The 'capping activities' at Joint Stocks Landfill has experienced a significant 

rotational slip to some of the placed and compacted soils forming the slopes for 

capping. This will need to be controlled and re-engineered and a Geotechnical 

Engineering Contractor is currently being procured to determine next steps and 

the impact of this on delaying the programme.  

  

Page 51



ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

1. How well do we look after our people?  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

10.9
days/shifts 

lost

59% of 

posts had 
no absence

35% cite 

'mental 
health' as 
reason*

28% cite 

'musculo-
skeletal' as 

reason*

70% of Q2 sickness 

was long term 

 

79% of posts had 5  

days or less.  

No absence 

rate is highest 

recorded 

Days / shifts lost by reason (Q2) 

Oct 17- Sep 18 

*Jul – Sep 2018 

O
u

r 
V

al
u

e
s 

Respect your bin crew campaign  

 

On 10 October 2018  

(World Mental Health Day)  

Cllr Lucy Hovvels signed the 

Employer Pledge and publically 

showed our commitment to 

helping to end mental health 

discrimination in the workplace. 

P
age 52

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wfXtfTXaS60&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wfXtfTXaS60&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wfXtfTXaS60&feature=youtu.be


Altogether Better Council  

92 The priority theme of Altogether Better Council is structured around the following 

three key questions: 

 How well do we look after our people? 

 Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents 

and customers? 

 How good are our services to customers and the public?  

How well do we look after our people?  

93 The two most prevalent sickness types (mental health and musculo-skeletal) make 

up almost two thirds of all sickness absence.  

 

94 Our Occupational Health Service is trialling early intervention physiotherapy 

services where musculo-skeletal risks remain high. We are also providing 

manager and employee support to prevent and manage musculo-skeletal 

disorders in the workplace (Get up and Move).  

 
95 Various initiatives and events relating to staff mental health and wellbeing were 

held during quarter two, including a training programme to equip staff with the 

necessary skills to enable them to talk about mental health and identify early signs 

of stress. Also, as of 30 September 2018, 63% of managers enrolled had 

completed the e-learning module ‘recognise and manage stress in the workplace’.  

In addition, during quarter two, to mark World Mental Health Day, we signed the 

pledge to end mental health discrimination and became a ‘Time to Change’ 

employer2. Furthermore, in conjunction with Wellbeing for Life, Mental Health 

Awareness Training has been arranged for December 2018 for Management 

Team and Strategic Managers.  

 
96 We have begun the process of embedding our new values and behaviours, 

updated and simplified all key HR policies to make it easier for both managers and 

employees to find the information they need, and replaced the existing appraisal 

system with a ‘Managing Employee Performance’ framework. These changes will 

not only help achieve organisational objectives but also retain and develop staff at 

all levels of the organisation. 

 

                                         
2 For more information on the council work around mental health, visit 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s96797/7%20Activity%20Update%20October%202018%20
v0.3%20JB.pdf  

Page 53



97 Training in Managing People: New Approaches for Leaders and Strategic 

Managers has now concluded and is being rolled out to Team Leaders and those 

members of staff who have line management responsibility.  

98 Over the next six months, we will deliver further improvements through the 

following developments: 

 Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

 Roll out of the new Code of our Values, Behaviours and Conduct 

 Talent Management Strategy, including succession planning 

 Corporate Workforce Development Plans  

 Member Development Plan  

 Senior Manager Review 

 Employee Engagement and Recognition 

 Approach to Leadership and Management Development.  

 

Page 54



ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

Are our (2) resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers? How (3) good are our services to 
customers and the public? 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Unless stated all data is 1 July 2018 to 30 

September 2018, compared to the same 

period the previous year 

67% FOI/EIR 
responses sent within 

20 working days

Missed 

National target 

of 90% 

Down from 

75% 

56.3% of council 
tax collected

59% of business 
rates collected

Down from 56.8% Down from 59.6% 

6% increase 

(+£15 million) in net 

payments 

Missed target of 

59.7% 

£750,000 more collectable debit (over £121 million) 

27,611 pay council 

tax over 11 or 12 

months. Up 25% 

11% is
face to 

face

145,360

5% of calls were 
abandoned

76% is

telephone

972,426

9% is
web-forms

119,601

4% is
e-mails

45,267

57 seconds on 
average to answer 
call 

0.3% is
social media

4,261

Customer 

Contact 

1 Oct 17 - 30 Sep 18 

Email

29%

Face to Face

5%

Social media

204%

Web forms

65%

Telephone

2% 

Customer Feedback: quarter 2  

85% were treated with 

dignity and respect 

79% satisfied with 

handling of initial contact 

50% satisfied with 

service delivery  

57% were informed of 

progress 

92% felt request was 

handled knowledgeably 

and effectively 

72% satisfied with time 

taken to complete task 

88% found it easy to 

contact the right service 

59% informed how 

long task would take 

72% were provided 

with clear information 
943

corporate 
complaints

209
compliments

128
Suggestions

(from closure process within the CRM) 

P
age 55



Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for 

residents and customers?  

99 During quarter two, we completed projects including: 

 Single person discount and Move in and Move out: new online forms 

available in CRM. 

 E-ticketing at the Gala: Customers can now receive e-ticket direct to their 

mobile phone.  

 Mobile working: has been implemented for the ICT Schools Contract and the 

Parks inspection team which can now inspect play equipment and record any 

faults/issues on mobile devices.  

 Electronic Waste Permits: are now available for use in our HWRCs. 70% of 

customers are now doing it online and 76% are choosing to have the QR code 

emailed to them.  

 Council Tax E-Billing: 2,500 additional residents have signed up for paperless 

billing. 

100 We continue with projects including: 

 Inspire. 

 Members’ Portal: a ‘one-stop shop’ for accessing information, reporting issues, 

receiving progress updates and completing administrative tasks, e.g. training 

and expenses. 

 SMS mass bulk-messaging pilot (missed bins): to keep customers informed, 

e.g. service disruption caused by inclement weather, and reduce avoidable 

contact. 

 Eckoh voice recognition for call transfer: Phase 1, to capture and assess 

10,000 call transfer requests, to programme the new system is now complete. 

Understanding the words customers use to ask for services will also help inform 

the search facility within our website. 

 Locality based services: a working group, made up of Heads of Services, is 

reviewing how best we can improve service delivery by removing internal 

barriers. 

101 We are currently seeking views on how we use digital technology and the areas 

we need to develop, as part of our Digital Strategy. Consultation will take place 

until 25 November. 

How good are our services to customers and the public?  

102 The Freedom of Information (FOI) request backlog, which reached more than 30 in 

September, was caused by a combination of organisational restructures, 

increased workload following the introduction of the General Data Protection 

Page 56



Regulation (GDPR) and more complex requests. It has been reduced to about 

seven during October.    

 

103 During the quarter, phase 2 of the Digital Durham programme, to provide superfast 

broadband, was delayed to December 2018 due to the contractor missing target. 

However, the programme has delivered faster, fibre-based broadband to more 

than 107,000 households and businesses so far and a further 29,000 homes and 

businesses are planned in more challenging rural locations. 

 

Page 57



Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables 

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document: 

(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 
partners; and 

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.   

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2017/18 corporate indicator set. This is available to 
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

KEY TO SYMBOLS 

  Direction of travel  Benchmarking  Performance against target 

GREEN  Same or better than comparable period  Same or better than comparable group  Meeting or exceeding target 

AMBER  Worse than comparable period 
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Performance within 2% of target 

RED  Worse than comparable period  
(greater than 2%) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(greater than 2%) 

 Performance >2% behind target 

 
National Benchmarking 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils. 
 
North East Benchmarking 
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland, The number of authorities also varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils. 
 
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 
  

P
age 58

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

1. Do residents have good job prospects?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

1 
% of working age population in 
employment 

71.6 
Jul 17- 
Jun 18  

Tracker 71.7 75.1 70.6  
 Yes 

N/a AMBER RED GREEN  

2 
Per capita household disposable 
income (£) 

15,221 2016 
Tracker 15,496 19,878 15,595  

 Yes 
N/a AMBER RED RED  

3 
Number of gross jobs created or 
safeguarded as a result of Business 
Durham activity 

262 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 186    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

4 
% of 16 to 17 year olds in an 
apprenticeship 

9.8 
As at 30 
Jun 2018 

Tracker 9.5 6.2 8.5 7.6 
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

 

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

2. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?   

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

5 
Number of properties improved, 
adapted or brought back into use  

469 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

6 
Number of empty properties brought 
back into use as a result of local 
authority intervention 

111 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

74 113    
 Yes 

GREEN AMBER    

7 Number of net homes completed 659 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 758    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

P
age 59



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

2. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?   

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

8 
Number of affordable homes 
delivered 

473 2017/18 
200 322    

 No 
GREEN GREEN    

9 
Number of households accessing the 
Housing Solutions Service 

3,112 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

10 
Number of households helped to stay 
in their home 

289 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
    

Yes 
N/a N/a    

11 
Number of households helped to 
move to alternative accommodation 

278 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
    

Yes 
N/a N/a    

 

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

3. Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

12 
Gross Value Added (GVA) per capita 
in County Durham (£) 

16,513* 2016 
Tracker 16,362 27,060* 19,542*  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED RED  

13 
Number of registered businesses in 
County Durham 

17,120 2017 
Tracker 16,585    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

14 Value (£M) of new contracts secured 0 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

P
age 60



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

3. Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

15 
Value (£M) of GVA growth from jobs 
created 

7.7 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

6  
New 

indicator 
   

 Yes 
GREEN N/a    

16 
Number of Inward Investments 
secured 

1 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

17 
% of Business Durham business floor 
space that is occupied 

82.0 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

*provisional data 

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

4. Is it easy to travel around the county?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

18 
% of A roads where maintenance is 
recommended  

3 2017/18 
Tracker 3 3   

2016/17 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN   

19 
% of B and C roads where 
maintenance is recommended  

4 2017/18 
Tracker 3 6   

2016/17 No 
N/a AMBER GREEN   

20 
% of unclassified roads where 
maintenance is recommended  

21 2017/18 
Tracker 20 17   

2016/17 No 
N/a AMBER RED   

21 
Highways maintenance backlog 
(£millions) 

187.6 2017 
Tracker 191.7    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

 

P
age 61



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

4. Is it easy to travel around the county?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

22 
Bridge Stock Condition – Principal 
Roads 

80.0 2017 
Tracker 83.8    

 No 
N/a RED    

23 
Bridge Stock Condition – Non-Principal 
Roads 

81.0 2017 
Tracker 83.7    

 No 
N/a RED    

 

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

5. How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

24 
Number of visitors to County Durham 
(million) 

19.71 2017 
Tracker 19.3    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

25 
Number of jobs supported by the visitor 
economy 

11,682 2017 
Tracker 11,158    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

26 
Amount (£ million) generated by the 
visitor economy 

866.71 2017 
Tracker 806    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

 

  

P
age 62



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?   

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

27 Average Attainment 8 score 44.9* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker 44.6 46.4* 45.2*  
 

Yes 
 N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

28 
Average point score per A level entry 
of state-funded school students 

33.0* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker 31.9 31.1 30.8 30.7 2016/17 
Ac Yr 

Yes 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

29 
% of pupils achieving the expected 
standard in Reading, Writing and 
Maths (KS2) 

67* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker 64.6 64 67 65.9 
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

30 
% of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in 
education, employment or training 
(NEET) 

5.1 
Apr-Jun 

18 

Tracker 4.8 2.7 4.0  
 No 

N/a RED RED RED  

31 

Gap between average Attainment 8 
score of Durham disadvantaged pupils 
and non-disadvantaged pupils 
nationally (KS4) 

-15.1* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker -13 -12.8 -13.9*  
England 
2016/17 

Yes 
N/a RED RED RED  

32 
% of children in the Early Years 
Foundation Stage achieving a Good 
Level of Development 

79.4* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

64 72 78.5* N/a  
 Yes 

GREEN GREEN GREEN N/a  

33 

Gap between % of Durham 
disadvantaged pupils and % of non-
disadvantaged pupils nationally who 
achieve expected standard in reading, 
writing and maths (KS2) 

-17.2* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker -18 -19.8 N/a  

 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN N/a  

34 
Ofsted % of Primary schools judged 
good or better 

92 
As at 31 

Aug 2018 

Tracker 91 87 91  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

*provisional data 

 

 

P
age 63



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?   

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

35 
Ofsted % of secondary schools 
judged good or better 

61 
As at 31 

Aug 2018 

Tracker 65 75 58  
 Yes 

N/a RED RED GREEN  

36 
Exclusion from school of all Durham 
children - % of children with at least 
one fixed exclusion 

2.1* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker      1.9  2.11 2.01  2015/16 
Ac Yr 

Yes 
N/a RED GREEN AMBER  

37 
% of all school pupils eligible for and 
claiming Free School Meals (FSM) 

19.4 Jan 2018 
Tracker 20.2 14.2 19.8  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

38 
Under 18 conception rate per 1,000 
girls aged 15 to 17 

22.3^ 
Jul 16- 
Jun 17 

Tracker 24.1 18.2^ 24.6^  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

39 
% of five year old children free from 
dental decay 

74.2 2016/17 
Tracker 64.9 76.7 76.1  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED RED  

40 
Alcohol specific hospital admissions 
for under 18s (rate per 100,000) 

56.2 
2014/15-
2016/17 

Tracker 67.5 34.2 64.8  
 No 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

41 
Young people aged 10-24 admitted to 
hospital as a result of self-harm 

400.8 2016/17 
Tracker 420.8 404.6 425.3  

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

42 
% of children aged 4 to 5 years 
classified as overweight or obese 

24.1* 
2016/17 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker 24.3 22.6 24.5  
 No 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

43 

 
% of children aged 10 to 11 years 
classified as overweight or obese 
 

37.7*  
2016/17 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker 37.0 34.2 37.3 
  

No 
N/a AMBER RED AMBER 

 

*provisional data 

 

 

P
age 64



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?   

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

44 
% of Education Health and Care 
Plans completed in the statutory 20 
week time period (excl. exceptions) 

91.3 
Jan–Sep 

2018 

90 76.6 64.9 78.8   

2017 

 
Yes 

GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN  

 

 

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

2. Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

45 

% of successful interventions (families 
turned around) via the Stronger 
Families Programme (Phase 2) 
[number] 

36.9 
[1,610] 

Sep 14- 
Oct  18 

51.3 
[2237] 

N/a 23.1 27.0 23.9 
 Yes 

RED GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

46 
% of children aged 0-2 years in the top 
30% IMD registered with a Family 
Centre and having sustained contact 

88.7 
Oct 17-
Sep 18 

80 89.6    
 Yes 

GREEN AMBER    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 65



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

47 

% of statutory referrals received by the 
First Contact Team or Emergency 
Duty Team processed within 1 working 
day 

82.1 
[2,381] 

Apr-Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
84.5 

[2,102] 
   

 Yes 

N/a RED    

48 
% of statutory children in need 
referrals occurring within 12 months of 
a previous referral 

15.9  
[464] 

Apr-Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
16.3 
[420] 

21 17 20.7 
2017/18 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

49 
% of single assessments completed 
within 45 working days 

79.3 
[1,930] 

Apr-Sep  
2018 

Tracker 
79.1 

[1,857] 
83 82 79 

2017/18 Yes 
N/a GREEN RED RED GREEN 

50 
Rate of children subject to a child 
protection plan per 10,000 population 
aged under 18 [number of children] 

45.9  
[464] 

As at 
30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
49 

[502] 
45 66  As at 31 

Mar 2018 
Yes 

N/a N/a N/a N/a  

51 
Rate of children in need per 10,000 
population aged under 18 (statutory L4 
open cases) [number of children] 

374.9  
[3,769] 

As at 
30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
355 

[3570] 
341 460 380 As at 31 

Mar 2018 
Yes 

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

52 
Rate of children at level 2 or 3 per 
10,000 population aged under 18 (One 
Point open cases) [No. of children] 

208.7 
[2,099] 

As at 
30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
205.2 

[2,058] 
   

 Yes 

N/a N/a    

53 

% of strategy meetings initiated which 
led to an initial child protection 
conference being held within 15 
working days 

69.2 
[256] 

Apr–Sep 
2018 

75 
61 

[261] 
77 83 75 

2017/18 Yes 
RED GREEN RED RED RED 

54 
% of Social Workers with fewer than 
20 cases 

47 
As at 

30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 48    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

55 
% of Case File Audits which are given 
a scaling score of 6 or above 

61.9 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

80 
New 

indicator 
      

Yes 

RED N/a    

P
age 66



 ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

56 
Rate of children looked after per 
10,000 population aged under 18 
[number of children]  

81.8 
[822] 

As at 
30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
80.6 
[806] 

62 92 87.5 As at  
31 Mar 
2017 

Yes 

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

57 
% of children adopted from care (as % 
of total children leaving care) 
[number of children] 

12.7*                                              
[21]                             

Apr-Sep 
2018 

15.0 
13.5 
[27] 

14 14 16.6 
2016/17 Yes 

RED RED RED RED RED 

58 % of LAC who are fostered  
74.6  
[613]  

As at 
30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
79.4 
[640]  

   
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

59 % of external residential placements 
2.7 
[22] 

As at 
30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
3.2 

 [26] 
   

 Yes 

N/a N/a     

60 
% of children looked after continuously 
for 12 months or more who had a 
dental check 

92 
As at 30 

Sep 2018 

Tracker 90.3 83 83 83 
2016/17 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

61 

% of children looked after continuously 
for 12 months or more who have had 
the required number of health 
assessments 

87.3 
As at 30 

Sep 2018 

Tracker 83.8 89 91 91 
2016/17 Yes 

N/a GREEN AMBER RED RED 

62 
Emotional and behavioural health of  
children looked after continuously for 
12 months or more 

15.5 2017/18 
Tracker 16.0 14.1 14.7 14.0 

 No 
N/a GREEN RED RED RED 

63 
Average Attainment 8 score of Looked 
After Children 

21.9 
2016/17 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker 
Not 

comparable 
19.3 20.1 18.3 

 No 
N/a N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN 

64 
% of LAC achieving the expected 
standard in Reading, Writing and 
Maths (at KS2) 

39.5* 
[17/42] 

2017/18 
(Academic 

Year) 

Tracker 35 32 33 38 
 

2016/17 
(Academic 

Year) 

 
Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

*provisional data 

P
age 67



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

65 
% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 
education, employment or training 
(EET) 

85.9 
As at 

30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
New 

definition 
62 66 64 

2016/17 Yes 
N/a N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN 

66 
% of care leavers aged 19-21 in  
education, employment or training 
(EET) 

51.6 
As at 

30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
New 

definition 
50 50 50 

2016/17 Yes 
N/a N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN 

67 
% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 
suitable accommodation 

92.9 
As at 

30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
New 

definition 
88 93 88 

2016/17 Yes 
N/a N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN 

68 
% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 
suitable accommodation 

84.5 
As at 

30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
New 

definition 
84 90 90 

2016/17 Yes 
N/a N/a GREEN RED RED 

 

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

69 
% of mothers smoking at time of 
delivery 

16.9* 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

14.7 19.6 10.4* 15.1*  
 Yes 

RED GREEN RED RED  

70 
Four week smoking quitters per 
100,000 smoking population  
[number of quitters] 

736.3 
[556] 

Apr-Jun 
2018  

795 
[600] 

888.6 
[671] 

   
 Yes 

RED RED    

71 Male life expectancy at birth (years) 78.0 2014-16 
Tracker 78.1 79.5 77.8  

 No 
N/a AMBER AMBER GREEN  

P
age 68



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

72 Female life expectancy at birth (years) 81.3 2014-16 
Tracker 81.2 83.1 81.5  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

73 
Female healthy life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

59 2014-16 
Tracker 57 63.9 60.6  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

74 
Male healthy life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

59.1 2014-16 
Tracker 59.7 63.3 59.7  

 No 
N/a AMBER RED AMBER  

75 
Excess weight in adults (Proportion of 
adults classified as overweight or 
obese) 

67.7 2016/17 
Tracker 67.5 61.3 66.1  

 Yes 
N/a AMBER RED AMBER  

76 
Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and 
injury of undetermined intent) per 
100,000 population 

12.6 2014-16 
Tracker 15.7 9.9 11.6  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED RED  

77 
Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 
weeks from birth 

29.6 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 29.9 44.4 32.5  Apr-Jun 
18 

Yes 
N/a AMBER RED RED  

78 
Estimated smoking prevalence of 
persons aged 18 and over 

14.3 2017 
Tracker 17.9 14.9 16.2  

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

79 
Self-reported wellbeing - people with a 
low happiness score 

6.9 2016/17 
Tracker 11.5 8.5 8.7  

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

80 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: active 

62.9 
May 17–
May 18 

Tracker 61.4 62.3 59.2  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

81 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: inactive 

26.6 
May 17- 
May 18 

Tracker 24.5 25.2 29.0  
 Yes 

N/a RED RED GREEN  

*provisional data 

P
age 69



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

82 

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 
population admitted on a permanent 
basis in the year to residential or 
nursing care 

392.5 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

343.5 322.5    
 Yes 

RED RED    

83 

% of older people who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from 
hospital into reablement/ rehabilitation 
services 

86.1 
Jan-Jun 

2018 

85.9 88.9 82.5 85.3 83.3* 
2016/17 Yes 

GREEN RED 
Not 

comparable 
Not 

comparable 
Not 

comparable 

84 
% of individuals who achieved their 
desired outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process 

95.3 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 96.3    
 Yes 

N/a AMBER    

85 
% of service users receiving an 
assessment or review within the last 
12 months 

86.6 
Sep 17- 
Sep 18 

Tracker 87.3    
 Yes 

N/a AMBER    

86 
Overall satisfaction of people who use 
services with their care and support 

66.6 2017/18 
Tracker 63.6 65.0 67.9 66.3* 

 Yes 
N/a GREEN GREEN AMBER GREEN 

87 
Overall satisfaction of carers with the 
support and services they receive 
(Biennial survey) 

43.3 2016/17 
Tracker 

New 
indicator 

39.0 45.7  
 No 

N/a N/a GREEN RED  

88 
Daily Delayed transfers of care beds, 
all per hospital per 100,000 population 
age 18+ 

3.4 
As at Aug 

2018 

Tracker 3.4 9.7 7.1 10.1 
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

89 

% of adult social care service users 
who report they have enough choice 
over the care and support services 
they receive 

74.9 2017/18 
Tracker 73.1 68.2 72.1 69.1* 

 Yes 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

*unitary authorities 

  

P
age 70



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

1. How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

90 
First time entrants to the youth justice 
system aged 10 to 17 (per 100,000 
population of 10 to 17 year olds) 

253 
Apr-Mar 
2017/18 

Tracker 387 276 368 273 
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

91 
Overall crime rate per 1,000 
population 

51 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 47.3 37.8   Apr-Aug 
2018 

Yes 
N/a RED RED   

92 
Rate of theft offences per 1,000 
population 

14 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 14.1    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

93 
Proportion of all offenders who re-
offend in a 12 month period 

32.0 
Jan-Dec 

2016 

Tracker 32 29.5   
 Yes 

N/a GREEN 
Not 

comparable 
  

94 
Proven re-offending by young people 
(who offend) in a 12 month period 
(%) 

41.6% 
Jan-Dec 

2016 

Tracker - 41.6 44.4  
 Yes 

N/a  GREEN GREEN  

 

ALTOGETHER SAFER 

2. How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

95 
Dealing with concerns of ASB and 
crime issues (%) by the local council 
and police 

53 
Jan-Dec 

2017 

Tracker 61.3    
 No 

N/a RED    

96 
Number of police reported incidents of 
anti-social behaviour 

14,560 
Oct 17- 
Sep 18 

Tracker 16,076    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

P
age 71



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

2. How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

97 
Number of council reported incidents 
of anti-social behaviour  

12,426 
Oct 17- 
Sep 18 

Tracker 13,125    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

 

ALTOGETHER SAFER 

3. How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

98 
% of successful completions of those 
in alcohol treatment   

32.2 
Mar 17-Feb 
18 with reps 
to Aug 2018 

28.0 32.6* 39.1 30.8  North East 
2016 

Yes 
GREEN AMBER RED GREEN  

99 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - opiates  

5.5 
Mar 17-Feb 
18 with reps 
to Aug 2018 

6.0 5.5* 6.4 5.2  North East 
2016 

Yes 
RED GREEN RED GREEN  

100 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - non-opiates   

29.2 
Mar 17-Feb 
18 with reps 
to Aug 2018 

26.4 28.8* 36.6 27.4  North East 
2016 

Yes 
GREEN  GREEN RED GREEN  

101 
% of anti-social behaviour incidents 
that are alcohol related   

18.5 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 17    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

102 
% of violent crime that is alcohol 
related  

28.7 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 25.3    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

103 Alcohol seizures 194 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 398    
 No 

N/a GREEN    

*2017/18 baseline  
 

P
age 72



 

ALTOGETHER SAFER 

4. How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

104 
Building resilience to terrorism (self-
assessment). Scored on level 1 (low) to 
5 (high) 

3 2017/18 
Tracker 3    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

105 
Number of child sexual exploitation 
referrals 

170 
Oct 17 – 
Sep 18 

Tracker 167    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

 

ALTOGETHER SAFER 

5. How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

106 
Number of people killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic accidents 

34 

Jul-Sep 
2018 

Tracker 63    
 

Yes 
N/a GREEN    

 
- Number of fatalities 2  3    

 
- Number of seriously injured 32  60    

107 
Number of children killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic accidents 

6 

Jul-Sep 
2018 

Tracker 9    
 

Yes 
N/a GREEN    

 
- Number of fatalities 0  0    

 
- Number of seriously injured 6  9    

 

 

P
age 73



ALTOGETHER GREENER 

1. How clean and tidy is my local environment?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

108 
% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of litter  
that fall below an acceptable level  

6.61 
Aug-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 5.22    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

109 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of 
detritus that fall below an acceptable 
level  

13.87 
Aug-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 10.72    

 Yes 
N/a RED    

110 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of dog 
fouling that fall below an acceptable 
level 

1 
Aug-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 0.44    

 Yes 
N/a RED    

111 Number of  fly-tipping incidents 1,731 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 2,179     

Yes 
N/a GREEN    

 

ALTOGETHER GREENER 

2. Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

112 
% reduction in CO₂ emissions in 
County Durham (by 40% by 2020 and 
55% by March 2031) 

52.3 2016 
Tracker 49.9    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

113 
% change in CO₂ emissions from local 
authority operations 

-9 2017/18 
Tracker -14    

 Yes 
N/a RED    

 

 

P
age 74



ALTOGETHER GREENER 

3. How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this 

quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North East 
figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

114 
% of municipal waste diverted from 
landfill 

96.3 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

95 95.9    
 Yes 

GREEN GREEN    

115 
% of household waste that is re-
used, recycled or composted 

48.5 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 44.1    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

 

ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

1. How well do we look after our people?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

116 
% of performance appraisals 
completed in current post in rolling 
year period (excluding schools) 

N/a* 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

92 88.61    
 Yes 

N/a N/a     

117 
Days / shifts lost to sickness absence 
(all services excluding schools) 

10.94 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

11.20 10.51    
 Yes 

GREEN RED    

118 
% posts with no absence in rolling 
year (excluding schools) 

59.13 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 58.23    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

119 
% of sickness absence which is short 
term 

14.19 
Jul–Sep 

2018 

Tracker 13.15    
 Yes 

N/a N/a     

120 
% of sickness absence which is 
medium term 

14.52 
Jul–Sep 

2018 

Tracker 13.66    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

P
age 75



ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

1. How well do we look after our people?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

121 
% of sickness absence which is long 
term 

71.29 
Jul–Sep 

2018 

Tracker 73.18    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

122 
% of employees having five days or 
less sickness per 12 month period 

79.58 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 79.60    
 Yes 

N/a AMBER    

*due to new system introduction 

 

ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

2. Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

123 % of council tax collected in-year 56.23 
Apr–Sep 

2018 

56.83 56.79    
 Yes  

RED AMBER    

124 % of business rates collected in-year 58.9 
Apr–Sep 

2018 

59.64 59.69    
 Yes 

AMBER AMBER    

 

  

P
age 76



ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

3. How good are our services to customers and the public?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

125 

% of Freedom of Information and 
Environmental Information Regulations 
requests responded to within 20 
working days 

67 
Jul–Sep 

2018 

90 70    
 Yes 

RED RED    

126 
Average time taken to answer a 
telephone call (seconds) 

57 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 47    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

127 % of abandoned calls 5.1 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 5.4    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

128 Customer contacts: face to face 145,350 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 152,130    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

129 Customer contacts: telephone 972,426 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 949,280    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

130 Customer contacts: web forms 119,601 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 72,220    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

131 Customer contacts:  emails 45,267 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 63,784    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

132 Customer contacts:  social media 4,261 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 2,109    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

 

 

  

P
age 77



Appendix 3:  Risk Management  

 

1 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s challenging 
improvement agenda, so that any risks to successful delivery can be identified and 
minimised. The council’s risk management process therefore sits alongside service 
improvement work and is integrated into all significant change and improvement 
projects.  

2 The key risks to successfully achieving the objectives of each corporate theme are 
detailed against each Altogether theme in the relevant sections of the report. These 
risks have been identified using the following criteria: 

a) Net impact is critical, and the net likelihood is highly probable, probable or 
possible. 

b) Net impact is major, and the net likelihood is highly probable or probable. 
c) Net impact is moderate, and the net likelihood is highly probable. 

3 As at 30 September 2018, there were 26 risks on the corporate strategic risk 
register, three more than as at 31 May 2018. During this period, three risks were 
added and none were removed. The following matrix categorises the strategic risks 
according to their net risk evaluation as at 31 May 2018. To highlight changes in 
each category during the last quarter, the number of risks as at 31 December 2017 
is shown in brackets.  

Corporate Risk Heat Map 

IM
P

A
C

T
 

Critical 1 (1)   4 (4)   1 (1) 

Major   5 (4) 4 (3)     

Moderate     8 (9) 2 (1)   

Minor       1 (0)   

Insignificant           

 Remote Unlikely Possible Probable 
Highly 

Probable 

 Key risks  LIKELIHOOD 

 

4 Three risks have been added during the latest review period:  

a) Volatile and high-cost, demographic demands of looked after children on the 
Children’s Services budget in 2018/19 may result in adverse impacts on finance 
and service delivery. Some elements of this budget, particularly looked after 
children, are high cost and volatile, and current external demographic demands 
are creating a strain on financial resource allocation. A range of mitigating 

Page 78



controls are in place, including both financial and quality monitoring. The council 
is also leading on establishing a regional organisation for adoption in 
collaboration with partners.  

b) Increasing demand on the dedicated schools grant budget for high needs block 
special education needs services may result in adverse impacts on finance and 
service delivery. The demand in County Durham for special educational needs 
services has increased significantly in recent years. Councillors are being asked 
to authorise an application to the Secretary of State for Education asking for 
permission to transfer funding from the mainstream school budget to the special 
educational needs budget. It is hoped that transferring funds from the 
mainstream funding block will help address the shortfall in funding for pupils with 
special educational needs.  

c) Risk that the Council breaches it’s Adult Care – Residential Care Charging 
Policy and Deferred Payment Policy and is subject to legal challenge by 
providers. This risk reflects the potential implications of the circumstances under 
which the Council exercises its discretion under the Care Act 2014. Significant 
work has been completed in this area to review and update the Council’s Adult 
Care – Residential Care Charging Policy and Deferred Payment Policy. 

5 At a corporate strategic level, key risks to the council, with their respective net risk 
evaluations shown in brackets, are:  

a) If there was to be a slippage in the delivery of the agreed MTFP savings 
projects, this will require further savings to be made from other areas, which 
may result in further service reductions and job losses (critical / possible); 

b) Ongoing Government funding cuts which now extend to at least 2019/20 will 
continue to have an increasing major impact on all Council services (critical / 
highly probable); 

c) Failure to protect child from death or serious harm - where service failure is a 
factor or issue. (critical / possible); 

d) A service failure of adult safeguarding leads to death or serious harm to a 
service user (critical / possible); 

e) Major interruption to IT service delivery (critical / possible). 

6 The implementation of additional mitigation on a number of risks has enabled the 
council to improve performance, decision-making and governance, and this is 
detailed in the relevant sections of the report.  

a) Altogether Wealthier: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this 
theme.  

b) Altogether Better for Children and Young People:  Failure to protect a child 
from death or serious harm (where service failure is a factor or issue). 
Management consider it possible that this risk could occur which, in addition to 
the severe impacts on children, will result in serious damage to the council’s 
reputation and to relationships with its safeguarding partners. To mitigate the 
risk, actions are taken forward from Serious Case Reviews and reported to the 
Local Safeguarding Children Board. Lessons learned are fed into training for 
front line staff and regular staff supervision takes place. This risk is long term 
and procedures are reviewed regularly. 

Page 79



c) Altogether Healthier: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this 
theme. 

d) Altogether Safer:  A service failure of Adult Safeguarding leads to death or 
serious harm to a service user.  Management consider it possible that this risk 
could occur which, in addition to the severe impacts on service users, will result 
in serious damage to the council’s reputation and to relationships with its 
safeguarding partners. As the statutory body, the multi-agency Safeguarding 
Adults Board has a Business Plan in place for taking forward actions to 
safeguard vulnerable adults including a comprehensive training programme for 
staff and regular supervision takes place. This risk is long term and procedures 
are reviewed regularly.  

e) Altogether Greener: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this 
theme. 

f) Altogether Better Council:   

i. If there was to be slippage in the delivery of the agreed Medium Term 
Financial Plan savings projects, this will require further savings to be 
made from other areas, which may result in further service reductions and 
job losses.  Management consider it possible that this risk could occur, 
which will result in a funding shortfall, damaged reputation and reduced 
levels of service delivery.  To mitigate the risk, a programme management 
approach for key projects has been established and embedded across 
the council. Monitoring by Corporate Management Team and Cabinet 
provides assurance over the implementation of the agreed MTFP savings 
projects. It should be recognised that this will be a significant risk for at 
least the next four years. 

ii. Ongoing Government funding cuts which now extend to 2019/20 and the 
possible negative impact on the Fair Funding Review will continue to have 
an increasing major impact on all council services. Management consider 
it highly probable that this risk could occur, and to mitigate the risk, sound 
financial forecasting is in place based on thorough examination of the 
government's red book plans. This will also be a significant risk for at least 
the next four years.  

iii. Major interruption to IT service delivery. Corporate Management Team 
has approved a project to provide improved ICT resilience for the 
council’s main data centre. Design works to improve the infrastructure 
and reduce the risk are underway and are scheduled to be completed by 
the end of December 2018.  

Page 80



 

             

        

 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board 

 17 December 2018 

 Quarter 2 2018/19 

  Customer Feedback Report  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Joy Allen, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Transformation 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present to Members the Customer Feedback: Complaints, 
Compliments and Suggestions report for quarter 2, 2018/19 (full report 
attached at Appendix 2). 

Executive summary 

2 The report at Appendix 2 provides a breakdown of all Customer 
Feedback received by the Council during quarter 2, 2018/19. It 
summarises the Council’s performance in dealing with corporate and 
statutory complaints, explores the themes and identifies the actions we 
will take to, not only put things right for an individual, but to improve 
wider service provision. The report also provides positive feedback in 
the form of compliments across services and also suggestions from 
customers as to what they think we should consider to improve service 
provision. 

Recommendation 

3 Members are asked to note the information in the report. 

Background 

4 The report in relation to the Council’s performance and key issues 
regarding corporate and statutory complaints, compliments and 
suggestions provides invaluable insight into customer feedback on 
service delivery; their perception of how the Council is dealing with 

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



issues important to them locally and how we apply our policies and 
procedures. It is used, alongside performance data, to identify key 
areas for improvement and is used to track trends and highlight areas 
which need further consideration, or which are emerging as key issues.  

 

5 There are two main areas of complaints; those which are classed as 
“statutory” complaints which arise from our duties as a local social 
services authority and “corporate” complaints which cover all other 
areas. As both aspects are essentially customer feedback on delivery of 
services, albeit there are different processes supporting resolution, they 
are all reported quarterly in a combined report which is considered by 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board.  
 

Contact: Victoria Murray 
Victoria.Murray@durham.gov.uk 

Tel:  03000 267 707 

  

Page 82



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Information on financial remedies in relation to the Local Government and 

Social Care Ombudsman is included within the report 

Consultation 

None 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Complaints regarding any equality and diversity aspect are handled in 

consultation with the Council’s Equality Team. 

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

None 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

None 

Procurement 

None 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Putting our 
Customers first 

 

Customer Feedback Report 
 

Complaints,  
compliments and 
suggestions 
 

Quarter 2,  
2018/19 
 

Appendix 2 

Page 85



Q2, 2018/19 report    |2 

 

Background information 

1. Customer feedback is a valuable tool.  It not only helps us understand what is 

important to service users and what we are doing well, it can also indicate any issues 

and offer us the opportunity to put things right and improve our services.   

2. Covering a range of customer feedback, this report highlights the main themes 

throughout quarter 2, 2018/19 (1 July 2018 to 30 September).  As feedback can 

highlight opportunities for operational improvement, the report includes a selection of 

customer suggestions and their outcomes, an overview of comments relating to our 

decision-making and a summary of customer satisfaction through compliments and 

surveys.  It also summarises our performance in dealing with complaints, identifies any 

lessons learned and states what remedial action we have taken, or plan to take, to put 

things right and ensure similar mistakes are avoided in the future. 

Recent developments  

3. During quarter two, there were several advancements to improve the customer 

experience. These included: new online forms for the ‘single person discount’ and 

‘Move in and Move out’; e-ticketing for the gala theatre directly to mobile phones; 

electronic waste permits for use in our Household Waste Recycling Centres; and, 

paperless billing for council tax (an additional 2,500 residents signed up).  

4. In addition, as part of our Business Intelligence Programe, we have developed an 

automated performance dashboard for customer feedback. The dashboard is not only 

reducing the time officers spend collecting and analysing data, it is driving real 

operational improvement.  

5. During quarter 3, we will continue to develop the members’ portal: a ‘one-stop shop’ 

for accessing information, reporting issues, receiving progress updates and completing 

administrative tasks, e.g. training and expenses; SMS mass bulk-messaging to keep 

customers informed and reduce avoidable contact; Eckoh voice recognition for 

enhanced call routing and increased first call resolution (understanding the words 

customers use to ask for services will also help inform the search facility within our 

website) and a locality based working group to improve service delivery by removing 

internal barriers. 

6. We are currently seeking views on how we use digital technology and the areas we 

need to develop as part of our Digital Strategy. Consultation will take place until 25 

November. 

  

Page 86

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/19438/Digital-Strategy-consultation


Q2, 2018/19 report    |3 

 

Customer Suggestions 

7. We believe suggestions are essential to the ongoing development and improvement of 

our services, and carefully consider all received. During quarter 2, 2018/19, we 

received 128 suggestions.  

8. Almost half of the suggestions related to either waste collection and disposal (45 

suggestions) or clean and green (16 suggestions).   

9. Although we consider every suggestion, not all of them can be implemented. For 

example, we regularly receive suggestions that propose changes to our road system. 

However, when looked at in the context of countywide traffic flows, many would have 

knock on effects to the traffic flows elsewhere if they were to be implemented.  

10. A sample of suggestions received during quarter 2, 2018/19 and their outcomes is 

attached at Appendix 1. 

Customer feedback relating to our policies and procedures 

11. Our service provision reflects our policies and procedures, and during quarter 2, 

2018/19, we received 37 items of feedback as a direct consequence of carrying out 

actions in line with those policies and procedures.  We use this feedback to inform our 

policies and procedures at their review.  

 

12. 68% of this feedback can be attributed to our Refuse and Recycling Collection Service 

policies and procedures. The most frequent topic (15 of 37 contacts, accounting for 

60% of the contact relating to our policies and procedures) was dissatisfaction that we 

did not empty a bin due to contamination.    

13. Other contacts relating to Refuse and Recycling Collection Service policies and 

procedures covered a wide range of issues in small numbers. These included; the 

requirement to leave bulky waste at the designated bin collection point; not collecting 

side waste; the garden waste policy and procedure and refusing the request for an 

additional bin. 

 

14. The remaining contacts covered a range of areas including; HWRC not allowing 

customers to dispose of another person’s waste; HWRC not allowing specific vehicles 

to dispose of waste; the requirement to separate waste and our empty property 

charge.  

Customer feedback relating to decision making 

15. 57 contacts objected to decisions we had made, the majority of which related to 

operational decisions. The most frequent topic related to enforcement (14 contacts). 

The remaining contacts related to a variety of topics in small numbers such as 

planning decisions, decisions relating to highway works or waste collection. 

Page 87



Q2, 2018/19 report    |4 

 

Customer feedback relating to our fees and charges 

16. 24 contacts related to our fees and charges, which we review annually and allow us to 

provide local services that might not otherwise be possible.  

17. The majority (17 contacts) cited dissatisfaction with waste charges. 14 were unhappy 

with the £20 charge for either a replacement bin or a bin for a new build property. The 

remaining contacts were objections to; the charge for garden waste collection (one); 

trade waste (one) and other waste charges (one). 

Compliments  

18. We also receive many positive comments about our staff and the services we provide, 

and we believe that understanding what is working well and valued is as important as 

knowing what is not working as well.   

19. During quarter 2, 2018/19, we received 255 compliments, 46 in relation to social care 

services and 209 in relation to other services. These compliments recognise not only 

the motivation, dedication and hard work of our staff but also the high standard and 

value of the services we provide.  The majority of the compliments related to 

satisfaction with service provision but a number of compliments conveyed thanks to 

specific individuals.  

20. Customers were particularly complimentary about our frontline staff and service 

provision, the most common themes being standard of work, prompt service and how 

polite, pleasant and helpful staff are.  

21. Our Clean and Green Team received the most compliments (46) with customers 

appreciating our efforts to keep their local environment clean and tidy.  We also 

received several compliments about our wildflower planting schemes, pest control and 

staff from the recycling centres. 

22. Many of the compliments received were from customers who wished to express their 

gratitude where staff have gone the extra mile.  As far as we are able, we have passed 

these thanks onto the individuals concerned.  

23. A small sample of compliments received is attached at Appendix 2. 

Customer Satisfaction (CRM) 

24. Our customers now have the opportunity to provide feedback in relation to both 

contact and service delivery as part of the closure process within the Customer 

Relationship Management (CRM) system.  Since 31 October 2017, a satisfaction 

questionnaire has been applied to 25 service requests. A list of these service requests 

areas is attached at Appendix 3.  

Page 88



Q2, 2018/19 report    |5 

 

25. Between 1 July 2018 and 30 September 2018, we received 565 completed 

questionnaires through which customers answered a series of questions in relation to 

their experience.  

26. Further analysis, by question, has been completed on the returned questionnaires and 

the results shown below: 

% of respondents who.. 

..found it easy to contact the right service in the council 88% 

..were informed of the length of time it would take to resolve 59% 

..were provided with clear information 72% 

..were treated with dignity and respect 85% 

..were informed of progress 57% 

..felt their request was handled in a knowledgeable and effective manner 92% 

..were satisfied with how their initial contact was handled 79% 

..were satisfied with service delivery 50% 

..were satisfied with the time taken to complete their request 72% 

 

27. Although performance is positive, in order to drive further improvement we asked 

those customers who were dissatisfied the reasons why.  Almost one third of 

respondents reported finding it difficult to find the exact option they wanted on the 

website. Other reoccurring comments included: 

(a) Being slow to respond, often resulting in the customer having to chase 
enquiries 

(b) Not completing the task to the customer’s satisfaction 

(c) Customer being unclear who to contact 

(d) Not being informed of timescales or the action that would be taken 

(e) Lack of contact 

(f) Members of the public not wanting to complete online forms or register  

28. In order to further engage with customers over their appetite for online transactions, 

we asked customers who did not request service through our website the following 

question: You can request many of our services online through the council’s website. 

Why did you choose another method? 

29. We received 241 replies as shown in the following table; 

 

Page 89



Q2, 2018/19 report    |6 

 

Response 
No. of 

responses 
% of total 
responses 

I thought it would be easier or quicker using another method 65 27% 

I prefer to use a different method 15 6% 

It was an urgent enquiry 51 21% 

I tried online but had problems with the system 48 20% 

I didn’t know it was available online 21 9% 

Difficulties accessing the internet 14 6% 

It isn’t available online 8 3% 

Other 15 6% 

I don’t think my data will be handled securely 4 2% 

TOTAL RESPONSES 241 
 

Customer Satisfaction (Assisted Digital Support) 
 

30. Since 1 October 2017, we have asked customers who needed additional support to 

progress their online claim for Universal Credit to feedback through a short survey. To 

date, 924 customers have responded and the results show: 

(a) 99.6% were either ‘extremely satisfied’ or ‘satisfied’ with the level of service they 

received  

(b) 22% had heard about our service through Durham County Council channels 

(website/leaflets/CAPs) and 59% through their job centre work coach 

(c) 24.4% gave additional comments on their experience – see examples below: 

(i) Could not have managed without support given 

(ii) The advisor was extremely helpful 

(iii) Fantastic help from the council.  Clear and precise info given 

(iv) Very helpful, explained everything to me in detail which was great 

(v) Extremely happy with the service I received. 

31. The survey has also enabled us to capture information about Universal Credit 

claimants needing digital assistance: 

(a) Over half of claimants own a smartphone (53.5%).  18.7% own a laptop and 

13.1% a tablet computer. 25.4% do not own an electronic advice 

(b) 46% do not have access to the internet at home 

Page 90



Q2, 2018/19 report    |7 

 

(c) 82% are aware of the different locations where customers can access the 

internet or use self-serve devices. 

Customer complaints 

32. Within this document there are two types of complaint; statutory complaints that arise 

from our duties as a local social services authority and corporate complaints that cover 

all other complaints.  As each complaint type is subject to its own processes and 

policy, they are reported separately. 

33. The first stage in the corporate complaints process enables service areas to resolve 

the issue in the first instance, providing a service response. Should the customer 

remain dissatisfied with the service response they can escalate to the Customer 

Feedback Team, who will either progress with an independent investigation, or advise 

the service user to contact the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (the 

Ombudsman).  Independent investigation of statutory complaints is arranged by the 

statutory complaint teams. 

Statutory Complaints: Children’s Social Care Services 

34. During quarter 2 2018/19, Children’s Social Care Services received 38 statutory 

complaints, 12% more (+4) than quarter 1, and 58% more (+14) than quarter 2, 

2017/18.  

35. Of the 38 complaints completed, 27 (71%) were resolved within their prescribed 

timescale, and 11 complaints (29%) were resolved outside their prescribed timescale. 

Of the 38 complaints: 25 were not upheld (65.8%), seven were upheld (18.4%) and six 

partially upheld (15.8%). 

36. During quarter 2, 2018/19, a number of learning opportunities were identified from 

complaints actioned. These included: 

(a) Providing foster carer training in relation to appropriate relationships when 

caring for children and young people. 

(b) Ensuring cases are allocated (or re-allocated) promptly to social workers. 

(c) Undertaking phone checks to ensure phones have appropriate diverts set up, 

are not ‘logged out’, voicemail is regularly updated and listened to, calls / text to 

work mobiles and noted and returned 

Statutory Complaints: Adult Social Care Services 

37. During quarter 2, 2018/19, Adult Care Services received 24 statutory complaints, 14% 

fewer (-four) than quarter 2, 2017/18. 

 

Page 91



Q2, 2018/19 report    |8 

 

38. Older People / Physical Disabilities / Sensory Impairment received the most 

complaints (17) followed by Learning Disabilities / Mental Health / Substance Misuse 

(four). The most common reason for complaint was twofold – a lack of communication 

where no information had been received (seven) and a disputed decision where the 

service user disagreed with an explanation or decision (seven). 

39. 23 complaints were responded to during quarter 2, 2018/19, all within agreed 

timescales. Of these 23 complaints: seven were not upheld (30.4%), three were 

upheld (13%) and 12 partially upheld (52.2%). One complaint was declined as the 

complainant did not have the service user’s authority to make a complaint on their 

behalf (representing 4.3% of the overall total). One complaint received during the 

quarter was still being investigated at the time of writing this report. 

40. During quarter 2, a number of actions were taken in response to complaints including: 

(a) Reminding social work staff to complete reviews in a timely manner to ensure 

good communication (particularly when different services are involved) and 

afford the service user an opportunity to discuss their concerns. 

(b) Reminding staff to ensure personal details are correct on the Social Services 

Information Database (SSID). 

(c) Staff were reminded of the need to complete the property disregard 

spreadsheet. 

Corporate Complaints: Key Messages 

41. During quarter 2, 2018/19, we received 943 corporate complaints. This is a significant 

increase compared to quarter 2, 2017/18, during which we received 515 complaints.  

42. We have completed investigations into 876 of these complaints and 72% were upheld 

(fully or partially).  

43. This increase is partly due to a fourfold increase in complaints relating to missed 

collections (+250) compared to quarter 2, 2017/18.  This is directly linked to a change 

in the process for recording disputed missed collections. Under the previous approach 

where we had recorded on Bartec that the bin had not been presented, was 

contaminated or was too heavy, and a customer disputed that this was the case, a 

dispute process was initiated and investigated outside of the complaints policy. 

However, to support service improvement and consistency of approach we now log 

these disputes as complaints and consequently the number has increased. 

44. There were eight main reasons for complaint. The following graph shows the split by 

volume.    

 

Page 92



Q2, 2018/19 report    |9 

 

 
 

45. During quarter 2, our waste collection service completed more than 3 million refuse 

and recycling collections, 400,000 garden waste collections and 8,000 bulky 

collections. It also received 495 complaints (52% of the total).  It received 73% of all 

service failure complaints (mainly missed collections), 49% of administration 

complaints (mainly incorrectly addressed contamination notices) 36% of all quality of 

service (mainly around not returning bins to their bin collection point) and 30% of all 

staff behaviour complaints (mostly staff attitudes and issues with driving). 

46. Across all services, the most frequent category of complaint was service failure. The 

vast majority (421 complaints), equating to 81% of the category and 32% of all 

corporate complaints, was due to missed collections. We have completed 

investigations into 586 of these complaints and 92% were upheld.  

47. The remaining service failure complaints related to us not actioning the customer’s 

service request (45). The majority of these (15) relate to street cleaning - including 

enviro-crime clean up. During quarter 2, we received in the region of 75,000 service 

requests. 

48. The second most frequent cause for complaint was administration (184 complaints). 

The majority (121) were from customers unhappy to have received a contamination 

notice that they believed should have been sent to somebody else. In many of these 

cases, the bin was either not presented or was emptied as usual and no contamination 

sticker was placed on the bin. We have completed investigations into 114 of these 

complaints and 110 were upheld. Recycling assistants are now accompanying bin 

crews on their rounds and consequently we are identifying more contaminated bins. It 

SERVICE FAILURE
we did not do what we said 

we would, 421, 45%

ADMINISTRATION
our administrative processes were 
poor causing inconvenience to the 

customer, 184, 19%

QUALITY OF SERVICE
we did not provide the service to 
the expected standard, 146, 15%

STAFF BEHAVIOUR
our staff behaved badly, 

89, 9%

COMMUNICATION
we did not communicate 

effectively, 48, 5%

DAMAGE
we caused damage whilst carrying 

out our duties, 16, 2%

SPEED OF SERVICE
we did not provide the service 

when we said we would, 15, 2%

ACCESSIBILITY
we were inaccessible to the 

customer, 24, 3%

Page 93



Q2, 2018/19 report    |10 

 

is often difficult - especially in back streets - to identify the house to which the bin 

belongs. Consequently, mistakes are made but are rectified as soon as we become 

aware. 

49. The remaining administration complaints (31) mainly related to billing or payment 

issues. Of these; nine complaints questioned our accuracy; six related to issues 

obtaining a refund; four concerned issues relating to direct debits and the majority 

(twelve) concerned various other billing / payment issues.  

50. Quality of Service (146 complaints) was the third most frequent cause for complaint. 

46% of these complaints originated from our frontline services of refuse and recycling 

(53 complaints) or clean and green (14 complaints).  

51. Of the 146 received, more than one-third (54 complaints) were due to staff practices - 

mainly due to refuse and recycling crews not returning the customer’s bin to the Bin 

Collection Point (40). Other staff practices that resulted in customer dissatisfaction 

included staff making a mess whilst carrying out their duties (6), refuse and recycling 

crews leaving gates open (2) or staff working in what the customer perceived as being 

a dangerous manner (2). 

52. Almost a quarter of quality of service complaints (35) related to our maintenance 

activities. 16 complainants felt we were neglecting specific areas and / or allowing 

standards to deteriorate to an unacceptable level, and related to the general condition 

of council assets, for example, the condition of highways, car parks, cemeteries, 

playgrounds (10 complaints), or the condition of the customer’s local environment, for 

example, cleanliness standard of streets, back alleys or areas of derelict land (6 

complaints).  A further 19 complainants felt that when we did carry out maintenance 

activities, for example, cutting the grass, repairing the highway or footway, the 

standard of our work was inadequate. 

53. The other main topics for quality of service were spillages (8 complaints) or not 

resolving an ongoing issue to the customer’s satisfaction (14 complaints). The vast 

majority relating to spillages occurred during household waste collection; mainly 

broken glass.  We have reminded refuse and recycling crews to clean up any spillages 

that occur. Not permanently resolving an issue mainly involved enviro-crime, parking 

and planning decisions.  

54. We received 89 complaints relating to staff behaviour, of which 30% originated from 

our frontline refuse and recycling services.  

55. There were three broad areas of complaint. The first was that our staff were rude, 

unhelpful or dismissive of the customer’s issue or query, for example, ignoring 

customers who approach them in the street or not appearing to listen properly to a 

customer query (27 complaints). The second was that our staff behaved in an 

aggressive or intimidating manner, for example, swearing or shouting at customers 

who approach them in the street (26 complaints). A third area, complaints that our staff 

Page 94



Q2, 2018/19 report    |11 

 

were driving council vehicles in a dangerous manner - for example, speeding, 

tailgating, near miss, using a mobile phone, or parked a council vehicle in a dangerous 

manner received - 11 complaints. Following these complaints, some staff have 

undergone additional training. 

56. There were 48 complaints made relating to communication covering 3 areas;  we gave 

advice that was inaccurate, misleading, confusing or caused upset (24 complaints); 

not giving customers advanced warning of change (16 complaints) and providing a 

lack of information (8 complaints). 

Corporate complaints subjected to independent investigation 

57. During quarter 2, 2018/19 43 complainants requested that we escalate their complaint 

to the next stage.  We agreed it would be appropriate that 19 of these be subject to an 

independent investigation by the Customer Feedback Team. This was based on the 

service response, remedy already offered and the reasons given by the customer for 

the escalation. We completed investigations into 17 complaints, of which seven were 

upheld (three partially and four fully), details of which are attached at Appendix 4.   

Complaints to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (the 
Ombudsman) 

58. During quarter 2, 2018/19, the Ombudsman delivered decisions in relation to 18 

complaints. Conclusions were reached based on details supplied by complainants and 

supplemented in some instances with contextual information from Council officers.   

59. Of these complaints no further action was proposed in ten cases, four were found to 

be outside the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction, two were referred back to the council to deal 

with under our complaints procedure and one was not upheld. 

60. The Ombudsman upheld one complaint as detailed below: 

Ombudsman’s final decision Agreed action 

The Council issued an allotment tenancy 

agreement with an incorrectly spelled 

name, then failed to deliver the promised 

agreement clarifying responsibility for 

external boundaries of the allotment site.  

The Council recognised errors and has now 

issued the corrected agreement which makes 

it clear who has responsibility for external 

boundaries. Therefore, the Ombudsman finds 

the Council acted with fault but has remedied 

the fault. 

 

  

Page 95



Q2, 2018/19 report    |12 

 

Appendix 1:  Sample of suggestions received during quarter 2, 2018/19 

 

You suggested We did 

That bin crews delay emptying bins on the 

streets around schools at drop off /pick up times 

when roads are busy, causing gridlock.  

We have now completed route risk assessments 

for all routes. This includes setting collection 

restrictions in areas such as schools at busy 

times. 

As a ward Councillor I use the report it online 

facility quite a lot.  It is user friendly, quick, and 

easy.  As a suggestion, would it be possible to 

have an end report for each request so we can 

feed back to constituents highlighting how and 

when the request was dealt with? 

This information is to be included in the new 

members portal. 

 

You suggested Reason for non-implementation 

That recording cameras be placed in areas 

frequented by fly tippers in order to catch them 

and try to get a stop to fly tipping across the 

county. 

We review recorded flytips as a matter of course 

and deploy cameras to hotspots. Each location 

is reviewed for suitability taking into 

consideration the ability to deploy and aspects 

like collateral intrusion.  

 

 

  

Page 96



Q2, 2018/19 report    |13 

 

Appendix 2: sample of compliments received during quarter 2, 2018/19 
 

Customer’s Comments 

Customer advised that the wild flowers that have been planted around the area are stunning and a 

pleasure to look at and thanks DCC for doing this. 

Customer called to say thank you to Neighbourhood Wardens for their recent response to fly tipping 

on private land, which was very quick and prompt. 

I have to say that the staff at Annfield Plain HWRC are superb. We moved 6 weeks ago into 

Durham county and are refurbishing our new home so have made numerous trips to this centre 

with household and garden waste. The staff at this centre are the best I've ever known … The staff 

are courteous, professional and sooooo helpful and a credit to the council. It's not the nicest job and 

some residents are very difficult but the staff remain calm and still challenge when appropriate. 

I would just like to compliment the gentleman from the Pest Control Team who attended my 

property The gentleman who attended was such a lovely man, nothing was too much trouble and 

he was very friendly even when my children were plaguing him with questions! 

Customer was very happy with the work done to cut down dangerous tree and how quickly this was 

arranged. They would like to compliment the crew for their efficiency. 

I phoned last week about some potholes on the main road. I would like to express my thanks to the 

Highways operatives who came out and carried out the repair work. I was much impressed by how 

swiftly the potholes were treated as well as the quality of the work. I'm sure everyone in the area 

who uses the road will have appreciated the council's work. 

Thank you so much for organising the free multisport activities for the kids this summer and the 

snacks that you provided for them! My son enjoyed himself greatly and it helped me by adding to 

my planned activities to entertain him! Thanks again; it was much appreciated. 

On Saturday I was a guest at the Hotel Indigo in Durham for the ‘Big Meeting’ celebration. The day 

was excellent and showed our unique heritage and traditions to great advantage and we thoroughly 

enjoyed reliving aspects of our childhood. Obviously, with such a well-supported event there was a 

large amount of litter, most of it in bags or in bins, but some on the road and pavements on Old 

Elvet. Then at an appropriate time DCC litter transport lorries began clearing away the litter both 

efficiently and effectively with workers sweeping pavements at the same time. It was an excellent 

operation and I wish to compliment everyone involved in the entire process. Congratulations all 

round on a job very well done. Thank you very much. 

I just wanted to pass on how amazing the craft and storytelling at Blackhall Library was on 17 

August 2018.  The staff were fantastic reading the story, getting all the children and were brilliant 

making sure everyone was involved in all the crafts and no child was missing out.  The effort they 

had gone to decorating the library - even making a boat - was outstanding.  The team at Blackhall 

are a credit to the library service, my little girl loves going and that is thanks to the friendliness of 

the staff. 

I wanted to write to you direct to thank you for the efficient way in which you dealt with our planning 

application. I always felt I was dealing with a sympathetic professional who wanted to achieve the 

best result for us within the planning laws. Thank you very much.  

Lady would like to thank Care Connect for their concern during the night when she pressed her 

pendant by mistake and would especially like to thank mobile responder who attended - the 

customer thought she was a lovely lady. 

  

Page 97



Q2, 2018/19 report    |14 

 

Appendix 3: satisfaction questionnaires are applied to the following service requests 
 

(a) Abandoned shopping trolleys 

(b) Bin – request help with your bin 

(c) Bonfires 

(d) Bus stop and shelters 

(e) Complaints 

(f) Dead animal removal 

(g) Dog bins and litter Bins 

(h) Dog fouling 

(i) Flyposting 

(j) Fly tipping 

(k) Garden Waste 

(l) Graffiti 

(m) Grass cutting, shrubs and flower beds 

(n) Litter 

(o) Needles and drug paraphernalia 

(p) Noise 

(q) Roads or footpath obstruction – vehicular 

(r) Roadworks 

(s) Rubbish in gardens and yards 

(t) Seating and Benches 

(u) Spilt Rubbish 

(v) Street lighting 

(w) Traffic lights and crossings 

(x) Tree or hedge pruning, removal 

(y) Waste permits 

  

Page 98



Q2, 2018/19 report    |15 

 

Appendix 4: Independent Investigations by Customer Feedback Team where corporate 
complaints were upheld  
 

Complaint Action to be taken 

The complainant was unhappy with the 

information supplied in relation to a link road 

and the impact of this on their ability to object 

and provide comment.  They were also 

unhappy with the time they were allocated to 

make verbal representation to the Planning 

Committee and the overall impact of the 

proposal on their daily life and property (in 

terms of structure and value) 

We acknowledge that the complainant’s email 

should have been subjected to further scrutiny and 

clarification provided.  

However, the element that consulting on the 

planning application, mainly the link road, has been 

inhibited was not upheld. 

The complainant will be consulted when the 

application for the link road is submitted. 

The Planning Department did not present an 

application to a Planning Committee. 

We acknowledge that the planning department 

should have referred the application for 

assessment under a planning committee and have 

apologised for any stress and inconvenience 

caused.  

However, the service area has provided a 

satisfactory explanation regarding the decision 

taken and new procedures introduced are to be 

applied by all planning officers across the service 

area to ensure a reliable and consistent approach. 

Dissatisfaction with the termination of a 

school transport contract and the way in 

which this was handled. 

Complaint upheld. We have apologised for any 

stress and inconvenience caused and offered 

financial recompense. 

Dissatisfaction with the actions of a Senior 

Environmental Health Officer 

Although we have apologised for an administrative 

error, we found that the Senior Environmental 

Health Officer acted in accordance with internal 

protocols to reach their decision.  

Dissatisfaction with initial standard of repairs 

near their property and the actions of staff 

pouring tar down the drain. 

A DCC subcontractor was asked to investigate the 

complaint.  They advised that a barrel of bitumen 

emulsion (not tar) was placed down the drain.  

Both DCC and the subcontractor have inspected 

the drain to ascertain whether there has been 

contamination. Whilst nothing was immediately 

noticeable, we requested that a gulley motor 

perform a full jetting on drain to ensure it is clear 

and flowing.  

We have apologised.  

Ongoing issue with missed garden waste 

collections. 

The bin has now been emptied. Crews had 

misinterpreted a map provided but the bin 

collection point has now been clarified.  

Page 99



Q2, 2018/19 report    |16 

 

Complaint Action to be taken 

Handling of an enquiry and subsequent 

actions. 
Although we were unable to progress the complaint 

through the Corporate Complaints Process, we 

should have advised the complainant of this.  

We should have also informed them that a referral 

had been made to the council’s insurance section 

and supplied them with the paperwork required to 

submit a claim.  

 

Page 100



 

             

       

 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board 

17 December 2018 

Resources – Quarter 2 September 2018: 

Forecast of Revenue and Capital 

Outturn 2018/19  

   

 

Report of John Hewitt, Corporate Director Resources 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide details of the forecast outturn budget position for the 
Resources service grouping highlighting major variances in comparison 
with the budget based on the position to the end of September 2018. 

Executive summary 

2 The updated position shows that the service is forecasting a cash limit 
variance (underspend) of £271,000 against a revised budget of £15.825 
million. This compares to the previously forecast position (at quarter 1) 
of a  £496,000 underspend for the year. 

3 The revised Resources capital budget is £7.136 million with a total 
expenditure to 31 August 2018 of £2.167 million (30%). The profiled 
budget for this period is £2.141 million, therefore spend is above 
profiled / expected spend in the year to date. 

Recommendation 

4 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board is recommended 
to note the content of this report. 

 

  

 

Page 101

Agenda Item 8



Background 

5 County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2018/19 
at its meeting on 21 February 2018. These budgets have subsequently 
been revised to account for grant additions/reductions, corporate 
savings/adjustments, budget transfers between service groupings and 
budget profiling between years. This report covers the financial position 
for the following major accounts maintained by the Resources service 
grouping: 

 Revenue Budget - £15.825 million (original £15.635 million) 

 Capital Programme - £7.136 million (original £6.989 million) 
 

6 The original Resources General Fund budget has been revised in year 
to incorporate a number of budget adjustments as follows: 

 £000s 

 Transfer from Corporate – Additional Resource to 
Support Commercialisation and Workforce 
Development 

109 

 Transfer from CYPS – Additional post in CYPS 
Finance 

31 

 Transfer from RES-CAC – Budget Realignment  6 

 Transfer to Corporate – MFD Saving -4 

 Transfer to Contingencies – Microsoft Licences -224 

 Contribution from MTFP ER/VR Reserve 27 

 Contribution form Resources Cash Limit Reserve – 
Digital Durham 

9 

 Contribution from Microsoft Office 365 Reserve 5 

 Contribution from ICT Reserve 12 

 Contribution from CRM Reserve 9 

 Contribution from Benefit Take-up Reserve 121 

 Contribution from Welfare Reform New Burdens Grant 
Reserve 

30 

 Transfer from REAL - Leisureworks 59 

 
The revised General Fund Budget for Resources is £15.825 million. 

Page 102



 
7 The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the 

financial year 2018/19 and show:  

 The approved annual budget; 

 The actual income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s 
financial management system; 

 The variance between the annual budget and the forecast outturn; 

 For the Resources revenue budget, adjustments for items outside 
of the cash limit to take into account such items as redundancies 
met from the strategic reserve, capital charges not controlled by 
services and use of / or contributions to earmarked reserves. 

 

8 The service is reporting a cash limit variance (underspend) of £271,000 
million against a revised budget of £15.825 million.  

9 The tables below compare the actual expenditure with the budget. The 
first table is analysed by Subjective Analysis (i.e. type of expense), and 
the second by Head of Service. 

Subjective Analysis (£000s) 

 

2018/19 

Budget 

YTD 

Actual  

Forecast 

of outturn 

Variance 

(under) / 

over 

spend 

 Total 

Items 

Outside  

Cash 

Limit  

Cash 

Limit 

Variance 

Qtr 2 

Memo: 

Cash 

Limit 

Variance 

Qtr 1 

Employees 44,966 18,156 44,821 (145) (241) (386) (178 

Premises 4,954 135 4,933 (21) 0 (21) (12) 

Transport 627 255 612 (15) 0 (15) (11) 

Supplies and 

Services 
15,486 6,116 15,428 (58) 0 (58) (211) 

Third Party 

Payments 
40 29 40 0 0 0 0 

Central Support 

and Capital 
5,985 103 6,569 584 0 584 81 

Gross 

Expenditure 
72,058 24,794 72,403 345 (241) 104 (331) 

Income (56,233) (13,380) (56,835) (602) 227 (375) (165) 

Net Expenditure 15,825 11,414 15,568 (257) (14) (271) (496) 

Page 103



 

2018/19 

Budget 

YTD 

Actual  

Forecast 

of outturn 

Variance 

(under) / 

over 

spend 

 Total 

Items 

Outside  

Cash 

Limit  

Cash 

Limit 

Variance 

Qtr 2 

Memo: 

Cash 

Limit 

Variance 

Qtr 1 

HB Transfer 

payments 
174,733 66,127 166,577 (8,156) 0 (8,156) 0 

HB Central 

Support and 

Capital 

400 0 400 0 0 0 0 

HB Income (175,133) (1,189) (166,977) 8,156 0 8,156 0 

HB Net 

Expenditure 
0 64,938 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Net 

Expenditure 
15,825 76,352 15,568 (257) (14) (271) (496) 

 

By Head of Service (£000’s) 

 

2018/19 

Budget 

YTD 

Actual  

Forecast 

of 

outturn 

Variance 

(under) / 

over 

spend 

 Total 

Items 

Outside  

Cash 

Limit  

Cash 

Limit 

Variance 

Qtr 2 

Memo: 

Cash 

Limit 

Variance 

Qtr 1 

Central 

Establishment 

Recharges 

(24,216) 0 (24,216) 0 0 0 0 

Corporate 

Finance & 

Commercial 

Services 

3,526 1,831 3,453 (73) 0 (73) (6) 

Financial & 

Transactional 

Services 

10,347 1,917 10,037 (310) 196 (114) 69 

Digital & 

Customer 

Services 

16,883 3,582 17,211 328 (97) 231 (123) 

Internal Audit and 

Insurance 
1,065 423 1,058 (7) 0 (7) 28 

Page 104



 

2018/19 

Budget 

YTD 

Actual  

Forecast 

of 

outturn 

Variance 

(under) / 

over 

spend 

 Total 

Items 

Outside  

Cash 

Limit  

Cash 

Limit 

Variance 

Qtr 2 

Memo: 

Cash 

Limit 

Variance 

Qtr 1 

Legal & 

Democratic 

Services 

7,440 3,078 7,163 (277) 0 (277) (475) 

Service 

Management / 

Central Charges 

(654) 99 (650) 4 0 4 (1) 

People & Talent 

Management 
1,434 484 1,512 78 (113) (35) 12 

Net Expenditure 

Excluding HB 
15,825 11,414 15,568 (257) (14) (271) (496) 

Housing Benefit 0 64,938 0 0 0 0 0 

Net expenditure 15,825 76,352 15,568 (257) (14) (271) (496) 

 

10 The table below provides a brief commentary on the variances against 
the revised budget analysed by Head of Service. The table identifies 
variances in the core budget only and excludes items outside of the 
cash limit (e.g. redundancy costs) and technical accounting adjustments 
(e.g. capital charges): 
 

Head of 
Service 

Service Area Description Year End 
(under) / 

overbudget 
£000s 

Year End 
(under) / 

overbudget 
£000s 

Central 
Establishment 
Recharges 

Central 
Establishment 
Recharges 

No material variance 
0  

 

0 

Corporate 
Finance & 
Commercial 
Services 

Management £1,000 underbudget on 
employees  

(1) 

(73) 

Management 
Priority 

No material variance 
0  

Financial Systems £46,000 underbudget on 
employees                                              
£2,000 underbudget on 
supplies and services  

(48) 

Procurement £11,000 overbudget on 
employees                                                         

(35) 

Page 105



Head of 
Service 

Service Area Description Year End 
(under) / 

overbudget 
£000s 

Year End 
(under) / 

overbudget 
£000s 

£3,000 overbudget on supplies 
and services                                                                         
£49,000 overachieved in 
income 

Pensions £18,000 overbudget on 
employees. 

£18,000 overachieved on 
income 

0  

Strategic Finance £33,000 overbudget on 
employees                                                      
£3,000 overbudget on supplies 
and services                                                           
£9,000 overachieved on income 

27 

Occupational 
Health 

£10,000 underbudget on 
employees 

(10) 

Health and Safety £9,000 overbudget on 
employees                                                    
£4,000 underbudget on 
Transport                                                         
£3,000 underbudget on 
supplies and services                                                           
£7,000 overachieved on income 

(5) 

People & 
Talent 
Management 

People & Talent 
Management 

£7,000 underbudget on 
employees. 

£3,000 underbudget on 
transport. 

£7,000 underbudget on 
supplies and services 

£18,000 overachieved on 
income 

(35) 

 

(35) 

Finance & 
Transactional 
Services 

Management No material variance 0  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Operations & Data £70,000 overbudget on 
employees 

£21,000 overbudget on 
transport 

£8,000 under on supplies and 
services 

83  

Financial 
Management 

£80,000 overachieved on 
income 

(80) 

Page 106



Head of 
Service 

Service Area Description Year End 
(under) / 

overbudget 
£000s 

Year End 
(under) / 

overbudget 
£000s 

Revenues and 
Benefits 

£225,000 underbudget on 
employees 

£123,000 overbudget on 
supplies and services 

£15,000 overachieved on 
income  

(117) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(114) 

Digital and 
Customer 
Services 

Customer 
Services 

£78,000 underbudget on 
employees  

£3,000 overbudget on premises 

£4,000 underbudget on 
transport 

£47,000 underbudget on 
supplies and services 

£1,000 overachieved on income 

(127) 

231 

ICT Services £152,000 underbudget on 
employees 

£5,000 underbudget on 
transport  

£66,000 underbudget on 
supplies and services 

£581,000 overbudget on central 
expenses, of which £560,000 is 
a contribution to capital 
schemes. 

358 

Internal Audit 
and Risk 

Insurance and 
Risk 

£4,000 overbudget on 
employees                                                   
£2,000 overbudget on supplies 
and services 

6  

  

  

(7) 

Internal Audit  £15,000 overbudget on 
employees                                                     
£3,000 under on supplies and 
services                                                                                                                                                 
£8,000 over achieved on 
Income 

4  

Corporate Fraud £3,000 overbudget on supplies 
and services 

(17) 

Page 107



Head of 
Service 

Service Area Description Year End 
(under) / 

overbudget 
£000s 

Year End 
(under) / 

overbudget 
£000s 

£20,000 overachieved on 
income 

Legal and 
Democratic 
Services 

Corporate and 
Democratic Core 

£45,000 underbudget on 
employees  

£10,000 underbudget on 
transport  

£135,000 underbudget on 
supplies and services 

£14,000 overachieved income 

(204) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(277) 

Legal and Other 
Services 

£20,000 overbudget on 
employees 

£24,000 underbudget on 
premises 

£12,000 underbudget on 
transport  

£77,000 overbudget on 
supplies and services 

£134,000 over achieved income 

(73) 

Service 
Management 

Service 
Management 

£4,000 overbudget on 
employees 

4 
4 

Benefits 
Payments 
and Subsidy 

Benefits   
 0 

0 

TOTAL       (271) 

 
11 In summary, the service grouping is on track to maintain spending 

within its cash limit. 

Capital Programme 

12 The original Resources capital programme was £6.989 million and this 
has been revised for additions/reductions, budget transfers and budget 
profiling. The revised budget now stands at £7.136 million 

Page 108



13 Summary financial performance to the end of August 2018 is shown 
below:  

 Original 

Annual  

Budget 

2018/19 

Revised 

Annual 

Budget  

2018/19 

 

Profiled 

Budget  

2018/19 

Actual 

Spend  

31/08/2018 

Remaining 

Budget 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Digital & Customer 

Services 
6,872 6,959 2,088 2,131 4,828 

Corporate Finance & 

Commercial Services 

and Finance & 

Transactional 

Services 

117 177 53 36 141 

Total 6,989 7,136 2,141 2,167 4,969 

 

14 The revised Resources capital budget is £7.136 million with a total 
expenditure to 31 August 2018 of £2.167 million (30%). The profiled 
budget for this period is £2.141 million, therefore spend is above 
profiled / expected spend in the year to date. A full breakdown of 
schemes and actual expenditure to 31 August 2018 is given in 
Appendix 2 

15 At year end the actual outturn performance will be compared against 
the revised budgets and at that time service and project managers will 
need to account for any budget variance.  

Background papers 

 Cabinet Report (14 November 2018) – Forecast of Revenue and 
Capital Outturn 2018/19 – Period to 30 September 2018. 

 

Contact: Ian Herberson Tel:  03000 261861 

  

Page 109



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an 

analysis of the revenue and capital outturn position. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

Not applicable. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of 

the Councils Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

  

Page 110



Appendix 2:  Resources Capital Programme 2018/19 – Detailed Monitoring 
Statement to 31 August 2018 

Resources Revised 
Annual 
Budget 

Profiled 
Budget 

Actual 
Spend 

Remaining 
Budget 

  2018/19 2018/19 31/08/18 2018/19 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Big Data  149  45              -    149  

Broadband / Digital Durham     2,262         679          668          1,594  

Code of Connection Compliance           25             7             -                 25  

Dark Fibre installations and Circuit/Microwave 
Upgrades 

          29             9              6               23  

Homeworking         727         218            40             687  

ICT Business Continuity         490         147          458               32  

Mobile Device Management         353         106  80               273  

Ongoing Server replacement         261           78          264                (3)  

Replacement of Desktop ICT Equipment      1,335         400          601             734  

Sharepoint Architecture           23             7              0                 23  

Tanfield Datacentre LAN Switching 
Replacement 

          65           20             -                 65  

Applications and Development           16             5              -                 16  

Archiving Of Obsolete Systems Based On Non 
Supported Hardware         326          98              -               326  

Customer Relation Management System         897         270            19             878  

Remote Access – Central Solution - - (5) 5 

Digital & Customer Services Total      6,958      2,089       2,131          4,827  

Migration of HR/Payroll functionality 105  32  23               82  

Civica Pension Fund Administration System 72  21  13               59  

Corporate Finance & Commercial Services 
and Financial & Transactional Services Total 177  53  36             141  

RES Total 7,135 2,142 2,167 4,968 
 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

       

 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board 

17 December 2018 

Transformation and Partnerships – 

Quarter 2 September 2018: Forecast of 

Revenue and Capital Outturn 2018/19 

  

Report of Corporate Directors 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide details of the forecast outturn budget position for the 
Transformation and Partnerships (TAP) service grouping highlighting 
major variances in comparison with the budget based on the position to 
the end of September 2018. 

Executive summary 

2 The service is reporting a cash limit underspend of £40,000 against a 
revised budget of £12.233 million. 

3 The revised TAP capital budget is £4.331 million with a total 
expenditure to 31 August 2018 of £599,000.  

Recommendation 

4 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board is recommended 
to note the content of this report. 

 

  

 

Page 113



Background 

5 County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2018/19 
at its meeting on 21 February 2018. These budgets have subsequently 
been revised to account for grant additions/reductions, budget transfers 
between service groupings and budget reprofiling between years.  This 
report covers the financial position for the following major accounts 
maintained by the TAP service grouping: 

 TAP Revenue Budget - £12.233 million (original £11.944 million) 

 TAP Capital Programme – £4.331 million (original £5.084 million) 

6 The original TAP budget has been revised to incorporate the following 
budget adjustments since the original budget was approved in 
February: 

 £000s 

Transfer into TAP from CYPS – Youth Work Support 139 

Transfer from Cash Limit Reserve (TAP restructure) 188 

Transfer to Youth Work Support Reserve (139) 

Use of MTFP Redundancy Reserve 34 

Use of Syrian Resettlement Programme Reserve 23 

Use of Transformation Challenge Grant Reserve 44 

TOTAL 289 

 

The revised TAP revenue budget is £12.233 million. 

7 The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the 
financial year 2018/19 and show: 

 The approved annual budget; 
 

 The actual income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s 
financial management system; 

 

 The variance between the annual budget and the forecast outturn; 
 

 For the TAP revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the cash 
limit to take into account such items as redundancies met from the 

Page 114



strategic reserve, capital charges not controlled by services and use of / 
or contributions to earmarked reserves. 

Forecast Revenue Outturn 2018/19 

8 The service is reporting a cash limit underspend of £40,000 against a 
revised budget of £12.233 million. 

9 The tables below compare the actual expenditure with the budget. The 
first table is analysed by Subjective Analysis (i.e. type of expense), and 
the second by Head of Service. 

Subjective Analysis (£000s) 

Subjective Analysis 

2018/19 

Budget 

YTD 

Actual  

Forecast 

of 

outturn 

Variance 

(under) / 

over 

spend 

 Total 

Items 

Outside  

Cash 

Limit  

Cash 

Limit 

Variance 

Qtr 2 

Employees 10,467 4,528 10,572 105 (46) 59 

Premises 247 31 235 (12) - (12) 

Transport 62 20 65 3 (1) 2 

Supplies and Services 2,113 707 2,067 (46) 35 (11) 

Agency and Contracted 141 - 141 - - - 

Transfer Payments 1,443 805 1,443 - - - 

Central Costs 2,345 96 2,345 - 3 3 

GROSS EXPENDITURE 16,818 6,187 16,868 50 (9) 41 

INCOME (4,585) (1,363) (4,718) (133) 52 (81) 

NET EXPENDITURE 12,233 4,824 12,150 (83) 43 (40) 

Analysis by Head of Service (£000s) 

Head of Service 

2018/19 

Budget 

YTD 

Actual  

Forecast 

of 

outturn 

Variance 

(under) / 

over 

spend 

 Total 

Items 

Outside  

Cash 

Limit  

Cash 

Limit 

Variance 

Qtr 2 

Partnership and Community 

Engagement 

6,726 1,927 6,808 82 (102) (20) 

Strategy 1,124 983 1,132 8 3 11 

Communications and 

Marketing 

2,128 1,053 2,105 (23) - (23) 

Transformation 2,255 861 2,105 (150) 142 (8) 

 NET EXPENDITURE 12,233 4,824 12,150 (83) 43 (40) 

 

Page 115



10 The table below provides a brief commentary on the variances against 
the revised budget, analysed by individual Head of Service. The table 
identifies variances in the core budget only and excludes items outside 
of the cash limit (e.g. central repairs and maintenance) and technical 
accounting adjustments (e.g. capital charges): 

Head of Service Service Area Description 

Forecast 
Year End 
(Under) / 

Overspend 
£000s 

Partnership and 
Community 

Engagement (PACE) 

Area Action Partnerships, 
Community Buildings 
PACE 

£20,000 
managed 
underspend, 
mostly on 
employees. 

(20) 

Strategy 

Corporate Scrutiny & 
Strategy, 

Head of Strategy 

Service Management 

Research & Equalities 

Research & Intelligence 

 

£11,000 
managed 
overspend, 
mostly on 
employees. 

  

11 

Communications and 
Marketing 

Communications & 
Marketing, 

Civil Contingencies Unit 

£23,000 
managed 
underspend, 
mostly on 
employees. 

(23) 

Transformation 

Corporate Improvement 
Programme, 

Information Management, 

County Records 

£8,000 managed 
underspend on 
employees 

 

(8) 

TOTAL     (40) 

 

11 In summary, the service grouping is forecast to maintain its spending in 
line with its cash limit this year. The forecast underspend of £40,000 
takes into account the restructure of the former Assistant Chief 
Executives Service Grouping which was delayed following the 
unitisation of services into TAP. As a result the full effect of the savings 

Page 116



won’t be achieved in the current financial year. An amount of £188,000 
has been drawn from the TAP Cash Limit Reserve to cover the shortfall. 

Members Neighbourhoods Revenue Budget 

12 Each elected member receives an annual allocation of £19,400; £5,400 

(including £2,000 from the former Members’ Initiatives Fund) revenue 

and £14,000 capital.  

13 The revenue budget allocation for the current year is £680,000. 

Previous years unspent allocations totalling £746,000 are held in an 

earmarked reserve. At 31 August 2018, £757,000 of the total budget 

allocation of £1.426 million has been either spent or committed and it is 

expected that the remaining budget will be allocated during the 

remainder of the year.  

14 There is a remaining balance of £4,246 held in an earmarked reserve in 

respect of the former Members Initiative Fund.  

AAP Area Budgets 

15 Each of the 14 Area Action Partnerships (AAP) has an annual allocation 

of £100,000; £76,000 revenue and £24,000 capital.  

16 The revenue budget allocation for the current year is £1.064 million to 

develop projects to meet the agreed AAP priorities.  

17 Previous years unspent allocations totalling £762,000 are held in an 

earmarked reserve. At 31 August a total of £1.021 million has either 

been committed or spent and it is expected that the remaining £805,000 

will be committed later in the year. 

Capital Programme 

18 The TAP capital programme comprises six main schemes, Assets in the 

Community, Area Action Partnerships Capital, Members 

Neighbourhoods Capital, Community Facilities in Crook, Community 

Facilities in Consett and Durham History Centre. 

19 The TAP capital programme has been revised to take into account the 

2017/18 outturn position, where unspent budget was transferred from 

2017/18. The budget agreed at MOWG in September 2018 now stands 

at £4.331m.   

Page 117



20 Summary financial performance to the end of August is shown below: 

Service 

Original 

Annual 

Budget 

2018/19 

Revised 

Annual 

Budget 

2018/19 

Actual  

Spend to  

31 August 

Remaining 

Budget 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Assets in the Community 1,012 166 64 102 

Area Action Partnership 474 550 117 433 

Members Neighbourhoods 3,044 3,289 411 2,878 

Community Facilities 

Crook 

7 7 0 7 

Community Facilities 

Consett 

200 25 4 21 

Durham History Centre 200 200 0 200 

AAP Initiatives 148 94 3 91 

Total 5,085 4,331 599 3,732 

 

21 Officers continue to carefully monitor capital expenditure on a monthly 
basis. £599,000 of actual expenditure has been incurred to date. This is 
14% of the total estimated spend in the year.  

22 At year end the actual outturn performance will be compared against 
the revised budgets and service and project managers will need to 
account for any budget variance 

Background papers 

 Cabinet Report (14 November 2018) – Forecast of Revenue and 
Capital Outturn 2018/19 – Period to 30 September 2018. 

 

Contact: Ian Herberson Tel:  03000 261861 

  

Page 118



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an 

analysis of the revenue and capital outturn position. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

Not applicable. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of 

the Councils Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



 

              

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board 

 17 December 2018 

Response of the Environment and 

Sustainable Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee to the County 

Durham Environment Partnership report 

‘Phasing Out Unnecessary Single Use 

Plastics’ (SUPs)  

 

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present to Members of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board (COSMB) the response of the Environment and 
Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee (ESC 
OSC) to the County Durham Environment Partnership’s report ‘Phasing 
Out Unnecessary Single Use Plastics (SUPs) (appendix 2) and action 
plan (appendix 3). 

Executive summary 

2 Whilst plastic is a cheap, durable and versatile material there is a 
growing realisation of the harm that it brings, especially to our marine 
environment.  Of particular concern is the wastefulness of SUPs, 
designed to be used once and if not disposed of correctly can remain in 
our environment for hundreds of years. 

3 Recognising the importance of the SUPs issue and the need for action 
to be taken Overview and Scrutiny recommended that the County 
Durham Environment Partnership form a task group with the purpose of 
reducing DCC’s usage of SUPs and to influence partners to reduce their 
usage. 

Recommendations 
 
4 That the COSMB note the response of the ESC OSC to the County 

Durham Environment Partnership report ‘Phasing Out Unnecessary 

 

Page 121

Agenda Item 9



Single Use Plastics and the revised SUPs action plan incorporating 
those areas included in the Overview and Scrutiny response.     

5 That the COSMB note that the ESC OSC will continue to monitor the 
progress made against the key actions identified in the ‘Phasing Out 
Unnecessary Single Use Plastics’ report and action plan, with the first 
progress update scheduled for the ESC OSC meeting on the 5 April 
2019. 

6 That the COSMB agree that the ESC OSC’s response to the County 
Durham Environment Partnership report ‘Phasing Out Unnecessary 
Single Use Plastics’ and the SUPs action plan is shared with Cabinet at 
a future meeting.  

Background 

7 On 24th January 2018 the following County Council resolution was 
passed:  

That this Council resolves to: 

Request that a report be brought to Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board on the options for bringing an end to the use of 
unnecessary Single Use Plastics (SUP) in County Durham, taking 
account of the following measures to: 

(a) enable Durham County Council to become a full signatory of the ‘Plastic 
Free Pledge’, by phasing out the use of unnecessary SUPs in all 
County Council buildings, and working with commissioning partners to 
end the purchase and procurement of SUPs through the DCC supply 
chain; 

(b) encourage the County’s businesses, organisations and residents to go 
‘plastic free’, working with best practice partners across the County to 
explore the creation of a ‘plastic free network’, that could provide 
business support, practical guidelines and advice to help local 
businesses transition from SUP to sustainable alternatives; 

(c) to incentivise traders on Council land to sell re-usable or non-plastic 
biodegradable containers and invite customers to bring their own, with 
the aim of phasing out SUP; including investigating the possibility of 
requiring food and drink vendors to avoid SUPs as a condition of their 
event permission, strengthening DCC's existing guidance for exhibitors 
and traders. 

 
8 A report was presented to the COSMB on the 14 February 2018 

recommending that a task group be established to address the motion 
and that the group include representatives from both DCC and the 

Page 122



County Durham Environment Partnership.  In addition, it was 
recommended that the task group would report their findings and 
conclusions to the ESC OSC. 

9 The task group was established under the County Durham Environment 
Partnership and consisted of representatives from the relevant Council 
services and from a range of partners including the Environment 
Agency, Northumbrian Water Limited, Durham University, Durham City 
Business Improvement District and the North East Nature Partnership. 

10 The report of the County Durham Environment Partnership ‘Phasing 
Out Unnecessary Single Use Plastics’ together with the SUPs action 
plan was considered at a special meeting of the  ESC OSC on the 12 
November 2018.  The report identifies a range of ‘quick wins’ now 
implemented, a future bespoke local pledge, key future actions for DCC 
and actions to encourage wider involvement. 

11 At the special meeting of the ESC OSC Members commented on both 
the report and the SUPs action plan, with those comments captured to 
form the following committee response: 

 The committee acknowledges the significant work undertaken by 
DCC and partners in a short period of time in both assessing and 
reducing the use of SUPs. 

 The ESC OSC welcomes and commends DCC and partners for the 
implementation of the ‘quick wins’ as identified in the report. 

 

 In relation to future actions, the committee supports and agrees 
those actions and timescales identified in the report and in the SUPs 
action plan. 

 

 The ESC OSC supports the introduction of a bespoke local pledge 
for County Durham to combat the use of unnecessary SUPs, 
designed not only with the Council in mind but also partners. 

 

 The ESC OSC recommends that the following additional areas are 
included within the report and/or action plan going forward: 

 
o That DCC and partners develop a communications plan which 

includes the use of Durham County News to: 
 

 Ensure that residents are informed of both why and 
when alternatives to SUPs are being used. 

 

Page 123



 Ensure that clear information on the different types of 
plastic, identifying what can and cannot be recycled is 
provided to residents. 

 
 Provide residents with an opportunity to identify how 

SUPs usage can be reduced. 
 

 That DCC and partners continue to offer reward schemes for the use 
of alternatives to SUPs. 

 That DCC and partners reconsider handing out SUP ‘free gifts’ at 
future promotional events. 

 
12 In addition to the above response, Members agreed that the ESC OSC 

would receive a further report and presentation detailing progress made 
against the key actions identified in a revised action plan attached as 
appendix 3 incorporating those areas included in the Overview and 
Scrutiny response.  It was also agreed that the Overview and Scrutiny 
response will be included in the resulting Cabinet report and shared with 
Cabinet accordingly. 
 

Conclusion  

13 The ESC OSC recognises that SUPs are a major issue and that DCC 
and partners need to undertake measures which will significantly reduce 
SUPs usage across their operations.  The committee considers the 
partnership report and action plan key documents in ensuring that DCC 
and partners significantly reduce their use of unnecessary SUPs in the 
future.  

14 The committee acknowledges and commends both DCC and partners 
for the significant work undertaken in a short period of time in assessing 
and reducing the use of SUPs in County Durham and in implementing 
‘quick wins’ where possible. 

15 In addition, the committee: supports the introduction of a bespoke local 
pledge for County Durham to combat the use of unnecessary SUP’s; 
has identified additional areas for inclusion in the action plan including 
the development of a communications plan to alert residents when and 
why SUPs alternatives are being used; identified the need to  
reconsider the use of SUPs free gifts at DCC and partner promotional 
events and that DCC and partners continue to offer reward schemes for 
the use of alternatives to SUPs.  

16 The committee will continue to monitor the progress made in relation to 
the key actions identified in the SUPs action plan. 

Page 124



Background papers 

 ‘Phasing Out Unnecessary Single Use Plastics’ - Report of the 
County Durham Environment Partnership 

 SUPs action plan – County Durham Environment Partnership 

 

Contact: Tom Gorman Tel:  03000 268027 

 Diane Close Tel:  03000 268141 

  

Page 125



   

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Recyclable/compostable alternatives to single use plastic may have a higher 

marginal cost although these will not significantly affect budgets and can 

sometimes be passed on to the customer 

Consultation 

Not applicable 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable 

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

 

  

Page 126



Appendix 2 – Report of County Durham Environment Partnership 
(Task Group) – Phasing Out Unnecessary Single Use Plastics 
(SUPs) 

Appendix 3    SUPs action plan 

Appendix 4    LARAC response 

Appendix 5    Survey 

Appendix 6    Plastic pledges 

Appendix 7    Brighton and Hove pledge  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Appendix 2 

Page 129



 

  
Overview 
 
1. Plastic pollution is an international scourge on our environment, and the 

scenes of harm it does to our beaches, oceans and wildlife bring a sense of 
collective shame. The consequences, are much more than visual as plastics 
enter the foodchain and can eventually reach the whole ecosystem including 
us. 
 

2. This report however is not intended to be anti-plastic, as it is recognised that it 
is a highly versatile material, utilised in a wide variety of products from the 
computers on which this report was written, to the pens with which pledges 
are signed. What this report however focuses on is the unnecessary and 
single use plastics which might range from drinking straws, cotton buds, 
stirrers, wetwipes, excessive wrapping to water bottles and disposable cutlery.  
 

3. We live in a country and a county with excellent waste management systems 
which largely avoid contributing to the worst of the high level marine pollution 
we see on our television screens. That is no cause for complacency however. 
Small items, such as cotton buds, disposed of (incorrectly) down the toilet can 
still make it out to our seas. Notwithstanding, it still makes environmental (and 
financial) sense to seek avoid using these items in the first place, thereby 
avoiding the costs of the item being recycled, the wastefulness of it being sent 
for disposal, or worse still ending up as a discarded pollutant either as litter or 
fly tipping. Surveys from September 2018 found 82% of pollutants on Durham 
Heritage Coast are plastic materials. We all have to play our part in reducing 
this. 
 

4. The County Durham Environment Partnership have been asked to consider a 
County Council resolution on reducing Single Use Plastic, not just for the 
Councils own activities, but as far as possible involving for Partners too, and 
collectively using our influencing position to change behaviours.  
 

5. A Task Group comprising a range of Council services and Partners was 
established and through an early audit, found SUP use across a variety of 
Council Services from catering to events. What was most encouraging 
however was to find a “quiet revolution” occurring across not just Council 
services but also from Partners, which has ranged from the withdrawal of 
disposable cups, promotion of water refill schemes, to on street recycling. 
Even Snow White has now gone green in stopping use of plastic confetti at 
the Council pantomimes. 
 

6. The Council resolution calls for consideration of a pledge which is examined 
in the report, and subject to members views it is considered that there is 
appetite for this, not just from the County Council, but from a range of partners 
too, potentially through a joint declaration. The report goes on to describe the 
range of measures that would be implemented should a commitment to 
further reductions in single use plastics be made, including a “single use 
plastic free network” referenced in the resolution. Many of the measures 

Page 130



 

described are in advance of any national guidance or regulations that are 
anticipated in a forthcoming national Waste and Resources Strategy. 
 

7. The Government has recently announced consultation to seek views on 
banning the distribution and/or sale of plastic straws, plastic-stemmed cotton 
buds and plastic drink stirrers. Whilst there are some exceptions to this (e.g. 
medical drinking straws), it is felt that this should be welcomed. 

8. Finally and subject to the County Councils Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
inputting their own views, it is suggested that this report and its 
recommendations be submitted to the County Councils Cabinet for 
consideration.  

  

Page 131



 

Purpose 
 
9. For the Environment Partnership to provide a report which responds to a 

County Council Resolution of 24th January 2018 namely: 
 

Request that a report be brought to Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board on the options for bringing an end to the use of 
unnecessary Single Use Plastics (SUP) in County Durham, taking account of 
the following measures to: 

a) enable Durham County Council to become a full signatory of the ‘Plastic 
Free Pledge’, by phasing out the use of unnecessary SUPs in all County 
Council buildings, and working with commissioning partners to end the 
purchase and procurement of SUPs through the DCC supply chain; 

b) encourage the County’s businesses, organizations and residents to go 
‘plastic free,’ working with best practice partners across the County to explore 
the creation of a ‘plastic free network,’ that could provide business support, 
practical guidelines and advice to help local businesses transition from SUPs 
to sustainable alternatives; 

c) to incentivise traders on Council land to sell re-usable or non-plastic 
biodegradable containers and invite customers to bring their own, with the aim 
of phasing out SUPs; including investigating the possibility of requiring food 
and drink vendors to avoid SUPs as a condition of their event permission, 
strengthening DCC's existing guidance for exhibitors and traders 

 
 Definitions 
  
10. The definition of Single Use Plastic adopted in this report is from Institute of 

European, Environmental Policy 2018 which is: 

‘Any disposable plastic item which is designed to be used only once’  

11. The key emphasis here is that it is designed to be used only once. Examples 
of plastic materials readily meeting this criteria include drinking straws, 
vending cups, cotton buds. Many water and drink bottles would also fit into 
this category as they would be designed with immediate disposal after use in 
mind. Water bottles made of more rigid plastic, intended for re-use would not 
fit into this category. 

12. The definition of “unnecessary” referenced in the resolution to Single Use 
Plastics is much harder to define, and there is no national definition. The best 
fit can however be gained by using the term “avoidable” which is defined in 
the Department or Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) 25 year plan 
2018. 

“Avoidable means what is Technically, Environmentally and Economically 
Practicable”  

Page 132



 

This means therefore that in theory for some single use items there are no 
current viable alternatives. This may become more relevant as a Council we 
search for alternatives and find that either they are not available or too costly. 

 Context – International Position 

13. In 1950 the world produced only 2 million tonnes of plastics per year. Since 
 then, annual production has increased nearly 200-fold, reaching 381 million 
 tonnes in 2015 (source Our World in Data/Ocean Unite). This is expected to 
 grow further to 400 million tonnes by 2025. 

14. The United Nations Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine 
Pollution (GESAMP), estimated that land-based sources account for up to 80 
percent of the world's marine pollution, 60 to 95 percent of the waste being 
plastics debris. Television programmes such as Blue Planet II bring home to 
our living rooms the shocking realisation that parts of our seas and oceans 
are becoming “plastic soup”. More worryingly what is found on the surface is 
estimated to only 5% of the pollution with 95% submerged. 

15. With the largest population, in 2010 China produced the largest quantity of 
 plastic, at nearly 60 million tonnes. This was followed by the United States at 
 38 million, Germany at 14.5 million and Brazil at 12 million tonnes. High 
 income countries typically have well managed waste streams and therefore 
 low levels of plastic pollution to external environments. Low income countries 
 even though they produce less plastic, have higher levels of pollution. 

 

 

16. The United Nations Environment Assembly (UNEA) is the governing body of 
 the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and globally the 
 highest-level decision-making body on environmental  issues. In December 

Page 133



 

 2017 a Resolution on Marine Litter and Microplastics was made which seeks 
 to contribute to the process of reaching Sustainable Development Goal 14 
 (SDG 14) and its target 14.1 which aspires to “prevent and significantly 
 reduce marine pollution of all kinds, in particular from land-based activities 
 including marine debris and nutrient pollution” by 2025. The Resolutions of the 
 UNEA are not legally binding on Member States. However, the biennial 
 Environment Assemblies have an important role in guiding future policies and 
 setting priorities concerning global environmental issues.  

17. The United States Marine Conservancy has published statistics on the 
 estimated longevity of plastic materials, and they are as follows: 

 Foamed plastic cups: 50 years  

 Plastic beverage holder: 400 years 

 Disposable diapers: 450 year 

 Plastic bottle: 450 years 

 Fishing line: 600 years. 
 
Increasingly therefore some initiatives are looking at methods to collect the 
marine pollution from the bays and seas where it accumulates. 

18. Microbeads are tiny pieces of plastic (diameters usually less than 1mm) used 
 as exfoliants and cleansers in personal care products such as shower gels 
 and tooth pastes. They are recognised as being especially harmful to the 
 environment as they are deliberately designed to wash/rinse off and 
 accordingly go direct to watercourses without treatment - sewage plants are 
 not designed to extract them either. The small particle size renders these 
 plastics to be easily digested and enter the food chain.  

19. Whilst many countries have in recent years banned the production of these 
 products (e.g. United States, Canada, New Zealand, United Kingdom) 
 there remains no international ban, It is estimated that 209.6 trillion 
 microbeads (306,900 kilos) enter the water from China every year (source 
 Water Research, 2017).   

20. In the EU it is estimated that 150,000 to 500,000 tonnes of  plastic waste 
 (50% of which is SUPs) ends up in the oceans every year, equivalent to the 
 content of 66,000 refuse vehicles full ( Source: EU Strategy for Plastics in a 
 Circular Economy 2018). Furthermore, whilst an estimated 25.8 million tonnes 
 of plastic waste are generated in Europe every year, less than 30% of such 
 waste is collected for recycling. Of this amount, a significant share leaves the 
 EU6 to be treated in third countries, where different environmental standards 
 may apply. 

21. The EU Strategy for Plastics in Circular Economy calls for changes in the way 
 plastic products are designed, used, produced and recycled in order to reduce 
 the amount of waste and pollution. It also calls on national Government to 
 improve the economics and quality of plastic s recycling, as well as implement 
 measures to curb waste and littering. 

 

Page 134



 

 In January, China stopped accepting a range of plastic waste from Britain and 
several other countries. This is seen as an opportunity to develop local 
domestic end markets, although there is also recent evidence of exports being 
shifted to Malaysia, Vietnam and Poland, Turkey and the Netherlands.  Some 
of these countries have themselves started to introduce limits and controls, in 
order to manage. 

 22. On 24th October 2018 The European parliament has overwhelmingly backed a 
wide-ranging ban on single-use plastics in an effort to tackle pollution in seas, 
fields and waterways. Under the proposed directive, items such as plastic 
straws, cotton swabs, disposable plastic plates and cutlery would be banned 
by 2021, and 90% of plastic bottle recycled by 2025. Described by the 
European Commission as a clampdown on “the top 10 plastic products that 
most often end up in the ocean”, the proposed legislation passed 571 votes to 
53. The measure still has to clear some procedural hurdles, but is expected to 
go through.  The UK will also have to incorporate the rules into national law if 
the ban becomes a fully-fledged directive before the end of a Brexit transition 
period 

 Context - National Position 

23. DEFRA in their ‘A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the 
Environment” have a target of “achieving zero avoidable plastic waste by the 
end of 2042.” Furthermore they identify an ambition of “significantly reducing 
and where possible preventing all kinds of marine plastic pollution – in 
particular material that came originally from land.” 

24. They propose achieving these objectives at the Production,    
 Consumption and End of Use Stages. 

Production Stage Work with industry to rationalise packaging formats 

Reforming producer responsibility systems 

Banning problem materials in an approach similar to 
microbeads 

Encouraging biodegradable/eco friendly plastic 

Consumer Stage Removing all consumer single use plastics from the central 
government estate offices 

Extending uptake of the successful 5p plastic bag charge to 
small retailers 

Supporting water companies, high street retailers, coffee shops 
and transport hubs to offer new refill points for people to top-up 
water bottles for free 

Working with retailers and the Waste and Resources Action 
Programme (WRAP) to explore introducing plastic-free 
supermarket aisles 

Page 135



 

End of Use Stage Continuing to support the industry led on-pack recycling 
labelling system 

Implementing voluntary and regulatory interventions that can cut 
the amount of commonly littered items 

Through the Framework for Greater Consistency, WRAP is 
working with industry and local authorities to ensure that a 
consistent set of materials are collected  

Working with the waste management industry and re-
processors to significantly increase the proportion of plastic 
packaging that is collected and collected by all local authorities 

  

25. Some of this work is already underway. For example across Central 
 Estate Offices (i.e. all Central Government Departments, their Executive 
 Agencies and Non Departmental Public Bodies with some exceptions e.g. 
 Military Barracks) from 1st August 2018 a phased removal of single use 
 plastics has commenced to be complete by 1st January 2020.  

26. From a local authority perspective however, beyond seeking to contribute to 
 the strategy objectives, there is currently no clear direction on the future of 
 waste policy in England. More detail is anticipated in the Resources and 
 Waste Strategy which is expected to be published by the end of 2018. It 
 appears that in the short term, local decision makers will be required to 
 continue to concentrate on improving recycling performance and saving costs 
 in a manner most appropriate to their circumstances. It would not be 
 surprising if the forthcoming strategy highlighted in the 25 year plan has some 
 more detailed measures for Councils to follow, including eliminating avoidable 
 SUPs from their own practices, similar to that of the Central Government 
 estate.  

27. In order to inform the Resources and Waste Strategy, the Government 
 issued a call for evidence between 13th March – 18th May 2018. The 
 government ran a call for evidence to explore how changes to the tax 
 system or charges could be used to reduce the amount of single-use plastics 
 we waste. It looked broadly across the whole supply chain, from production 
 and retail to consumption and disposal, in order to gain the best possible 
 understanding of the whole landscape to determine the best course of action. 
 It also sought to explore how best to drive innovation in this area to  achieve 
 the same outcomes. The Council, as a member of Local Authority Recycling 
 Advisory Committee (LARAC) provided comments as part of this call for 
 evidence which are attached as Appendix 4. 

28. The government will consider all options for using the tax system to 
 address single-use plastic waste (including introducing a deposit return 
 scheme) in order to drive innovation, and will use the evidence gathered from 
 this call to inform that process. 

 On 22nd October 2018 the Government announced consultation to seek views 
on banning the distribution and/or sale of plastic straws, plastic-stemmed 

Page 136



 

cotton buds and plastic drink stirrers. This also includes PLA (Polylactic acid) 
straws as whilst they are in theory biodegradable, in landfill the conditions are 
not right for this. There are certain exceptions in the consultation such as the 
use of medical enabled drinking straws.   

 Local Context  

29. Across County Durham there is a robust system of waste and recycling 
 collection in place. Whilst some Councils are restricted on the type of 
 household plastics for recycling they collect, those within County Durham are 
 at the broader end of the spectrum and will accept for recycling most plastic 
 materials. Furthermore, materials not sent for recycling are sent for 
 incineration with energy recovery (rather than landfill) meaning that there is 
 little scope for contribution to marine pollution, with the exception of incorrect 
 disposal of plastics (e.g. contact lenses and cotton buds) down the toilet, 
 littering and fly tipping.  

30. Across the County in 2017 we collected 7,713 tonnes of plastics 
 comprised of 6, 827 tonnes kerbside and 886 tonnes household waste 
 recycling centres. Different plastic product types are sorted and sent for 
 recycling. Photograph shows baled plastic bottles at the Council’s contractor 
 (Biffa) to be sent for recycling. 

 

31. The Local Government Association has revealed (October 2018) that 20 per 
cent of councils have felt a direct impact from China’s restrictions on imports 
of mixed paper and certain types of plastic over the last year. In County 
Durham the plastics collected are then taken to a range of UK destinations for 
processing, and markets so to date we have been largely unaffected by this. 
As a matter of policy our contractor Biffa only seeks to export materials where 
there is no viable UK outlet. 

32. The Council has not undertaken waste compositional analysis of its 
 residual bins for some time, however in 2014/15 our surveys found  between 
 16% and 22% of a typical waste bin was target plastics (plastic bottles, pots, 
 tubs) that could have been recycled. Whilst some benefit is gained (energy 
 from waste) in incineration, overall it represents waste of resource and 
 untapped potential to recycle more. 

Page 137



 

33. The fact that there are no significant links to home grown plastic marine 
 pollution, does not give sufficient reason for the Council not to be involved. 
 Plastics are a finite material, and even if they can be recycled the process 
 takes up valuable energy, furthermore as an estimated 11% of household 
 waste is plastic, 40% of which is plastic bottles  (source University of 
 Cambridge), it makes economic and environmental sense to reduce it in the 
 first place, especially if single use can be avoided.  

 Approach 

34. The Council resolution on Single Use Plastics was presented to Durham 
 County Councils Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 14th February 2018 , 
 who determined that the County Durham Environment Partnership be asked 
 to prepare and submit the report requested in the resolution. 

35.  Working as one of the thematic groups of the County Durham 
 Partnership, the Environment Partnership is tasked with delivering 
 “Altogether Greener” objectives. It comprises a wide range of voluntary 
 and statutory environmental organisations including Durham Wildlife 
 Trust, Natural England, Environment Agency, Voluntary Sector Organisations, 
 English Heritage, Durham University as well as a range of Council services 
 from waste to planning.  

36.  In response to the request the Environment Partnership established a 
 Task Group, to consider all aspects of the County Council Resolution. It 
 comprises a wide range of stakeholders with an interest in single use 
 plastics. This includes: 

 Durham County Council – Head of Direct Services (Chair) 

 Durham County Council – Strategic Waste 

 Durham County Council -  Procurement 

 Durham County Council – Education 

 Durham County Council – Trading Standards 

 Durham County Council -  Events 

 Durham County Council -  Catering and Facilities Management 

 Durham Heritage Coast Partnership 

 Durham University – Procurement 

 Durham University – Catering and Facilities Management 

 Environment Agency 

 Durham Business Improvement District 

 Northumbrian Water 

 North East Nature Partnership 
 

37. Clearly the membership of the group does not reflect the full  community of 
 stakeholders linked to Single Use Plastics, but was comprised to be of 
 sufficient size to cover a range of key internal services for the Council, as well 
 as the valued input from a selection of external obligations. 

38. The Task Group has been meeting monthly since 26th April 2018. The Chair 
 of the Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Page 138



 

 Committee, Cllr Eddy Adam attended this first meeting and as well as 
 confirming the objectives, also set out a clear steer and support for  “early 
 wins” in advance of any pledge.  This is further supported by the County 
 Councils Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and Local Partnership who 
 endorsed the action concentrated approach. 

39. The Task Group have addressed the three areas of the Council Motion 
 separately as detailed in the rest of the report. Under each section we 
 describe what has been done, and what remains to be done, culminating in an 
 Action Plan (Appendix 3) for consideration. 

  

Page 139



 

 

 Durham County Council Motion Section A 
 

 Enable Durham County Council to become a full signatory of the 
 ‘Plastic Free Pledge’, by phasing out the use of unnecessary SUPs in 
 all County Council buildings, and working with commissioning partners 
 to end the purchase and procurement of SUPs through the DCC supply 
 chain; 

40. This aspect of the resolution is interpreted to be about the Council getting  its 
 own house in order, and considering making a public commitment to 
 change. The Task Group have approached this challenge in the following 
 stages. 

 

 A “field” audit of the current position to consider Council wide where we are 
using most single use plastics. This included catering services, events, 
facilities management, leisure centres, libraries and plant nursery. 

 Identification of and delivery of some “quick wins” in advance of the pledge 
with support from the Chair of Environment and Sustainable Communities 
Scrutiny and the Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and Partnerships.  

 A survey of suppliers to help identify their products to us and the availability 
of alternatives. 

 A consideration of the options, issues and implications of the Council 
becoming a signatory to the “Plastic Free Pledge”  

 
 Field Audit 

 
41. This was carried out between June and July 2018 across a wide range of 
 Council establishments including administrative buildings, leisure centres, 
 libraries, staff and public cafes, as well as the Councils plant  nursery. 

 
42. It should come as no surprise that single use plastics were found across 
 several locations. Examples include stirrers, plastic lids, and vending 
 machine cups. 

 

   

 
 
 
 
 

43. What is perhaps more surprising, is the breadth of use of these materials 
 across Council services that hitherto may not have been considered. For 

Page 140



 

 example plastic overshoes at leisure facilities, spoons in ice cream tubs 
 and even plastic confetti for pantomimes. 

 

   
 

 
44. This audit has been invaluable in allowing us to implement some early 
 wins, (see below many of the items in the pictures above have now been 
 removed) as well as form a view that it would be impracticable to eliminate 
 overnight. Even when as a Council we would consider this complete, it is 
 suggested that further field audit be undertaken to establish if this is the case 
 in practice. 

 
 Quick Wins – Now Achieved 
 

Outline of Initiative Estimate of Impact 
Catering 
 

 Moved to recyclable, compostable, biodegradable coffee 
cups, food takeaway packaging and hot food service 
containers as standard. 

 Ceased use of plastic straws (with the exception of cartons), 
and plastic stirrers 

 Introduced chargeable reusable plastic sip cups including a 
discount on your purchase when they are used in any site 

 Joined Northumbrian Water’s Refill campaign in DCC civic 
sites and several public facing cafes. 

 Use of glass bottles and reusable glasses when serving water 
for hospitality orders – no longer provide disposable cups. 

 

 
 
 
 
Over 300 sold to date. 

Highways 
 

 Piloted the use of recycled plastics into road surfacing 
materials 

 
Procurement 
 

 Surveyed key suppliers in relation to current and future SUP 
issues 

 
Culture and Sport 
 

 Removed SUP confetti used within the Gala Theatre and 
replaced with paper alternative 

 Ceased use of plastic straws. 
 
Strategic Waste Team 

 During recycle week (September 2018) the team promoted 
individual SUP pledges  

 
6.5Tonnes of recycled 
plastic used in the 
scheme. 
 
 
Responses from 19 key 
suppliers. Confirmed 
appetite and opportunity 
for change. 

 
 
 
700Kg of SUP confetti 
removed 
 
 
143 pledges from DCC 
staff and 117 from 
residents 

Page 141



 

 Supplier Survey and Questionnaire 

45. To complement the internal audit, the group also conducted an 
 investigation into our main suppliers to see how they were addressing 
 SUPs. 

 
46. As Durham County Council is a significant purchaser of goods and  products, 
 it was felt that sending a survey to the top suppliers could influence the supply 
 chain in the future and assist with working towards the substantial reductions 
 in avoidable SUPs. In turn, as many organisations use the same suppliers, 
 influence upon a regional scale could be established via NEPO. The task 
 group  developed a bespoke SUP survey and targeted communications 
 electronically during July 2018, via the use of Survey Monkey. 

47.  Appendix 5, provides a copy of the electronic survey and the results 
 which were obtained from 19 of the Council’s main suppliers. In addition, 
 face to face interviews were held by the Procurement Team directly with 
 their suppliers in order to a) understand the issues associated with 
 alternatives to SUPs and b) establish the changes (if any) suppliers were 
 making in relation to reducing SUPs.  

48. Although a relatively small number of respondents the survey does  indicate 
 that 40% (5 out of 9) feel they could remove SUPs from their products or 
 services, with (not surprisingly) the same number indicating alternatives would 
 be available. This can be viewed as glass half full vs glass half empty – some 
 suppliers readily see SUP alternatives, whilst for other products they may not. 

49. Many small scale local suppliers had recognised the fact that their 
 customers were asking for changes to SUPs to be made and had started  to 
 make small scale changes where possible e.g. the introduction of paper 
 straws rather than plastic ones by Embleton Diaries and the withdrawal of 
 offering plastic straws by many Durham based bars and restaurants. 

50. In the main, large scale, corporate organisations stated that they were 
 awaiting the future strategic direction of travel from Government. Many 
 reported that they hoped DEFRA’s Resources and Waste Strategy  would 
 influence the wider plastics industry and key stakeholders. 

 Government Consultation on Banning Plastic Straws, Cotton Buds and 
 Stirrers 

51.     From a local context this has now already been largely achieved. For example 
 at Gala, we have stopped plastic straws, and giving out straws as standard, 
 but we will give paper straws if people request them. For catering services we 
 no longer provide plastic stirrers (wooden alternatives), and have stopped 
 using plastic drinking straws. The only exception to this is the cartons of juice 
 and drink that come with their own straws. For these we are engaging with 
 suppliers to consider alternatives, or as a last resort may cease purchase 
 altogether. 

Page 142



 

52. It is suggested that the Government proposed ban be endorsed through 
 formal feedback from the Council and, if they wish, from key partners. 

 Consideration of “Plastic Free” and other Pledges 

53. The “Plastic Free Pledge” (PFP) which is the subject of the Council 
 Resolution is a misnomer in that it is not about fully “plastic free”, but rather 
 commits organisation signatories to: 

“Commit to reducing single-use plastic waste in your organisation” 

54. Each pledging organisation then describes the measures it intends to 
 take. There is currently only 1 pledge in County Durham which is Market 
 Place Ltd, Crook. They provide a commitment of only use paper straws have 
 stopped selling plastic bottles of water and soft drinks.  They no longer use 
 polystyrene containers for takeaway food and have reduced the amount of 
 plastic carrier bags we use by making customers aware. There are currently 
 no North East organisations established as “Ambassadors” to promote the 
 cause. 

55. The PFP originated as a local eco campaign, based in Hove, proactive with a 
 focus on removing straws from local businesses. It does have a strong plastic 
 straw focus, and the local Council at Brighton and Hove have therefore signed 
 up individual buildings and establishments, rather than the Council as a 
 whole, although they do support the focus. 

56. As part of their work, the Task Group also considered a range of other 
 pledges that were potentially available as alternatives. These are detailed in 
 Appendix 6 and include: 

 Greenpeace – pledge to stop plastic pollution 

 WRAP (Waste and Resources Action Programme) Plastic Pact 

 Plastic Free Coastlines (Surfers Against Sewage) 

 Marine conservation Society Plastic Free for July 

 Bespoke pledges for the Council or County partnership area 
 

57. The Greenpeace, and Plastic Free Coastline pledges were focussed on 
 marine pollution, and indeed the Marine Conservation Society a time limited 
 awareness raising campaign. All are very important issues, however the Task 
 Group felt that a broader pledge that covered the wider impacts and 
 wastefulness of single use plastics may be more appropriate.  

 
58. WRAP Plastic Pact was considered, however it is not currently open for local 
 authorities but rather targeted at businesses. Larger businesses are expected 
 to financially contribute with this being recognised and promoted. It was felt 
 that this may dissuade some from joining.  

 
59. Consideration was given to a bespoke pledge established solely for the 
 County Council and its partners. These can be as broad or narrow as the 
 Council wants and can include a range of local commitments. Several 
 Councils have adapted this approach from Monmouthshire to Plymouth. A 

Page 143



 

 sample from Brighton and Hove is attached in Appendix 7, which has 
 ambition to establish a “Single Use Plastics Free City”. Whilst these pledges 
 do ensure local distinctiveness, they are not part of national campaigns, and 
 Members may consider that they want to display unity of a common format of 
 pledge. 

 
60. Taking all the above into consideration, in the County Durham Context it is felt 
 that either the Plastic Free Pledge or a Local Pledge is the most appropriate. 
 Clearly this will be Members discretion, however the signature for a County 
 Durham Pledge would have the advantage that it is clearly labelled as 
 combatting unnecessary single use plastics, rather than the confusing term 
 “plastic free”. 

 
61. Such a pledge, could be designed not only with the Council in mind, but 
 partners too. It may look like: 

 
 

 
  

 
 

Page 144



 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  
 

 Further Actions 
 

62. Clearly, a pledge is meaningless unless it is followed up with actions. A full 
 action plan is attached in Appendix 3 for Durham County Council.  These 
 can be summarised as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 

 

County Durham Single Use Plastics Pledge (Draft) 
 
We the undersigned, pledge to significantly reduce and work towards ultimately 
removing the use of unnecessary single use plastics from our operations, and will 
encourage and enable partners, schools, businesses and the residents of County 
Durham to do their part. 
 

Plastic pollution is an international scourge on our environment, and the 
scenes of harm it does to our beaches, oceans and wildlife bring a sense of 
collective shame. The consequences, are much more than visual as plastics 
enter the food chain and can eventually reach the whole ecosystem 
including us. 
 
The UK government estimates that there are currently more than 150m 
tonnes of plastic in the world’s oceans, and that some 100,000 sea 
mammals and one million birds die from eating or becoming tangled in 
plastic waste each year. 
 
We will work towards significantly reducing use of unnecessary single-use 
plastics across our own operations and services and work with partners to 
maximise the effectiveness of this approach throughout County Durham.  
We will also work to maximise the reuse and recycling of other plastics to 
conserve resources minimise pollution.   
 
To support this aim, signatory partner organisations commit to: 
 

 Work in our respective organisations to ensure that unnecessary 
single use plastics are eliminated across our offices and service 
buildings, and from activities (where provided) such as catering and 
events. 

 Where opportunity arises, promote and support the activities of 
schools, communities and residents in their efforts to reduce single 
use plastics. 

 Support the establishment of a Single Use Plastics network within 
the County, to disseminate good practice and ensure the good work 
and pledge commitments are maintained. 

 

Page 145



 

Key Future Actions for Durham County Council 
 
Waste 

 Engage with Inspire Programme ”Change Advocates” staff network 
to raise awareness and alternatives to SUPs. 

 Review recycling provision and utilisation across all Council buildings 
 
Procurement 

 Consideration to a centralised block on all procurement of Single Use 
Plastics without senior manager consent. 

 Include in future DCC contract Specifications the consideration to 
use SUP where possible 

 
Catering 

 Expand the approach to reduce Single Use Plastics from Direct 
Services provisions to other Council catering services 

 Design and implement new takeaway provision that eliminates SUPs 
 

Highways 

 Submit scheme to Department for Transport for roll out of successful 
road construction scheme incorporating palletised plastics. 

 
Children and Young Peoples Services 

 Engage with DCC schools catering provider to look at opportunities 
for further reduction in SUPs. 
 

Culture and Sport 

 Removal of blue overshoes from leisure centres. 

 Consider options around phasing out foil balloons and strings from 
supply chain and licencing. 
 

 

 
 
 
 

  

Page 146



 

 
63. Durham County Council Motion Section 2 

 

b) encourage the County’s businesses, organisations and residents to go ‘plastic 
free,’ working with best practice partners across the County  to explore the 
creation of a ‘plastic free network,’ that could provide  business support, practical 
guidelines and advice to help local businesses transition from SUPs to sustainable 
alternatives 

 
64.  Given the widespread concern regarding Single Use Plastics, it was not 
 surprising that many of the Partners around the table of the Task Group 
 were already undertaking some excellent work. It is important to highlight this 
 positive direction of travel. Examples illustrated in this section of the 
 report include: 

 

 Schools 

 Environment Agency 

 Durham BiD 

 Northumbrian Water 

 Durham University 

 Nature Partnership 

 Heritage Coast 
 

65. There are undoubtedly a wide range of businesses and organisations 
 across County Durham who have also made an impact in reducing  Single 
 Use Plastics. Within the timescale available to the group, it has not been 
 possible at this stage to undertake a full audit of activity, however that is 
 something that can be established going forward. 

 
 Schools 

 
66. St Bede’s RCVA Primary School, in Sacriston was the first school in the 
 North East to achieve ‘Plastic Free Schools’ status from the Surfers 
 Against Sewerage charity.The Eco Warriors led the whole school in the 
 project with the aim of reducing our use of single use plastic and raising 
 awareness of the dangers of plastic to our environment in our 
 community.  

 
67. The group completed a series of ‘missions’ to achieve the status including: 

 

 ‘trash mobs’ in which children picked up litter around school and the local 
community;  

 making changes to the kitchen e.g. getting a yoghurt maker to avoid 
plastic pots and using tin foil instead of cling film; 

 having a ‘plastic bottle boycott’ and pledging to use reusable water bottles. 
 

68.  The project had a hugely positive impact, resulting in the Secretary of 
 State for the environment writing to them, a visit from our local MP, and 
 Tyne Tees news visiting school! The children were incredibly engaged 

Page 147



 

 and motivated, feeling great passion about the subject.  Other schools 
 have since been in touch for more information about the project.  

 

 
 
 Environment Agency 
 
69. The Environment Agency have been actively working to reduce the use of 
 SUPs in their workplaces.  The Facilities Management teams have replaced 
 single use cups, straws, condiment sachets, plates and cutlery in their 
 buildings. The next stage will be to eliminate single use plastic bottles on sale 
 including in canteens. Facilities Management will also be working to 
 understand how they can remove thousands of plastic milk cartons from 
 offices at a reasonable cost. 

70. They have produced a handy guide to plastic reduction at work to provide 
Environment Agency staff with some ideas of what they can do. Over the last 
few months more than 25 EA offices and depots have already made the 
switch to glass bottles from their local suppliers. So far, the changes have 
saved around 1,500 plastic bottles. 

Durham BID 
 

71. Durham BID has led on engaging with businesses in Durham on single 
 use plastics.  It has used its existing database of over 500 businesses to 
 explore existing practices and identify the appetite to make commitments to 
 reducing SUPs.  It has also promoted campaigns such as refill and 
 encouraged businesses to reduced plastic, e.g. straws in bars/restaurants. 

 
72. It has also acted to improve waste awareness amongst Durham 
 businesses, arranging presentations and meetings looking into improving 
 recycling in the city centre. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 148



 

Northumbrian Water / Refill 
 

73. Refill is City to Sea’s campaign to promote and encourage free tap-water 

 ‘Refill Stations’ in cafes, bars and shops on every high street and transport 

 hub across the UK. 

74. Northumbrian Water are delivering the campaign locally and launched Refill 

 in December 2018, in Durham –  signing up over 30 Refill Stations in Durham 

 City through volunteers on the first weekend. 

75. Durham University and Durham County Council came on board in 

 Spring/Summer 2018, signing up key buildings and running joint 

 campaigns to encourage take up and participation. The County Councils 

 Waste Team have assisted on this and during Recycle Week contacted 48 

 establishments countywide to encourage take up of the scheme.  

 

Durham University 
 

76. Durham University students in residences are offered meals as part of 
 their accommodation fees and in some cases packed lunches are provided 
 where students need to eat offsite. 

   
77. Reusable hot drinks containers, drinking bottles and food containers are being 

be trialled at  Van Mildert College for the autumn term. These reusable 
containers are dishwasher safe, freezable and can be microwaved. 

   
78. Whilst the trial is on going,  there is good participation, with students returning 

their containers after use for washing and there is a reduction in waste 
plastics and less SUPs purchased as a result. Whilst cost savings are not the 
prime motivator, it is estimated that this will be £235 by the end of the financial 
year.  

 
 

Page 149



 

Nature Partnership 
 

79. The Nature Partnership is delivering GENEE (Greening the Economy of 
 North East England) package of environmental policy and process support 
 from Capability North East.  GENEE is a one year audit and  review 
 programme that will assist in achieving a corporate understanding and 
 delivery mechanisms to meet sustainable and environmental ambitions, 
 including addressing the use of SUPs. It will be rolling out the package from 
 the autumn and the County Council will be one of the early adopters. 

 
Heritage Coast 
 

80. The Heritage Coast Partnership is a key organisation leading on actions to 
 remove plastic litter from the beaches of Durham.  It provides support for 
 beach cleans and liaises with DCC for collection services afterwards. 

 
81. Working with European partners it is investigating the problem of where the 
 plastics originate from and how best to deal with them.  

 

 
 
 Police 
 
82. Whilst not part of the Task Group is is also evident that organisations such as 

the Police are also playing their part in contributing to reductions in Single Use 
Plastics. This includes stopping using plastic bottled water when they have 
buffets for external guests.  This has saved approximately 3,500 plastics bottles 
per annum. They are stopping using disposable cups for drinks within our 
trainng facility.  This is estimated  to save £2,000 per annum. 

 
 Future Actions 
 
83. It is clear that there is a significant appetite for reductions in Single Use 
 Plastics across the County and that a wide range of organisations are 
 doing some excellent work. Clearly there remains work to be done, these are 
 captured in the Action Plan (Appendix 3) and summarised as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 150



 

Key Future Actions in Encouraging Wider Involvement 
 

 The existing Task Group to be developed and expanded to 
become a “SUPs network” as advocated in the Council 
resolution. 

 Consideration to a “collective pledge” of a wide range of 
organisations and partners with County Durham. 

 Undertake an audit of all external activity regarding reduction 
in Single Use Plastics across the County 
 

New Partners 

 Active engagement and support to major employers providing 
advice and support, encouraging involvement in SUP network. 

 
Children and Young Peoples Services 

 Develop and promote circular economy learning resources 
with schools across the county 

 
Northumbrian Water 

 Working with partners significantly increase participants in the 
Refill Scheme across County Durham County Council 

 
Business Improvement District 

 Continue the development of a City “plastic Free network” 
providing advice and assistants  

 
North East Nature Partnership 

 Encourage organisations and partners to join the North East 
Nature Partnership’s Environmental Accreditation Scheme. 

 

 
 

  

Page 151



 

 
 Durham County Council Motion Section 3 
 

  c) to incentivise traders on Council land to sell re-usable or non-plastic 
 biodegradable containers and invite customers to bring their own, with 
 the aim of phasing out SUPs; including investigating the possibility of 
 requiring food and drink vendors to avoid SUPs as a condition of their 
 event permission, strengthening DCC's existing guidance for exhibitors 
 and traders 

 
84. This section of the Council resolution, calls on the County Council to use its 
 influence in authorising activity on its own land, or through licencing to 
 encourage or require vendors to reduce single use plastics. 

 
85.  The Task Group benefited from representatives from Environmental 
 Health and Licencing participating, and whilst it is clear that there is potential 
 for more to be done, it will not be of surprise that changes to policy and 
 regulatory guidance in this area are not matters that can be changed 
 overnight. 

 
86.  Given the above, it was recognised that for many outdoor public events 
 there are high use of single use plastics for safety reasons (such as  
 disposable plastic drink receptacles at Miners Gala). Whilst these might be 
 regarded as unavoidable, there is however still an interest in  collection for 
 recycling, which is not currently the case. Furthermore people bring with 
 them large quantities of plastic bottles drink bottles to  sporting events, and 
 whilst there is an opportunity to educate towards reusable bottles, opportunity 
 should also be taken to recycle where possible.   

 
87.  This section of the report therefore advices of some early wins achieved in the 
 furtherance of this resolution, as well as a description of key  measures to 
 come. 

 
88. Durham City Run 

   
  

 
 

  

In June 2018, the annual Durham City run held in 
the City Centre, attracted over 3,000 participants.  
During this event, a larger number of plastic 
bottles were used.  The Council’s Clean and 
Green Team arranged for 7 dumpy bags of plastic 
bottles to be immediately collected and sent for 
recycling via the Council’s recycling contractor.  
This event and the collection of the plastic bottles 
afterwards, was covered on social media and 
generated local interest.  It is planned that future 
DCC events can be managed this way. 
 

Page 152



 

On Street Recycling facilities 
 

89. New public recycling facilities have been introduced in the market place at 
 Durham, with the potential for wider expansion especially to areas where 
 plastic items are likely to be disposed of. It does remain a challenge however, 
 as the recycling only works with low levels of contaminants. If the plastic 
 aperture has  significant amounts of polystyrene, food boxes or other wastes 
 then the load becomes unviable to sort. Apertures are clearly labelled. If the 
 pilot is successful then it will be rolled out to other areas. 

 

 
Proposed Future Actions 
 
Licencing 
 

 Review DCC’s Licensing Act (which controls licensed premises 
including pubs, clubs, and takeaways with licences, restaurants, 
hotels etc. that supply alcohol, late night refreshments and 
regulated entertainments) to include the requirements where 
possible, for licensed premises to seek alternatives to SUP usage 
where practically possible (Note many licenses currently specify 
the use of SUPs due to health and safety requirements). 

 Review the DCC Street Trading policy with a view to incorporating 
the requirement to recommend the uptake and use of SUP by 
street traders.  

 Review DCCs market operators license in order to influence that 
alternatives to SUPs are considered 

 
Events 
 

 Promote the SUP message to producers and traders at both 
Bishop Auckland Food Festival and Seaham Food Festival, giving 
priority to those traders who demonstrate a commitment to the 
reduction of SUPs. 

 Explore with organisers SUP collection at the Miners Gals 

 Commitment to reduction of SUPs at Gala Theatre (c300,000 
visitors per year). In addition to changes already made, this will 
include: replacement of plastic bar glasses with plastic-free 
alternative, elimination of the sale of water in plastic bottles, 
replacement of ice-cream and popcorn tubs with compostable 
alternatives.  

 Roll out of successes at Gala to other Culture & Sport run 
facilities. 

 Reaffirm the Council’s commitment to prevent the use of balloon 
and lantern releases on its land and events. 

 

 
  

Page 153



 

  
      Recommendations   
 
1. To note the considerable work undertaken in the last 6 months towards 

reducing use of Single Use Plastics by the County Council and its 
Partners. 
 

2. To welcome the Government consultation in banning plastic drinking 
straws, stirrers and cotton buds, which has already largely been achieved 
with some exceptions (e.g. straws attached to drink cartons), which are 
now being given attention.  
 

3. To approve progression of a bespoke County Durham pledge to the 
County Councils Cabinet to further reduce Single Use Plastics across 
Council Services. 

 
4. To extend an invitation to wider Council partners to also sign up to the 

same pledge, magnifying its impact. 
 
5. To note and approve the establishment of a “Single Use Plastics Network” 

to build on the success to date, and oversee implementation of plans that 
make further substantial reductions in single use plastics. 

 
 

Page 154



Single Use Plastic Action Plan 
 

Objective Action 

ref. 

Action Responsibility By when? Update 

Corporate / Procurement Services 

Remove single 

use plastics from 

council premises.  

P1 Consider a range of ‘Plastic Pledges’ which 

is fit for purpose for DCC and its partners to 

adopt.  

DCC November 2018 Complete 

P2 Introduce a bespoke local pledge for 

County Durham to combat the use of 

unnecessary SUPs, designed not only with 

the Council in mind but also partners. 

DCC February 2019  

P2 Undertake an internal audit across DCC 

buildings and services to establish the level 

of SUP usage. 

Procurement / Waste 

Management 

July 2018 Complete. 

P3 Update the core list of supplies on the 

council’s system to remove single use 

plastics where possible. 

Procurement  October 2018  

P4 Produce and undertake a SUP survey with 

key suppliers in order to understand and 

influence the reduction of SUPs. 

Procurement July 2018 Complete. 

P5 DCC and Partners to reconsider issuing 

SUP ‘free gifts’ at promotional events. 

Procurement / 

Partners / Service 

Areas 

October 2018-

October 2019 

 

Encourage 

contracted 

providers to use 

P5 Include in future DCC contract 

specifications the consideration to use SUP 

alternatives where possible. 

Procurement  April 2019  

Appendix 3 

P
age 155



Objective Action 

ref. 

Action Responsibility By when? Update 

alternatives to 

single use 

plastics.  

P6 Engage with contractors via the North East 

Procurement Organisation in order to 

source alternatives to SUPs. 

Procurement  August 2018- 

August 2019 

Initial meeting in relation to 

SUPs held August 2018.  

 

Objective Action 

ref. 

Action Responsibility By when? Update 

DCC Catering Services 

Remove the use 

of unnecessary 

single use 

plastics in 

catering services 

and source 

alternatives to 

SUPs. 

C1 Continue to promote the DCC reusable cup 

to staff. 

Catering Services / 

Communications  

October 

2018-

October 

2019 

 

C2 Source alternatives for SUPs across DCC’s 

catering services. 

Catering Services October 

2018 

Complete. 

C2 Identify SUP use in Culture and Sport 

catering venues and develop a reduction 

strategy for implementation. 

Catering Services / Culture & 

Sport  

December 

2018 

 

C3 Develop communication messages to the 

customer in relation on achievements so far 

with regards to the reduction of SUP’s 

within DCC catering sites. 

Catering Services / DCC 

Communications 

October 

2018 – 

October 

2019 

 

C4 Design and plan new takeaway concepts 

for the new civic menu roll out that 

incorporate the elimination of SUP’s. 

 

Catering Services / DCC 

Communications  

October 

2018-

October 

2019 

 

 

P
age 156



Objective Action 

ref. 

Action Responsibility By when? Update 

Consumer Protection Services 

Influence traders 

and street 

operators to seek 

alternatives to 

single use 

plastics.  

CP1 Review the DCC Licensing Act Policy in 

order to incorporate the reduction of or 

alternatives to SUPs where possible, 

subject to conditions. 

Consumer Protection  March 

2019 

 

CP2 Review the DCC Street Trading Policy in 

order for alternatives to SUPs be provided 

where possible, subject to conditions. 

Consumer Protection  March 

2019 

 

CP3 Review the DCC Market Operator 

Agreements in order to influence the use of 

SUPs. 

Consumer Protection  March 

2019 

 

DCC Children & Young Peoples Services (Education) 

Promote 

alternatives to 

single use 

plastics to County 

Durham schools. 

E1 Engage with DCC schools catering provider 

to look at opportunities to reduce SUP’s in 

school catering. 

CYPS October 

2018- July 

2019 

 

E2 Develop and promote circular economy 

learning resources with schools across the 

County. 

CYPS / Waste Management January 

2018- July 

2019 

 

E2 Link the UN Sustainable Development 

Goals and the issue of SUP’s in new 

learning opportunities for schools. 

 

 

 

CYPS January 

2018- July 

2019 

 

P
age 157



Objective Action 

ref. 

Action Responsibility By when? Update 

DCC Highways  

Source 

alternative uses 

for plastics where 

possible.  

H1 Continue with trials of using pelletised 

plastic within road construction and 

feedback on the future viability of 

expanding the scheme across County 

Durham. 

Highways October 

2019 

 

Waste Management  

Promote 

awareness of 

sustainable waste 

management 

practices and 

encourage 

behavioural 

change in relation 

to the use of 

SUPs. 

 

W1 Continue to provide key communication to 

the public in relation to how SUPs can be 

prevented and recycled in conjunction with 

wider waste awareness messages. 

Strategic Waste Management 

/ DCC Communications  

October 

2018-

October 

2019 

 

W2 Continue to provide key educational talks to 

schools and community groups in relation 

to sustainable waste management practices 

in relation to SUPs. 

Strategic Waste Management  October 

2018-

October 

2019 

 

W3 Consider the provision of expanding further 

street recycling provision across County 

Durham following feedback from the 

reintroduction of the Durham City trials. 

Strategic Waste Management October 

2018-

October 

2019 

 

W4 Continue to work with external partners to 

promote SUP reduction campaigns to the 

public e.g. promotion of Northumbrian 

Water’s Refill Campaign. 

Strategic Waste Management  October 

2018-

October 

2019 

 

W5 Engage with Change Advocates to raise 

awareness of SUPs and their alternatives. 

 

Transformation & 

Partnerships / Strategic 

Waste Management / 

Facilities 

October 

2018-

October 

2019 

 

P
age 158



Objective Action 

ref. 

Action Responsibility By when? Update 

W6 Review all DCC owned buildings to ensure 

the internal recycling schemes are being 

used in the correct manner. 

Transformation & 

Partnerships/ Strategic 

Waste Management / 

Facilities Management / 

Communications  

October 

2018- 

October 

2019 

 

 

Objective Action 

ref. 

Action Responsibility By when? Update 

Culture & Sport  

Promote and 

implement 

methods to 

reduce the 

amount of SUPs 

used.  

CS1 Remove SUP confetti at the Gala Theatre 

and replace with sustainable alternative.  

Culture & Sport  June 2018 Complete 

CS2 Phase out the supply of SUP blue 

overshoes at DCC owned leisure centres.  

Culture & Sport  June 

2018-June 

2019 

 

CS3 Promote the SUP message to producers 

and traders at both Bishop Auckland Food 

Festival and Seaham Food Festival, giving 

priority to those traders who demonstrate a 

commitment to the reduction of SUPs. 

Culture & Sport  June 2019  

CS4 Commitment to reduction of SUPs at Gala 

Theatre (c300,000 visitors per year). In 

addition to changes already made, this will 

include: replacement of plastic bar glasses 

with plastic-free alternative, elimination of 

the sale of water in plastic bottles, 

replacement of ice-cream and popcorn tubs 

with compostable alternatives. 

Culture & Sport  

 

 

 

 

October 

2018-

October 

2019 

 

 

P
age 159



Objective Action 

ref. 

Action Responsibility By when? Update 

CS5 

 

 

Roll out of successes at Gala to other 

Culture & Sport run facilities. 

Culture & Sport  

 

October 

2018-

October 

2019 

 

 

Objective Action 

ref. 

Action Responsibility By when? Update 

External Partner Engagement 

Work with 

external partners 

in order to reduce 

and provide 

alternatives for 

SUPs. 

EP1 Continue the development of a ‘plastic free 

network’ with Durham BiD in relation to 

providing key messages around sourcing 

alternatives to SUPs. 

Durham BiD / DCC 

Task Group 

October 2018 -

October 2019 

 

EP2 Continue to promote Northumbrian Water’s 

Refill Campaign across County Durham. 

Northumbrian Water / 

DCC Task Group 

October 2018 -

October 2019 

 

EP3 Encourage organisations and partners to 

join the North East Nature Partnership’s 

Environmental Accreditation Scheme. 

NEEP/ DCC Task 

Group/ Partners. 

October 2018 -

October 2019 

 

EP4 Replicate best practice examples of 

reusable / washable food containers.  

Durham University 

Catering / DCC Task 

Group 

October 2018 -

October 2019 

 

EP5 Adopt the Environment Agency’s staff 

communications scheme and promote 

plastic free days to staff.  

Environment Agency / 

DCC Task Group 

October 2018 -

October 2019 

 

EP7 Promote beach clean ups with staff and 

external partner organisations. 

Heritage Coast / DCC/ 

Partners 

October 2018-

October 2019  

 

P
age 160



 

Objective Action 

ref. 

Action Responsibility By when? Update 

Communications  

Develop a 

communications 

plan in order to 

raise awareness 

of the SUP issue 

with the public 

and interested 

parties. 

C1 Promote the work of the SUP task group via 

regular updates and features within Durham 

County News and other platforms. 

DCC Communications 

Team 

October 2018 -

October 2019 

 

C2 Ensure that residents are informed of both 

why and when alternatives to SUPs are 

being used. 

DCC Communications 

Team & SUP Task 

Group 

October 2018 –

October 2019 

 

C3 Ensure that clear information of the different 

types of plastic, identifying what can and 

cannot be recycled is provided to residents. 

DCC Communications 

Team & SUP Task 

Group 

October 2018 - 

October 2019 

 

C4 Provide residents with an opportunity to 

identify how SUPs usage can be reduced. 

DCC Communications 

Team & SUP Task 

Group 

October 2018 - 

October 2019 

 

C5 DCC and partners to offer reward schemes 

for the use of alternatives to SUPs. 

DCC Communications 

Team & SUP Task 

Group 

October 2018 – 

October 2019 

 

C6 Develop a plastic information network 

across County Durham via a web based 

hub. 

DCC Communications 

Team & SUP Task 

Group 

January 2019 - 

April 2019 

 

 

P
age 161



 
 

LARAC  PO Box 28  Knighton  LD8 2WA 
01982 382 650   admin@larac.org.uk   www.larac.org.uk 

Twitter: @LARACspeaks 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
         
 
 
 

Dear Sir/Madam 
 

Tackling the plastic problem 
Using the tax system or charges to address single-sue plastic waste 

 
Thank you for the opportunity to respond to this call for evidence.  The LARAC response is 
contained below. 
 
The responses below are sent on behalf of the Local Authority Recycling Advisory 
Committee (LARAC).  LARAC is an association of around 75% of local authorities across 
England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.   Members are waste management and 
recycling professionals who co-ordinate and operate waste management services. 
Membership is drawn from all types of authority including statutory Waste Collection 
(WCA), Waste Disposal (WDA) and Unitary Authorities. 
 
Our response has been peer reviewed by members of LARAC’s policy team and executive 
committee.  LARAC members have also been invited to comment on the consultation 
through the members’ discussion forum on our website.  All contributions received have 
been taken into account in drafting the response below.  LARAC’s Policy Team focused its 
resource to consider the areas where local authorities can have the most influence.  
Questions 5-12 which relate to production and retail have not been responded to. 
 
1. How should the government define single-use plastics, and what items should be included 

and excluded, and why? 

Plastic products which are intended for single use and then discarded should be considered 

as single-use plastics.  This includes on the go plastic products where the item is purchased 

with the food or drink product ready for consumption such as beverage containers and lids, 

stirrers and takeaway boxes. Once to item is consumed the packaging becomes waste as it is 

not suitable for reuse.  

 

The definition should also be wide enough to include items which have the potential for 

reuse, but are generally only used once.  For example bottles with a screw cap could be used 

more than once, although generally are not. 

  

 

Single-use plastics call for evidence 
Energy and Transport Tax team 
HM Treasury 
1 Horse Guards Road 
London 
SW1A 2HQ 

15 May 2018 

Page 162

mailto:admin@larac.org.uk
http://www.larac.org.uk/
Beverley.Clark
Text Box
Appendix 4



 
 

LARAC  PO Box 28  Knighton  LD8 2WA 
01982 382 650   admin@larac.org.uk   www.larac.org.uk 

Twitter: @LARACspeaks 

 

2. What are the most important problems associated with single-use plastics, and why?  

Many single use plastics are not readily recyclable and are therefore not suitable for 

collection through the kerbside recycling service (such as polystyrene boxes, coffee cups and 

stirrers).  

 

The range of single use plastics that can and cannot be recycled through the kerbside system 

is potentially confusing to some residents.  This could be contributing to increased 

contamination levels of the recycling stream. Similarly some single use plastic items which 

can be recycled are being placed in the residual waste stream and therefore recycling levels 

are lower than they could be. 

 

Food and drink items consumed on the go are often contaminated with excess residual food 

and drink and therefore not suitable for recycling unless rinsed even if the packaging is 

recyclable. The opportunity and willingness to do this by the majority of the population 

whilst on the go is limited. 

  

On the go plastic film, beverage containers and take away boxes make up a sizeable 

proportion of litter and are therefore problematic to local authorities. LARAC is aware that 

Eunomia have estimated that 17% of litter (by weight) is drinks containers.  Littering 

decreases the amenity value of an area and in areas where heavy littering occurs there may 

also be a greater frequency of fly tipping and graffiti.  Street cleaning and litter clearing 

activities cost local authorities around £800 million a year. 

 

• Which polymer types are particularly problematic? 
Plastic film (LDPE), mixed polymers and polystyrene are problematic waste streams for local 
authorities as they are not readily accepted by MRF’s for recycling and lead to 
contamination of the recycling streams.  There are also limited viable reprocessing 
opportunities if the material has not been source segregated especially where the container 
is a multi-material composite product e.g. paper cup with flexible plastic lining and rigid 
plastic lid. 
 

• Which items are particularly problematic? 
Composite products, polystyrene (packaging, beverage and food containers and disposable 
cutlery) and black plastics (pots, tubs and trays) regularly contaminate the kerbside recycling 
stream. 
 

  

Page 163

mailto:admin@larac.org.uk
http://www.larac.org.uk/


 
 

LARAC  PO Box 28  Knighton  LD8 2WA 
01982 382 650   admin@larac.org.uk   www.larac.org.uk 

Twitter: @LARACspeaks 

 

3. Are there more environmentally friendly alternatives, currently available or possible in the 

future, to these types of single-use plastic items or their manufacturing processes, and can 

they still offer similar benefits? 

 • Should the government encourage biodegradability in plastics, and if so, how? 

 

Environmentally friendly alternatives should be designed to be clearly distinguishable from a 

similar plastic product to prevent contamination of waste streams and clear labelling of the 

item is essential.  

 

If biodegradable plastic enters the plastics recycling stream it can contaminate the recycling 

process and reduce the quality of the recycled plastic.  Similarly degradable plastics are not 

always suitable for the composting process and could put the companies PAS accreditation 

at risk. Some composters also do not have the sophisticated sorting equipment in place to 

distinguish plastics from biodegradable plastics and therefore all types of plastic will be 

extracted and sent for disposal.   

 

If biodegradable plastics are to be used in parallel with oil based plastics it must be 

considered how these materials will be collected and sorted and must be compatible with 

current local authority collection infrastructure.  Any change introduced should be 

supported by a full evaluation on the collection and processing infrastructure to ensure 

there is no negative impact on the investment requirement for local authority public realm, 

kerbside or household recycling centre waste services. 

 

If plastic alternatives are introduced, this would also make it potentially more complicated 

for the public as different disposal routes would be required and would need to be clearly 

communicated.  Local authorities would require additional funds to deliver this effectively. 

 

 

4. Are there single-use plastic items that are deemed essential by their nature or application, 

which cannot be substituted or avoided? 

The 25 year Environment plan outlines the ambition of the UK to be a world leader in 

resource efficiency and eliminating avoidable plastic waste by 2042. Priority should be given 

towards substantially reducing the need for single use plastics, with continued use only 

where clearly justified. In accordance with Circular Economy principles manufacturers 

should be committed to investigating suitable alternatives for single use plastic items, even 

for those which are currently considered essential.  

 

Questions 5-11 relate to production and retail and have therefore no comment has been 
provided 

  

Page 164

mailto:admin@larac.org.uk
http://www.larac.org.uk/


 
 

LARAC  PO Box 28  Knighton  LD8 2WA 
01982 382 650   admin@larac.org.uk   www.larac.org.uk 

Twitter: @LARACspeaks 

 

12. What factors influence consumers’ choices related to single-use plastic items?  

• How can the government encourage the re-use of these items?  

Consumers should be encouraged, where feasible to avoid buying the plastic item in the first 

place through using re-use containers specifically designed for the purpose.  LARAC believes 

that the UK should investigate the potential for direct charging for kerbside collections.  This 

is likely to bring a step change in resident behaviour as there is a financial incentive to 

reduce the amount of waste generated. Case studies from other countries that have 

implemented direct charging suggest it does bring about a change in consumer behaviour 

and the use of recycling systems increases.  Overall waste levels have also been shown to 

decrease which could indicate higher reuse levels. 

 

Packaging design can substantially influence consumer choice. Plain packaging has been 

introduced to discourage the purchase of cigarettes. A similar approach could be used for 

single use plastics where appropriate, with the reusable replacement more appealing. 

 

Taxes and levies could be applied, although for these to be successful sustainable 

alternatives must be readily available at a competitive price.  LARAC would not recommend 

this as a high priority measure to be introduced unless alternatives are readily available. 

 

13. What are the barriers to consumers choosing alternatives to single-use plastic items, and 

how responsive would consumers be to price changes?  

Alternatives must be convenient and competitively priced for consumers to change 

behaviours away from purchasing single use plastics.  For example, the nature of on the go 

items are they can often be impulse purchases and therefore many consumers will not be 

prepared with a reusable container. In these situations a more sustainable disposable item 

may need to be offered, at least in the short term to allow businesses to continue to operate 

while consumers become accustomed to the behaviour changes required of supplying a 

reusable container. 

 

For regular purchases where the purchase has been pre-planned before leaving the home 

small price changes may be a sufficient incentive for the consumer to supply a reusable 

container. 

 

14. In what way, and to what extent, do the decisions of producers and retailers influence 

consumer choice?  

No comment 

 

15. In your opinion, how can the tax system or charges play a role in delivering better 

environmental outcomes at this stage?  

• What interventions should be implemented, and why?  

Taxes can be imposed on virgin products which have a high environmental impact or are 

used in less sustainable products. This could include materials used in the manufacture of 

single use plastics such as polystyrene. Similarly tax breaks could be provided for sustainable 

Page 165

mailto:admin@larac.org.uk
http://www.larac.org.uk/


 
 

LARAC  PO Box 28  Knighton  LD8 2WA 
01982 382 650   admin@larac.org.uk   www.larac.org.uk 

Twitter: @LARACspeaks 

 

alternatives, such as compostable, re-usable products or items with a high recycled material 

content. 

 

See also question 12 regarding Direct Charging, taxes and levies. 

 

• What behavioural effect would these interventions have, both on this stage in the supply 

chain, and more broadly?  

The behavioural effect of direct charging is discussed in question 12. 

 

Taxes and levies on single use plastic products could stimulate the demand for sustainable 

alternatives and therefore supply of alternative products would also increase. This could 

stimulate local business developments if the taxes raised are directed back to the industry.  

As referred to previously taxes and levies will be most successful and accepted by users and 

businesses if a convenient and competitive sustainable product is available. 

 

• What would be the impact on consumers?  

The impact of Direct Charging could encourage greater reuse so as to avoid a disposal fee or 

the purchase of items which are recyclable as this is likely to attract a lower disposal fee 

than a non-recyclable item. Those which continue to purchase single use plastics with 

limited recycling opportunities will face increased costs. 

 

The introduction of taxes or levies is likely to be unpopular with many consumers, especially 

in the short term. As indicated in question 12 alternatives need to be convenient and readily 

accessible.  If this is the case most consumers are likely to quickly adapt and accept the 

change as there is no long term negative impact, which has been shown to be the case with 

the plastic bag levy.   

 

• Are there specific items the government should be focussing on? 

With the Circular Economy principles in mind, priority should be put on: 

• producers to design products to minimise resource use and either encourage reuse 

or maximise recyclability. Producer responsibility delivered through the PRN system 

does not provide a true reflection of the cost burden of recovering single use plastic 

packaging waste or incentivise investment in the industry. LARAC recommends a 

fundamental revision of the packaging producer responsibility system to encourage 

local investment in infrastructure and for products to be designed with re-use and 

recyclability as a priority. 

• the public on their purchasing and recycling habits. Investigating the potential for 

Direct Charging for consumers for their waste is also likely to assist in achieving the 

reuse and recycling behavioural shifts aspired to in national policy (see question 12).  

  

Page 166

mailto:admin@larac.org.uk
http://www.larac.org.uk/


 
 

LARAC  PO Box 28  Knighton  LD8 2WA 
01982 382 650   admin@larac.org.uk   www.larac.org.uk 

Twitter: @LARACspeaks 

 

16. What are the barriers to the collection of single-use plastics and more environmentally 

friendly methods of waste treatment, including barriers to any existing technologies? 

The potential for recycling of many single use plastics is currently low due to limited 

availability of reprocessors and the capability of MRFs to separate some these waste 

streams. The barrier to collection is therefore dictated by the limited opportunities for 

sorting and end markets, rather than collection infrastructure. 

 

Investment in UK waste and recycling infrastructure is low. The current PRN system places 

no obligation on reprocessors and exportors receiving PRN revenue to invest in improving 

local infrastructure.  The uncertainty of income resulting from fluctuating PRN prices is also 

not conducive for long term investment which has resulted in a relatively immature recycling 

market in the UK. 

 

Capturing on the go plastics which are compatible with the local authority pubic realm 

recycling infrastructure is also challenging.  Local authorities operate very few on the go or 

street bin recycling schemes. The contamination level in these bins is high and therefore 

yield very little recycling material.   

 

17. In your opinion, how can the tax system or charges play a role in delivering better 

environmental outcomes at this stage? 

• What interventions should be implemented, and why?  

See question 12 and 15 for recommendations for PRN reform, tax breaks and taxes and 

levies. 

 

• What behavioural effect would these interventions have, both on this stage in the supply 

chain, and more broadly?  

PRN reform has the potential for the circular economy to be forefront in the change.  The 

PRN system could encourage producers to develop products which use materials which are 

sustainably sourced and for the design to use components which can easily be separated for 

recycling or reused. This would encourage greater local investment which would not only 

provide for a more stable market for the recyclate, it would also boost the local economy 

through investment and support local jobs. 

 

• What would be the impact on Local Authorities and business? 

If businesses took greater responsibility for the design of products to minimise the 

environmental impact of the product, maximise recycling and encourage reuse there would 

be a greater balance in the responsibility for managing the plastic waste between 

manufacturers, retailers and local authorities. This could result in significant savings for local 

authorities which could then be directed towards other essential services. 

  

Page 167

mailto:admin@larac.org.uk
http://www.larac.org.uk/


 
 

LARAC  PO Box 28  Knighton  LD8 2WA 
01982 382 650   admin@larac.org.uk   www.larac.org.uk 

Twitter: @LARACspeaks 

 

If you have any queries on this response then please contact me at admin@larac.org.uk 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 
 
 
 
Dianne Hewgill 
LARAC Policy Team 

Page 168

mailto:admin@larac.org.uk
http://www.larac.org.uk/


Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

1. What is your role the organisation?

1Page 169

Beverley.Clark_1
Text Box
Appendix 5a

Beverley.Clark_2
Text Box




SUP Policy

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

2. Does your organisation have an Environmental Management System?

Yes

No

3. Does your organisation have a Single Use Plastics (SUP) Policy? (If so please email a copy to
wasteware@durham.gov.uk)

Yes

No

4. Has your organisation signed up to a SUPs pledge?

No

Yes - If yes which one?

5. Does your organisation use SUPs in its products or services?

Yes

No

6. Has your organisation set targets to reduce SUPs?

Yes

No

7. Could you remove any SUPs from your products or services ?

Yes

No

2Page 170



8. Could you substitute SUPs for a more environmentally friendly option?

No

Yes (If so where and how?)

9. Is there a perception that alternatives to SUPs are more expensive?

Yes

No

10. Does your organisation have a recycling policy in order to manage SUPs effectively?

No

Yes (Please give details)

11. Have you recently undertaken a SUPs review in your organisation, ideally across your supply chain and
business activities?

Yes (If so would you be prepared to share your findings? Please email details to wasteware@durham.gov.uk)

No

12. How are you influencing  your supply chain to reduce SUPs?

3Page 171



Reducing SUP

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

13. Do you carry out staff awareness campaigns in relation to reducing SUPs e.g. posters, staff awareness
days.

No

Yes (Please provide information below or email details to wasteware@durham.gov.uk)

14. Have you included waste reduction and SUPs in your Corporate and Social Responsibility?

Yes

No

15. Do you think your organisation could do more to reduce SUPs use?

No

Yes (If so, how?)

16. Do you have any other comments?

4Page 172



Thank you for completing this survey, should you wish to contact us directly or supply additional
information please e-mail wasteware@durham.gov.uk

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

5Page 173



Q1 What is your role the organisation?
Answered: 19 Skipped: 0

1 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 174

Beverley.Clark_3
Text Box
Appendix 5b



76.92% 10

23.08% 3

Q2 Does your organisation have an Environmental Management
System?

Answered: 13 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 13

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

2 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 175



15.38% 2

84.62% 11

Q3 Does your organisation have a Single Use Plastics (SUP) Policy?
(If so please email a copy to wasteware@durham.gov.uk)

Answered: 13 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 13

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

3 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 176



100.00% 13

0.00% 0

Q4 Has your organisation signed up to a SUPs pledge?
Answered: 13 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 13

No

Yes - If yes
which one?

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

No

Yes - If yes which one?

4 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 177



53.85% 7

46.15% 6

Q5 Does your organisation use SUPs in its products or services?
Answered: 13 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 13

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

5 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 178



30.77% 4

69.23% 9

Q6 Has your organisation set targets to reduce SUPs?
Answered: 13 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 13

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

6 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 179



38.46% 5

61.54% 8

Q7 Could you remove any SUPs from your products or services ?
Answered: 13 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 13

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

7 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 180



61.54% 8

38.46% 5

Q8 Could you substitute SUPs for a more environmentally friendly option?
Answered: 13 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 13

No

Yes (If so
where and how?)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

No

Yes (If so where and how?)

8 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 181



41.67% 5

58.33% 7

Q9 Is there a perception that alternatives to SUPs are more expensive?
Answered: 12 Skipped: 7

TOTAL 12

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

9 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 182



61.54% 8

38.46% 5

Q10 Does your organisation have a recycling policy in order to manage
SUPs effectively?

Answered: 13 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 13

No

Yes (Please
give details)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

No

Yes (Please give details)

10 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 183



30.77% 4

69.23% 9

Q11 Have you recently undertaken a SUPs review in your organisation,
ideally across your supply chain and business activities?

Answered: 13 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 13

Yes (If so
would you be...

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes (If so would you be prepared to share your findings? Please email details to wasteware@durham.gov.uk)

No

11 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 184



Q12 How are you influencing  your supply chain to reduce SUPs?
Answered: 9 Skipped: 10

12 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 185



54.55% 6

45.45% 5

Q13 Do you carry out staff awareness campaigns in relation to reducing
SUPs e.g. posters, staff awareness days.

Answered: 11 Skipped: 8

TOTAL 11

No

Yes (Please
provide...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

No

Yes (Please provide information below or email details to wasteware@durham.gov.uk)

13 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 186



45.45% 5

54.55% 6

Q14 Have you included waste reduction and SUPs in your Corporate and
Social Responsibility?

Answered: 11 Skipped: 8

TOTAL 11

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

14 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 187



18.18% 2

81.82% 9

Q15 Do you think your organisation could do more to reduce SUPs use?
Answered: 11 Skipped: 8

TOTAL 11

No

Yes (If so,
how?)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

No

Yes (If so, how?)

15 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 188



Q16 Do you have any other comments?
Answered: 8 Skipped: 11

16 / 16

Single Use Plastics (SUP) Survey

Page 189



Plastic Pledges 
 

Name Organisation Pledge aims/objectives Comments Link 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HQ 
(consultancy 
firm) 

Free choice Local ambassadors (but not one in the north 
east at present). 

 
This was the one referred to in Council 
motion. 

 
Running de-straw campaign. 
 
Not many local organisations on their map. 

Small, unknown lead organisation. 

https://www.plasticfreepledg 
e.com/ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Greenpeace Pledge to help put a stop 
to plastic pollution, and 
keep our oceans clean. 

Large organisation with track record of 
environmental work. 

 
Supported by other campaigns on plastic. 

 

https://www.greenpeace.org. 
uk/what-we- 
do/oceans/plastics/ 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WRAP Not a pledge: 
The UK Plastics Pact is a 
trailblazing, collaborative 
initiative that will create a 
circular economy for 
plastics. It brings together 
businesses from across the 
entire plastics value chain 
with UK governments and 
NGOs to tackle the scourge 
of plastic waste. 

Government backed campaign. Supported 
by a large number of national organisations. 

Has targets. 

Not a pledge, but members have made their 
own statements, equal to a pledge. 
 
Councils cannot currently apply.  
 
Larger businesses maybe charged. 

http://www.wrap.org.uk/cont 
ent/the-uk-plastics-pact 

P
age 190

https://www.plasticfreepledge.com/
https://www.plasticfreepledge.com/
https://www.greenpeace.org.uk/what-we-do/oceans/plastics/
https://www.greenpeace.org.uk/what-we-do/oceans/plastics/
https://www.greenpeace.org.uk/what-we-do/oceans/plastics/
http://www.wrap.org.uk/content/the-uk-plastics-pact
http://www.wrap.org.uk/content/the-uk-plastics-pact
Beverley.Clark_4
Text Box
Appendix 6a



 

Plastic free 
Community Leaders 

Surfers against 
Sewage 

Using people power and 
community action to tackle 
the problem of avoidable 
single-use plastics head-on 

Grass roots approach. 
 

Good toolkit support. 
 

Might be appropriate for smaller local 
groups to adopt. 

 
No local group. 

Not a pledge. 

Marine focus. 

https://www.sas.org.uk/plasti 
c-free-community-leaders/ 

 
https://www.sas.org.uk/plasti 
cfreecoastlines/ 

Marine Conservation  Make a promise to the 
ocean. 
Plastic free for July. 

Large international organisation leading 
campaign. 

 
Not much activity on website since July. 
 
Marine focus. 
 
 
environment. 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.mcsuk.org/plasti 
c-challenge/ 

 

P
age 191

https://www.sas.org.uk/plastic-free-community-leaders/
https://www.sas.org.uk/plastic-free-community-leaders/
https://www.sas.org.uk/plasticfreecoastlines/
https://www.sas.org.uk/plasticfreecoastlines/
http://www.mcsuk.org/plasti


Plastic Campaigns 

Name Organisation Aims/objectives Benefits Link 

 
 

 

 Plastic Free for 8 May Make your own date up to. http://www.plasticfreeday.co.uk/ 

Friends of the Earth 

 

Friends of the 
Earth 

  
Plastic Free Fridays 

 
Flexible 

https://act.friendsoftheearth.uk/act/join-
plasticfreefriday 

Plastic Pollution 
Coalition 

 Take the 4 R's Pledge Refuse, Reduce, Reuse, 
Recycle 

http://www.plasticpollutioncoalition.org/take-
action-1/ 

BBC Plastic Watch / 
Action 

BBC Reduce plastic waste Lots of resources  http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/articles/11CnC
QR0GJfkDgJs57sR5Ps/plastics-action 

The Refill Initiative 
 
 

City to Sea. 
 
Northumbrian 
Water is the local 
champion (task 
group partner)  

Encourage people to 
refill water rather than 
buy single use bottles. 

Encourages public 
engagement 
Involves local businesses 

https://www.refill.org.uk/refill-scheme/refill-
durham-north-east/ 

Plastic Free Falmouth 
 
 

 Raise awareness of 
single use plastics and 
minimise it. 

 https://www.facebook.com/pg/plasticfreefalmouth/
about/?ref=page_internal 

The Great Plastic 
Pickup 
 

 Raise awareness about 
plastic that is littering. 

 https://www.greatplasticpickup.org/home/2684 
 
http://www.keepbritaintidy.org/lets-turn-tide-
plastic-together 

The Boundless 
Explorer 
 

 Raising awareness by 
picking a particular day. 

 https://www.gobroadreach.com/broadreach-blog-
plastic-free-day-pledge-february-21 

 

P
age 192

http://www.plasticfreeday.co.uk/
https://act.friendsoftheearth.uk/act/join-plasticfreefriday
https://act.friendsoftheearth.uk/act/join-plasticfreefriday
http://www.plasticpollutioncoalition.org/take-action-1/
http://www.plasticpollutioncoalition.org/take-action-1/
https://www.refill.org.uk/refill-scheme/refill-durham-north-east/
https://www.refill.org.uk/refill-scheme/refill-durham-north-east/
https://www.facebook.com/pg/plasticfreefalmouth/about/?ref=page_internal
https://www.facebook.com/pg/plasticfreefalmouth/about/?ref=page_internal
https://www.greatplasticpickup.org/home/2684
http://www.keepbritaintidy.org/lets-turn-tide-plastic-together
http://www.keepbritaintidy.org/lets-turn-tide-plastic-together
https://www.gobroadreach.com/broadreach-blog-plastic-free-day-pledge-february-21
https://www.gobroadreach.com/broadreach-blog-plastic-free-day-pledge-february-21
http://www.plasticfreeday.co.uk/
Beverley.Clark_5
Text Box
Appendix 6b



 
Brighton & Hove City Council – Single-use Plastics Policy - draft 

Plastic waste is one of the greatest environmental challenges facing the world today. The UK 

government estimates that there are currently more than 150m tonnes of plastic in the world’s 

oceans, and that some 100,000 sea mammals and one million birds die from eating or becoming 

tangled in plastic waste each year. 

As lead partner of The Living Coast UNESCO World Biosphere Region, Brighton & Hove City Council is 

committed to taking leadership on tackling the plastic waste problem by taking responsibility for its 

own impact on the environment and society, both within the local area and across the globe. The 

council will work towards minimising use of single-use plastics across its own operations and services 

and by all staff and pro-actively work with partners to find positive solutions for reducing 

unnecessary waste plastics across the city.  

What are single-use plastics?  

Single-use plastics can include any disposable plastic item which is designed to be used only once 

e.g. plastic bags, disposable utensils, beverage containers, coffee capsules, wet wipes, razor blades, 

plastic drinks bottles, food wrappers, bottle tops, straws, stirrers and plastic lids. 

To support Brighton & Hove becoming a single-use plastics free city, the council commits to: 

 Work with staff to ensure that single-use plastics are eliminated across our offices 

 Support our schools and communities in their efforts to make their buildings plastic-free zones  

 Through The Living Coast Biosphere programme, communicate the importance of protecting our 
urban, rural and marine environments, and support and promote positive initiatives, city 
campaigns and actions for reducing plastic waste 

 Work with our event organisers to eliminate single-use plastics across all city events held on 
council land and share guidance for this more widely 

 Support communities and litter-pick initiatives to ensure our parks, beaches and open spaces are 
free from plastic litter 

 Use government legislation that regulates against the use of single-use plastics to support our 
efforts where we can 

 Require all our suppliers to minimise the use of single-use plastics in their service provision and 
find sustainable alternatives (where appropriate) 

 Where the use of plastics is unavoidable, the council will encourage the use of recycled plastics, 
where practicable, and support manufacturers that make products from locally sourced waste 
plastics 

 Work with partners in joint ventures and innovative projects for reducing single-use plastic 
waste  

 Share best practice and information about plastic free initiatives, to residents, businesses, 
visitors  and beyond through the council’s social media and communication channels 
 

The council will work to embed these commitments into the sustainable events guidance, 

sustainable procurement policy, and into other key council strategies, policies and plans.   

Page 193

Beverley.Clark_6
Text Box
Appendix 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        
 Corporate Overview and 

Scrutiny Management Board 

17 December 2018 

Update in relation to Petitions 

  

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide for information the quarterly update in relation to the current 
situation regarding various petitions received by the Authority. 

Recommendation(s) 

2 Members are requested to note the update report on the status of 
petitions and e-petitions received by the Authority.  

Background 

3 Following the introduction of The Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and Construction Act 2009, the administration of the 
petitions process was passed to Democratic Services. 

4 Overview and Scrutiny Management Board have received update 
reports on petitions since September 2008, and this function has now 
passed to the new committee. 

5 From the 15 December 2010, the Authority has provided a facility for 
members of the public to submit e-petitions on the Council’s website. 

Current Notice of Key Decisions 

6 Since the last update four e-petitions have been submitted, three of 
which were rejected.  One on the grounds that the Council had no 
jurisdiction, one was re-directed as a series of questions rather than a 
petition and one that was similar to a previous petition considered within 

 

Page 195

Agenda Item 10



the last 12 months. One e-petition was currently collecting signatures 
until 28 December 2018. 

  7 In addition, 3 new paper petitions have been submitted.   A list giving 
details and current status of all active petitions is attached as Appendix 
2 to the report. 

 

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel:  03000 269708 

   

  

Page 196



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None. 

Finance 

None. 

Consultation 

Petitions which refer to a consultation exercise are reported to committee for 
information and forwarded to the relevant officer for consideration 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

None. 

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



Petition Table – Active Petitions                      Appendix 2                                   
 
Nature of Petition Appropriate 

Service/Officer 
Summary of Information Status of Petition 

 
 
Petition 348 
 
Protect grassed areas in 
South Hetton from 
unauthorised traveller 
encampments 
 
Petition received – 16.8.18 
No. of signatures – 185 

Louise Stokoe, GRT 
Interventions Co-ordinator 

Petition asking the Council to protect grassed areas in South 
Hetton from unauthorised traveller encampments/ 
 
Meetings have been held with the local councillors, parish 
council, Durham Constabulary and DCC officers to discuss 
actions. 
 
The movement of Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities is 
something that occurs for various reasons including culture, 
social and economic reasons.  In Durham a partnership 
approach has been developed that includes: 
A robust but fair Unauthorised Encampment Procedure that is in 
line with government guidance and legislation. 
The development of Temporary Stop Over Areas in parts of the 
county where most Unauthorised Encampments happen which 
increases during the period of Appleby Horse Fair. 
For the locations included in the petition, although the area 
historically has had very few Unauthorised Encampments the 
ones that there have been over the past couple of years appear 
to be linked to the horse fair on private land outside of South 
Hetton.  There has already been a meeting to consider the 
options for the land outlined, at this there was agreement to 
undertake further work prior to meeting again and this includes: 
Considering asking the fair organiser to allow access to the field 
early to any fairs to prevent UEs on other areas. 
Consider target hardening the area adjacent to the Church.  
Previous target hardening on a nearby area with trees and 
boulders has proved effective. 

- To try to establish land ownership of the areas 
concerned 

- To take legal advice about what actions could be taken 
on land if land ownership can’t be established 

- To arrange to scope range of options, costs and potential 
funding 

Petition CLOSED 

P
age 199



Petition Table – Active Petitions                      Appendix 2                                   
 
Nature of Petition Appropriate 

Service/Officer 
Summary of Information Status of Petition 

 
 
Petition 351 
 
Save the Street Lights for 
Brandon Lane 
 
Petition received 15.11.18 
No. of signatures – 38 

John Reed 
Head of Technical 
Services 

Petition asking the Council to save the street lights on Brandon 
Lane. 
 
 

Response requested by 
10.12.18 

Petition 352 
 
Enforce 40mph speed limit 
on A690, Brancepeth to 
Meadowfield 
 
E-Petition 
Petition received 16.11.18 
No. of signatures –  

John Reed 
Head of Technical 
Services 

Petition asking the Council to put speed limits in place along the 
A690 between Brancepeth and Meadowfield, ideally to provide 
electronic speed monitoring to notify that drivers are above the 
speed limit. 
 
 

e-Petition to run from 16.11.18 
until 28.12.18 

Petition 353 
 
Move Disabled Parking 
from Penny Gill, 
Spennymoor 
 
Petition received 20.11.18 
No. of signatures – 367 

Lee Mowbray 
Major Projects Team 
Leader 
 
 

Petition received asking the Council to move the disabled 
parking bays from outside of the Penny Gill public house and 
relocate to outside of the Grand Electric Hall, Spennymoor. 
 
 

Response requested by 
17.12.18 

Petition 355 
 
Reinstatement of street 
lights on C96 Binchester 
 
Petition received 30.11.18 
No. of signatures – 130 

John Reed 
Head of Technical 
Services 

Petition asking the Council to reinstate the street lights on the 
C96 Binchester. 
 
 

Response requested by 
19.12.18 

   

   

P
age 200



 

             

        
 Corporate Overview and 

Scrutiny Management Board 

17 December 2018 

 Notice of Key Decisions 

  

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To consider the list of key decisions that is scheduled to be considered 
by the Executive.  

Recommendation(s) 

2 You are recommended to give consideration to items listed in the 
notice. 

Background 

3 New rules in relation to Executive decisions were introduced by The 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, which came into force on 10 
September 2012.  

4 The regulations took away the requirement for the Executive to produce 
a Forward Plan of key decisions, however introduced that the decision 
maker cannot make a key decision unless a document has been 
published at least 28 clear days before the decision is taken, unless 
either a general exception or special urgency requirements have been 
met.  The document which has to be published must state: 

a) that the key decision is to be made on behalf of the relevant local 
authority 

b) the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made 

 

Page 201

Agenda Item 11



c) where the decision maker is an individual, that individual’s name and 
title if any and where the decision maker is a decision making body, 
its name and list of its members 

d) the date on which or the period within which the decision is to be 
made 

e) a list of the document submitted to the decision maker for 
consideration in relation to the matter of which the key decision is to 
be made 

f) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on 
their disclosure copies of, or extracts from any document listed as 
available 

g) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to 
the decision maker 

h) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as 
they become available. 

5 The requirements also apply to an exempt matter as previously it did 
not strictly have to be included in the Forward Plan. Now a publicity 
document must contain particulars of the matter, but may not contain 
any confidential exempt information or particulars of the adviser or 
political adviser or assistant. 

6 Notices of key decisions that are being produced meet the legal 
requirements of publication, as well as continuing to provide information 
for a four month period. Members will therefore be able to consider key 
decisions as previously for the four month period. 

Current Notice of Key Decisions 

7 The notice of key decisions that is attached to the report at Appendix 2, 
is the latest to be published prior to the papers for the Board being 
dispatched to members. The notice complies with the requirements for 
Cabinet to be able to take key decisions at the meeting on 12 
December 2018. It also contained information on those key decisions 
that are currently scheduled to be considered by the Executive up to 30 
April 2019. 

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel:  03000 269708 

 Jenny Haworth Tel:  03000 268071 

   

  

Page 202



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. To publish 
the notice of key decisions in accordance with The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012. 

Finance 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Consultation 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Human Rights 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Crime and Disorder 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Staffing 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Accommodation 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Risk 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Procurement 

Will be reflected in each individual key decision report to Cabinet. 

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION ONE - CORPORATE

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact details for 
further information

Scrutiny Involvement 

CORP/R/18/06 12-Dec-18 Schools Funding 
Formula & High 
Needs Transfer

Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Finance 

Schools Forum and schools David Shirer 03000 
268554

CYP OSC received a 
report and presentation 
on the Council's 
approach to setting a 
funding formula for 
mainstream  primary 
and secondary schools 
for 2019/20 and the 
need to transfer 
funding from this 
formula to cover a 
shortfall in Special 
Educational Needs 
(SEN) funding.  
Members of CYPOSC 
had the opportunity to 
comment and ask 
questions

P
age 205



SECTION TWO -  CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SERVICES

Ref. No. Date of Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact details for 
further information

P
age 206



SECTION THREE - ADULT AND HEALTH SERVICES

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact details 
for further 
information

P
age 207



SECTION FOUR  - REGENERATION AND LOCAL SERVICES 

Ref. No. Date of 
Decision
(i.e. date of 
Cabinet 
meeting)

Description of 
Decision
to be Made 

Background 
Documents

Lead Cabinet 
Member

Main 
Consultees
& Means of
Consultation

Contact 
details for 
further 
information

Scrutiny Involvement

REAL/02/18 16/01/19 Housing and 
Homelessness 
Policy 
Consultation Draft

Cabinet 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Strategic 
Housing and 
Assets 

Public 
Consultation

Graeme Smith 
03000 263610

Arrangements have been made for an Overview and 
Scrutiny workshop to be held during the consultation period 
to which all Overview and Scrutiny members will be invited. 
The comments made by members during the workshop will 
form the Overview and Scrutiny response which will be fed 
into the ongoing consultation.

REAL/05/18 16/01/19 County Durham 
Plan Submission 
Draft

Cabinet 
Portfolio 
Holders for 
Economic 
Regeneration 
and for 
Strategic 
Housing and 
Assets 

Public 
Consultation

Mike Allum
03000 261906

An Overview and Scrutiny workshop was held on the 9 July 
2018 following which an Overview and Scrutiny response 
was prepared and fed into the Preferred Options 
consultation stage.  A further  Overview and Scrutiny 
workshop is planned for the 4 February 2019 following which 
an Overview and Scrutiny response will be prepared and fed 
into the Pre- Submission Draft consultation. 

REAL/08/18 06/02/19 Housing Solutions 
- Private Sector 
Housing Policy

Cabinet 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Strategic 
Housing and 
Assets

Public 
Consultation

Lynn Hall  
03000 265728

The Economy and Enterprise OSC have scheduled for the 
Special meeting on the 11 March 2019  a report and 
presentation giving an  overview of the private sector 
housing policy,  providing an opportunity for members to 
comment.

P
age 208



 

             

        

 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board 

17 December 2018 

 Information update from the Chairs of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees  

 

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships   

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present to Members an information update of overview and scrutiny 
activity from 1 November – December 2018. 

Executive summary 

2 It was previously agreed that a written report of Chairs’ updates would 
be presented for information only to all Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Boards.  

3 This update covers the time period from 8 November – December 2018. 

Recommendation(s) 

4 Members are invited to receive the report and note the information 
contained therein 

 

  

Page 209

Agenda Item 12



Background 

5 Members of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
(COSMB) are encouraged to get involved in any area of Overview and 
Scrutiny activity via thematic committees and/or talk to Scrutiny 
Committee Chairs and OS Officers on areas of project/overview activity. 

6 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board (COSMB) 

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews 
 

COSBM on 1 November received a systematic update on the 
recommendations of the CRM scrutiny review. 
 

Scrutiny Review 
Activity 
 

An initial scrutiny discussion on this year’s MTFP process was 
held on 14 September 2018. Further sessions are to be held on: 
 

 22 January 2019 

 13 February 2019 
 

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations 
 

COSMB on 1 November received reports and presentations on: 
 

 RIPA Q1/Q2 

 Update on deliver of MTFP 8 (Q1)  

 CRM – Systematic review and update 

 County Durham Partnership update 

 Information update from the Chairs of the Overview and  
Scrutiny Committees. 

 

7 Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(SSC OSC) 

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews 
 

There are no systematic reviews to report for this period. 

Scrutiny 
Review Activity 

A review of Private Residential Children’s Homes is being 
undertaken jointly with Children and Young Peoples OSC (see 
CYP OSC for further details). 
 

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations 

SSC OSC on 2 November 2018 received reports and  
Presentations on: 

 Safe Durham Partnership Board 

 Probation Services – Durham Tees Valley Community 
Rehabilitation Company 

 County Durham Road Safety Partnership 

Page 210



 Police and Crime Panel – verbal update 

 Review activity – verbal update 
 
SSC OSC Members and CYP OSC Members held a joint 
workshop on 8 November 2018 to look at the Joint Targeted 
Area Inspection (JTAI). 

 
 

 

8 Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee (E & E 
OSC) 

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews 
 

There are no systematic reviews to report for this period. 

Scrutiny Review 
Activity 

The Economy and Enterprise OSC review into support provided 
by DCC to the retail sector is scheduled to be submitted to the 
Cabinet meeting on 16 January 2019. 
 

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations 

The Economy and Enterprise OSC on 6 November 2018 
received reports and presentations on: 
 

 EU Funding update 

 Regional Funding – Local Growth Fund and Investment 
Pipeline 

 
The Special Economy and Enterprise OSC on 7 December 
received reports and presentations on: 
 

 Transport policy and activities regionally and locally. 

 Scrutiny review – support provided by DCC to the retail 
sector.  

 
 

 

9 Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (Environment OSC) 

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews 
 

Members of Environment OSC on 16 November 2018 received a 
systematic review on the: 
 

 Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Review - Management of the Woodland Estate 

Page 211



owned by Durham County Council. 
 

Scrutiny Review 
Activity 

Review of DCC’s future allotment policy – the review has been 
paused pending feedback to the review group from the formal 
consultation to be undertaken by the Service Grouping. 
 

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Special Environment OSC on 12 November 2018 received 
reports and presentations on: 
 

 Single Use Plastics (SUPs) task group report and action 
plan, comments made by members have informed the O&S 
response to be considered by COSMB and Cabinet. 

 
Environment OSC on 16 November 2018 received reports and 
presentations on: 
 

 Fuel Poverty 

 Systematic review on Management of Woodland Estate (as 
above) 

 County Durham Environment Partnership minutes 
 

Visits Members of the Environment OSC on 28 November 2018 
visited: 

 Thornley Waste Transfer Station and Tudhoe Household 
Waste Recycling Centre. 

 

 

10  Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CYP 
OSC) 

 

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews 

There are no systematic reviews to report for this period. 
 
 

Scrutiny Review 
Activity 

A review of Private Children’s Residential Care Homes is being 
undertaken jointly with Safer Stronger Communities OSC.   
 
To date the working group has held an overview session, a 
focus group with elected Members and an evidence gathering  
meeting to understand demand on services and the potential 
impact and vulnerability of children and young people through 
out of area placements. 
 

Page 212



The CYPOSC review of the Role of the Social Worker from a 
Child’s Perspective report is being considered by Cabinet in 
December. 

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations 
 

The CYP OSC on 7 November 2018 received reports and 
presentations on: 
 

 School Funding update 

 Ofsted inspection of County Durham schools 

 Children & Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Review: 
Role of a Social Worker from a Child’s Perspective- draft 
report 

 
CYP OSC Members and SSC OSC Members held a joint 
workshop on 8 November 2018 to look at the JTAI. 
 

 

11 Adults, Well-being and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (AWH 
OSC) 

Update on 
Previous 
Reviews 
 

There are no systematic reviews to report on for this period. 

Scrutiny Review 
Activity 

The AWH OSC Review of Suicide Rates and Mental Health and 
Wellbeing in County Durham was considered by Cabinet on 14 
November 2018 
 

Overview 
reports/ 
Presentations 

AWH OSC on 15 November 2018 received reports and 
presentations on: 
 

 Skerne Medical Group 

 Future of ward six, Bishop Auckland Hospital 

 Review of stroke rehabilitation services in County Durham 

 Director of Public Health Annual Report 
 
Special AWH OSC on 4 December 2018 received reports and 
presentation on: 
 

 Skerne Medical Group 

 Shotley Bridge Hospital Update – communications and 
engagement plan 

 NHS Foundation Trust Quality Accounts 2018 – 2019 six 
month updates 

 North Durham and DDES CCGs 2 year Operational Plans 

Page 213



 

Regional Scrutiny 

 

12 The Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham STP Joint 
Health Scrutiny Committee met on 26 November 2018.  The agenda 
included: 

(a) Minutes of the meeting held on 24 September 2018 

(b) Mental Health Workstream – Progress update by Gail Kay, 
Mental Health Workstream Lead 

(c) Communications and Engagement Update – Mary Bewley, 
Communications and Engagement Lead – North of England 
Commissioning Support  

(d) Draft Work Programme 2018/19 

13 The Durham Darlington and Teesside, Hambleton, Richmondshire and 
Whitby STP Joint Health Scrutiny Committee met on 27 November 
2018: The agenda included: 

(a) Minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2018 

(b) Developing Integrated Health and Care Partnerships – 
Presentation by Alan Foster STP/ICS Lead 

(c) Clinical Strategy Development – South Integrated Care 
Partnership – Presentation by Siobhan McArdle, Chief Executive 
of South Tees Hospitals NHS FT 

(d) Durham Darlington and Tees Valley CCGs – CCG Collaborative – 
Presentation by Stewart Findley, Chief Officer North Durham and 
DDES CCGs 

14 The Regional Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on 27 
November 2018. The agenda included: 

(a) Minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2018 

(b) Commissioning and provision of translation and interpretation 
services across the North East 

(c) Updates from the Joint Scrutiny Committee meetings 

(d) Work programme issues 

Page 214

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1112
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1112


15 North East Combined Authority (NECA) 

(a) The Chair and Vice-Chair of COSMB represent DCC on the 
NECA Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the new North East 
Joint Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee.   

(b) The next meeting of the NECA Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will take place on 20 December 2018. The North East Joint 
Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee will also take place 
in the afternoon on 20 December 2018. 

 

Conclusion 

16 This reports contains the key issues considered by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees for the period 8 November – December 2018 and 
is provided for members information only. 

 

 

Contact: Jenny Haworth       Tel:  03000 268071 

   

   

  

Page 215



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

N/A. 

Finance 

N/A. 

Consultation 

N/A. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

N/A. 

Human Rights 

N/A. 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A. 

Staffing 

N/A. 

Accommodation 

N/A. 

Risk 

N/A. 

Procurement 

N/A. 

Page 216


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2018
	5 Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 8 - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	6 Quarter Two 2018/19 Performance Management Report - Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	7 Quarter 2 2018/19 	Customer Feedback Report - Corporate Director of Resources
	Customer Feedback Report - Q2 2018-19

	8 Quarter 2 September 2018: Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2018/19
	TAP - Qtr2 Forecast Outturn 2018-19 Scrutiny

	9 Response of the Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee to the County Durham Environment Partnership report 'Phasing Out Unnecessary Single Use Plastics' (SUPs) - Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	SUPs Final Report
	SUP revised Appendices 3-7
	Appendix 3 - Single Use Plastic Action Plan.pdf (p.1-7)
	Appendix 4 - LARAC Response - HM Treasury Single use plastics Call for evidence.pdf (p.8-14)
	Appendix 5a - SUPSurveyMonkey_154262316.pdf (p.15-19)
	Appendix 5b- SUP ResponsesData_All_180829.pdf (p.20-35)
	Appendix 6a Benchmarking - Plastic Pledges October 2018.pdf (p.36-37)
	Appendix 6b Benchmarking - Plastic Campaigns October 2018.pdf (p.38)
	Appendix 7 LA example.pdf (p.39)
	34 Phasing out single use plastics (SUPs)
	Phasing out single use plastics (SUPs) APX. n 1




	10 Update in relation to Petitions - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	121718-COSMB-Petitions-App2

	11 Notice of Key Decisions - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	Copy of 11- Dec to March 2019_

	12 Information Update from the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships

	104704281: 
	104710349_other: 
	104714747_other: 
	104719857_other: 
	104725581: 
	106151142: 
	104730360_other: 
	104732628_other: 


